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				INTRODUCTION

				We Are All Followers
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				Cult is a scary word. Like terrorist. Or leprosy. Sharknado. Even people in cults don’t like the word cult. Dictionary definitions do little to encapsulate the fear and loathing the word inspires. Merriam-Webster simply describes a cult as “a religion regarded as unorthodox or spurious.” The Oxford English Dictionary gets us a little closer to the creepy connotation with “a relatively small group of people having (esp. religious) beliefs or practices regarded by others as strange or sinister, or as exercising excessive control over members.”

				Noted psychiatrist Robert Jay Lifton, in the 1991 paper “Cult Formation,” goes deeper. To paraphrase, the three elements of his definition are:

				
					1. A charismatic leader who often becomes an object of worship

					2. A process of indoctrination

					3. A mechanism of exploitation, whether that be financial, sexual, or otherwise

				

				Now things are getting scary. But it gets even worse.

				Cults often seem to end badly—whether in mass suicide, mass murder, or mere public embarrassment. Such as Heaven’s Gate members dead in their bunks, stomachs full of phenobarbital and applesauce. Or Chen Tao in their white clothes and cowboy hats despondently leaving their suburban Texas neighborhood when UFOs didn’t arrive on the day their leader promised. Or Game of Thrones fans turning off their TVs, gobsmacked at how eight years of investment and dedication were rewarded with anticlimax. And there’s always the good rule of thumb that if a group’s leader wound up dead or in jail, the group was probably a cult.

				Despite these multiple definitions, and despite the stranglehold cults have on the public imagination, it’s surprisingly difficult to define a cult, or even to recognize one. For example, there’s a thin, blurry line between a religion and a cult. Lifton’s definition can easily apply to any religion—but the imperceptible delineation between a cult and a religion might just be its level of success. Religions are big. Mainstream. And as for ending badly, religions are large and influential enough to absorb or withstand crimes, scandals, and tragedies within their structures and continue on, ties straightened, collars starched, and halos burnished, in a way that smaller sects cannot.

				To complicate the definition even further, cults can form around more than just religious ideas and goals—from the scientific to the political to the commercial. The Remnant Fellowship Church was based on dieting, for goodness’ sake. And, of course, we’ve expanded the definition even further with the term cult following, which we use to describe obsession and fanaticism about pop culture.

				But what if I were to tell you that, despite all the fear and strangeness and danger that cults can bring up, joining a cult is one of the most human things a person can do?

				We all want to belong to something greater than ourselves. To be accepted by like-minded people. We all want to believe that our ideas about the world are the ultimate truth of the universe. Cults are that straightforward: purpose, community, and understanding how the world works. Who doesn’t want all those things?

				And we are all followers. Even the most egotistical alpha out there follows something or someone. We follow parents and bosses, experts and mentors, cultural norms, laws of the land, and scientific consensus. We follow market trends and fashion trends and social media trends. We are programmed to follow.

				Still, nobody actually joins a cult. At least not consciously. According to the cult expert Dr. Steven Hassan as quoted in the Sydney Morning Herald, “People join communities, not cults.” And cults can offer a legitimate sense of community and all the benefits that come with it—friendship, dedication to a cause, stability, shelter. At least at first. The grisly end that many cult members meet with is often the final step in a years-long indoctrination process of members that begins with a lengthy honeymoon period, devolves into increased isolation and control, and culminates in tragedy only once every other escape route is blocked off. Some people never realize that they’ve joined a cult. Some realize it and defect from the group, while others realize it too late. Often, as in many relationships and commitments, followers put up with the bad because there is enough good present in the situation, or keep going because the sunk cost fallacy has convinced them they’re in too deep and payoff is just around the corner.

				Cult members are often unfairly derided as naïve, brainwashed followers when in fact, the research shows this couldn’t be further from the truth. (And it’s worth noting here that the concept of brainwashing is not supported by medical or psychological evidence—see this page for more.) Research from religious scholar Lorne L. Dawson’s book The Sociology of New Religious Movements shows that the average cult follower is middle to upper class, highly educated, intelligent, ambitious, curious, and idealistic. I’m willing to bet that description fits many of the readers of this book.

				Anyone can be easily tricked by a person or group they’ve come to trust. Those same human longings and needs to connect with others and to belong to a group also make us extremely susceptible—especially during the most vulnerable times of our lives—to being taken advantage of by the unscrupulous and deluded. And here’s where cults really get scary: cult leaders. Cults wouldn’t be so bad if it weren’t for the people who start them.

				Joining a cult and starting a cult are two different impulses. One is an attempt to find acceptance and purpose, the other an attempt to control and exploit. But the most effective cult leaders are more than power hungry, egotistical, and charismatic (although they definitely need to be those things). They also need to have some new—or at least new-seeming—and often seriously strange ideas about life.

				Within these pages, we will look at thirty of the most fascinating cults in history, from cults that believe extraterrestrials control our destiny, to cults that believe our feet hold the secrets of our future, to cults that believe eating is unnecessary.

				And that’s not just because the stranger the cult, the more interesting its story—although that’s certainly part of it. More important, the stranger the cult, the more we learn about the elasticity of belief. About the desperateness of belonging. The tragedy of trust. And the vulnerability (and weirdness) of being human.

				The cults in this book are organized not by what they believe in (e.g., UFO cults or doomsday cults), but by what their adherents sought by being part of the group: truth, protection, purpose, salvation, betterment. The things we all seek. Because that’s how you join a cult: by being human, and by searching for those things we all need and desire.

				And that’s probably the scariest thing about cults: not the damage they are capable of, but how relatable their members’ search for meaning is, and how slippery the slope is to joining one.
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				Who do we believe when they tell us about the nature of the world and the universe? About what our governments are doing? About history? About space? All the big, important truths that we don’t have firsthand access to? Do we believe scientists, politicians, media, teachers, religious leaders? These cults say you shouldn’t believe any of them, and offer opposing ideas derived from sources including the occult, extraterrestrials, modern messiahs, the spirits of the dead, and—in one case—the United States of America itself. And it’s not always a choice between a red pill or a blue pill. Sometimes you need an aspirin to get through the headache of parsing these mind-bending ideas.
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			Raëlism
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			Extraterrestrial and Extra-sexual

			The story of Raëlism involves a volcano, aliens, sex with said aliens, and claims of the first-ever human clone, and eventually goes on to ensnare Kanye West. And all because of the strange teachings of a French race car driver.

			Claude Vorilhon started out as a busker and then had some minor success as a recording artist in Paris, but his passion was racing cars. He soon left the entertainment world and joined the famous Winfield Racing School, drove both as a test driver and competitively, and started a magazine dedicated to race cars called AutoPop. However, on December 13, 1973, when he was twenty-seven, his passion changed. He was about to start one of the most successful UFO cults this side of L. Ron Hubbard. Sometimes that’s how life goes.

			What makes a cult a UFO cult is the direct inclusion of extraterrestrials in its belief system. Sometimes aliens take the place of God as the creators of the human race. Other times they act in similar ways to angels, as messengers from a higher power. Some UFO cults even believe that we are latent extraterrestrials who have forgotten where we came from. Spaceships are usually involved, too, often to rescue the faithful from impending planetary apocalypse.

			In Vorilhon’s first close encounter with aliens on that December day, he followed an impulse to ascend Puy de Lassolas, a dormant volcano in central France. When he arrived at the crater rim, he watched a silvery craft shaped like a flattened bell, about twenty-three feet in diameter, land in front of him—a spaceship. Turns out, he’d climbed that volcano under the telepathic influence of aliens. But not just any aliens: the aliens who created humanity some 25,000 years ago. It’s all in the Bible, if you believe Vorilhon’s teachings.

			The being who walked out of that craft as casually as a man descending from a bus was four feet tall and male with green-tinged skin and green clothes, long black hair and a matching beard, and a force field around his head. His name was Yahweh, and he was from a race called the Elohim (a plural term used for God in the Old Testament). Over the course of six days at that volcano, this being reinterpreted the Bible for Vorilhon as a galaxy-spanning science fiction epic. The true story of Earth and its inhabitants went something like this:

			Tens of millennia ago, the Elohim were experimenting with cloning and other genetic advances. However, in an effort to assuage political worries about the technology back home, a group of scientists went to a distant and lifeless planet—we know it these days as Earth—to test it, thereby kick-starting the book of Genesis and creating human life as we know it. But there was disagreement among the progressive and conservative factions of the Elohim, and those politics often caused trouble on Earth, precipitating the rest of the stories in the Bible. For instance, the worldwide flood was actually the Elohim nuking the planet because they found humans threatening. But lucky for us, they saved Noah in a spaceship in orbit, along with the cells of every creature on the planet for later cloning after the radioactivity died down. Yahweh also revealed that Satan was actually an anti-Earth bureaucrat of sorts, always trying to prove that the Earth experiment was going badly. The end times are when the Elohim return to Earth to set up a paradise and resurrect the best and brightest from the dead via cloning. Oh, and apparently archangels wielded atomic disintegrators, the Ark of the Covenant was a transmitter and receiver, and Jonah was swallowed by an alien submarine.

			While Vorilhon played Moses on that French Sinai, the alien being revealed that he was telling Vorilhon all this because humankind was now scientifically mature enough to handle the truth—and, since dropping nuclear bombs on Japan three decades earlier, technologically dangerous enough to be in need of it. The Elohim were ready to return to their creation, but they needed a prophet. They chose Vorilhon because he was open-minded, a scientific layman, from France (the birthplace of democracy!), and the son of a Jew and a Catholic. The Elohim wanted Vorilhon to spread their gospel and build an embassy for them, complete with a spaceship landing pad.

			Per the instructions of Yahweh, Vorilhon was renamed Raël (“light of the Elohim”) and established a group called MADECH, which, translated from the French, stood for “movement for welcoming the Elohim, creators of humanity” as well as “Moses preceded Elijah and the Christ.” He gave lectures across France, preaching the new commandments of humanitarianism, world government, and geniocracy—an idealized system of government in which leaders are selected for their intelligence and compassion. He even got on TV a couple of times. In one appearance, one of the hosts dressed up in green and wore pink antennae to make fun of him.

			MADECH grew marginally (or surprisingly well, depending on your view) to a couple hundred adherents. However, by 1975, Raël was done with it. In his book Space Aliens Took Me to Their Planet, he claims it was because the group was sufficient on its own and he had bigger plans, but others claim he was dissatisfied that the group was defaulting to the more generic UFOlogy that was in vogue at the time instead of treating it like the true religion it was. Either way, MADECH didn’t last long. Fortunately, it didn’t need to.

			On October 7, 1975, Yahweh returned, this time taking Raël back to the unnamed home planet of the Elohim. That’s when things got a little stranger—and a lot sexier.

			While on the Elohim home world, Raël was further instructed on the precepts of the movement he was expected to lead. He witnessed his mother and himself reconstructed as “biological robots.” He had sex with six female biological robots created specifically for him (apparently there were three Caucasians—a brunette, a blond, and a redhead—an African, and two Asians). He learned about sensual meditation, the Cosmic Orgasm, and telepathy. He watched enough nude green female dancing to make Captain James T. Kirk park his Enterprise and throw away the keys. Also, he met Jesus, Buddha, Elijah, Moses, and Mohammed. Possibly in the jacuzzi.

			On his return, Raël got started in earnest on his new religion, Raëlism, which was symbolized by a swastika inside the star of David—a logo handed down to him from the Elohim. Raël’s goal was still to welcome the Elohim back with an embassy and achieve the science-backed and sex-fueled paradise that they promised, but now he had the all-important rules for adherents. You gotta have rules in a cult. In this case, Raëlians are expected to keep their DNA clean by not smoking, doing drugs, or consuming caffeine; to tithe ten percent of their earnings; and to enjoy the hell out of their bodies with whoever is up for it (“Pleasure is the fertilizer that opens up the mind,” Yahweh once told Raël)—the latter message much more powerful as a recruitment tool than forsaking coffee. They also partake in a baptismal rite four times a year called Transmission of the Cellular Plan, wherein they wet their heads and commune telepathically with the Elohim, sending their genetic code to the Elohim for future cloning-facilitated immortality.

			And that was—or, I should say, is—really the draw of Raëlism. Besides revealing the truth of the universe and our past and future, it promises freedom from sexual puritanism. Live forever, have plentiful sex, and explore the universe: you paint that promise on the side of a spaceship and tell me no one would at least be tempted to sign up and step in.

			Raël traveled the world spreading his gospel of free love and sci-fi Christianity, while also promoting the three books he had written that detailed his experiences with the Elohim: The Book Which Tells the Truth (1974), Extraterrestrials Took Me to Their Planet (1975), and Let’s Welcome the Extraterrestrials (1979). However, it was outside of Montreal where he finally found a permanent home for Raëlism. He set up a headquarters there called UFOland, complete with a life-sized replica of Yahweh’s spaceship.

			In the 1990s, the Raëlians continued to fundraise for the embassy and chose Jerusalem as the targeted location. As part of that fundraising and public relations push, Raël jumped back onto the racing circuit. The balding man with the short beard stood out among other racers, as he would wear white tunics and matching pants with a large metal symbol for Raëlism dangling from a chain around his neck. That symbol caused the group a bit of controversy at the time, due to the swastika. To adapt, they replaced the swastika in the Star of David with a galaxy swirl, although they later reverted to the original symbol, which they use and defend to this day.

			The Raëlians also spent a lot of their time on sexually liberal causes. In 1992, they launched Operation Condom, in which they sent a pink van decorated with flying saucers and condoms to the Catholic high schools of Quebec to hand out condoms to students (as a protest against the decision of the Quebec Catholic School Commission to veto condom machines in their schools). In 2006, they mobilized adherents to support strippers in Las Vegas. In 2007, they held a four-city event called Go Topless, encouraging women to bare their breasts in public. The event has since spread to scores of cities across the country.

			It was also reported by Dr. Susan J. Palmer in the book Sexuality and New Religious Movements that Raël had created a secret all-female group within Raëlism called the Order of Raël’s Angels. It was made up of women groomed on how best to sexually please the Elohim on their return (something the Elohim had apparently specifically requested).

			In 2002, the Raëlians’ scientific claims suddenly overshadowed their sexual exploits when a company called Clonaid announced that they had successfully birthed the first human clone. Her name was Eve. Clonaid, run by a chemist and Raëlian bishop named Dr. Brigitte Boisselier, was started by Raël himself five years earlier when Dolly the Sheep, the first animal cloned from a mature cell, made headlines. However, on this announcement by Dr. Boisselier, Raël distanced himself from the company, claiming he and the Raëlian movement had no connection to Clonaid anymore, and that the original company he had founded was just a website and a PO box in the Bahamas intended to test interest in human cloning in the wake of the Dolly breakthrough. Still, he defended the company. When Eve wasn’t shown publicly, Raël claimed it was because she was taken away from her parents by a judge in Florida.

			In recent years, the group has quieted down media-wise, although they still keep an active calendar on their website, celebrating Clitoris Awareness Month, Swastika Rehabilitation Day, and Femininity Day, among others. But in December 2022, the group found themselves in the headlines again when rapper Kanye West, after sharing a series of antisemitic posts on Twitter (now “X”), posted an image of the swastika version of the Raëlian logo. The rapper was summarily booted from the site, and the media had fun explaining the origins of the symbol to an unsuspecting public that just wanted to know if Ye was a racist, and not that a French race car driver had been given the true answers to the origin of life from an ancient alien civilization.

			Today, more than fifty years after that fateful meeting on a French volcano, Raëlism is still one of the more successful UFO cults. There have been no mass fatalities. Its leader is not in jail. And, according to the Religion and Media Centre, it has grown to more 65,000 members, with about 50,000 of those in Canada and the rest spread across more than eighty countries.

			As for its appeal, that might best be summed up by Anthony Grey, an author, journalist, and BBC presenter. Also a Raëlian. In a 2005 foreword to a set of Raël’s writings, Grey wrote that Raëlism is “the only truly persuasive explanation I have discovered to date of our physical origins, our planetary history, our place and present standing in our known universe, and last but not least, the reasons behind our chronically divisive and potentially self-destructive global religious beliefs.” He goes on to say that the teachings of Raëlism “affirm that we are not alone in the universe…we are loved, observed, and guided…by a superior advanced human civilization.”

			As of the writing of this book, the Raëlians are still trying to build that embassy in Jerusalem, which, according to their five-phase plan, should be finished by 2030. At that time, according to their website, “Official contact with the extraterrestrials will be the biggest news ever, and the embassy will become the most important place on the planet!”
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			Koreshan Unity
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			Above Us Only Land

			Cults often reinvent various elements of society to suit their own ends: morality, religion, family, government. Few have been so bold, though, as to reinvent the entire universe. But that’s exactly what Dr. Cyrus Teed and his Koreshan Unity did.

			Cyrus Teed was a physician in mid-nineteenth-century New York. Besides medicine, he had two passions: communal living and the newly harnessed power of electricity. Regarding the former, he disliked capitalism and the competition it engendered and was drawn to people sharing what they had and living together in cooperative harmony. For the latter, he enjoyed alchemy experiments and believed he had solved the secret of transmuting matter from one form to another, most notably lead into gold. In 1869, at age thirty, Teed was experimenting with electricity at his lab in Deerfield when he was overcome by a vision in which he felt himself transmuted into some kind of spirit being (although some accounts say that he instead suffered an electric shock and went unconscious). He would later refer to this experience as his “Illumination.” It changed him. And it would eventually change hundreds of other lives, too.

			In his Illumination, Teed encountered a beautiful blond woman in a purple and gold robe standing on a silver crescent and holding a caduceus—that entwined-snake symbol of medicine. He knew this figure to be God, whom he would later describe as both male and female. She revealed to him the secret of immortality and the true nature of the universe. According to the account in his book The Mystic Circle, Teed arose from his trance fully convinced that he was chosen to “redeem the race” as its messiah. His vision-inspired gospel was one of immortality, equality of the sexes, reincarnation, communism, and other ideas that made nineteenth-century people gasp behind their handkerchiefs.

			In Teed’s belief system, immortality was achieved mainly through celibacy. He believed that sex and procreation drained one’s energies and caused decay, and that by concentrating those energies into non-carnal pursuits, a person could be transmuted into an incorruptible being in harmony with the universe. In his own words, as reported by the Chicago Times, “The vital impulse will be stored up within us and we shall become immortal.”

			Teed decided that if he was going to upend society with his teachings, he might as well upend the cosmos, too. His vision revealed that the true nature of the planet is a hollow sphere. But this isn’t your typical hollow-earth theory—it’s more like an inside-out-earth theory. According to Teed, the sky is actually the interior of the sphere, and the ground we stand on is its concave interior surface. The shell of the sphere is a hundred miles thick, and its circumference 25,000 miles around. That means that from interior surface to opposite interior surface, the world is only 8,000 miles across. Teed believed that the sun, planets, and other astronomical phenomena we see are optical illusions created by a set of metal discs in the center of the earth/sky. The moon, for instance, is a reflection of the earth’s surface—Teed maintained that you could see the outlines of the continents on the face of the moon.

			Even trippier than living inside a hollow sphere without realizing it, according to Teed, is that there is nothing beyond that sphere. No universe. No space. No infinity. Nothing beyond the crust of the earth. That means that not only is the world only 8,000 miles across, but the entire universe is 8,000 miles across. Reality was a comfortably bounded and cognizable place for Teed because he believed that God would not create something unknowable. He called his conception of the universe Cellular Cosmogony.

			Armed with these renegade social and scientific messages, Teed did what messiahs do: tried to attract a following. However, he couldn’t get a foothold for his ideas in New York, no matter where he moved. Meanwhile, his wife, Fidelia, became sick with tuberculosis and moved in with family, taking their son, Douglas, with her and permanently extricating herself from the messiah her husband had become. Douglas would visit his father later in life, mostly because he believed his father owed him money.

			After an unsuccessful decade and a half of trying to form communes, Teed finally found a receptive audience in Chicago after giving a lecture there in 1886. Over the next decade, he garnered more than a hundred adherents in that city. What Teed offered his followers was extremely appealing to the right people: progressive cultural reform, promises of immortality, the opportunity to build a unique community from scratch, and, above all, the comfort of a small and knowable universe.

			In 1891, he renamed himself Koresh, Hebrew for Cyrus—perhaps because Koreshans sounds better than Teedites—and named his belief system Koreshanity. But Chicago wasn’t enough for Koresh. He was looking for a New Jerusalem, a place where he could grow Koreshanity into a civilization of more than ten million immortal souls. And he found it in a swamp down south.

			Even weirder than the concept of Cellular Cosmogony was Koresh’s belief that Florida was the Promised Land. In 1894, he and his adherents headed down to a barely settled area in the southwest of the state known as Estero, hacking into a swampy wilderness of mangroves and palm trees to create a 320-acre commune called the Koreshan Unity.

			And they did pretty well for themselves, although they fell far short of Koresh’s population goal. At its height in the first decade of the 1900s, the commune encompassed some 250 people who lived and worked in sixty buildings on almost 6,000 acres of glorious concave surface. And it wasn’t just a bunch of Koreshans milling around the swamp avoiding alligators and greeting each other with “We live inside.” They also erected all sorts of infrastructure.

			As a result of Teed’s passion for the technology, they were early adopters of electricity, installing their own power plant and providing power not just to the Koreshan Unity, but to people outside the commune, as well. Thomas Edison even visited the commune once, as did Henry Ford. They had a sawmill and a bakery, a printing press and their own newspaper, a blacksmith, concrete and tin works, a fishery, and a general store, among other industries. They established a post office and the first school in the area, which was open to all children, even non-Koreshans. And managing this bustling attempt at a utopia alongside Koresh was a matriarchal group called the Seven Sisters, who lived in a building dubbed the Planetary Court. According to a contemporary account of the group by the Tampa Tribune, the Koreshans were a “very industrious and inventive people.”

			But it wasn’t all work and no play for the Koreshan Unity. They also spent their days creating art, including staging elaborately costumed theater productions and large musical performances in their Art Hall. They even hosted the area’s first arts festival. Ezra J. Stewart of the Tampa Tribune wrote of his visit to the commune in 1908: “The visitor soon becomes impressed with the joyous, happy spirit of the Koreshans in their daily work and play, for this people, whose daily work is the practical demonstration of the universal brotherhood, give much attention to entertainment and fun.”

			As cults go, one could have worse neighbors.

			Amid all this community building, of course, there was also the (pseudo) science. In 1897, the Koreshan Unity performed the Koreshan Geodetic Survey to prove Koresh’s divinely inspired theory of the universe. Ulysses Grant Morrow—a writer, inventor, and enthusiastic proponent of Cellular Cosmogony—devised an experiment to demonstrate its validity. He designed and built a device made up of a series of twelve-foot-tall mahogany posts braced by steel that he named a “rectilineator.” By lining the whole contraption up like a giant fence against a body of water and then performing a series of measurements and calculations, Morrow hoped to prove the concavity of the earth. They found a flat stretch of beach in nearby Naples, Florida, and measured four miles of sand with the rectilineator. According to Morrow’s interpretation of the data, the results confirmed Koresh’s divine revelation.

			Not everybody liked the Koreshan Unity, though. Sometimes it was due to Koresh’s penchant for luring wives away from husbands through both charisma and his message of sexual equality, which earned him at least one alienation of affection lawsuit. In one particular case back in Chicago, he was threatened with lynching, hanging, stoning, and other unpleasant ends. Other legal troubles ensued through Koresh’s accumulation of funds and property as he looked to expand his New Jerusalem. But it was a local squabble that finally did Koresh in.

			In October 1906, Koresh and some locals had an altercation in front of a grocery store in Fort Meyers. According to the locals, Koresh had called one of them a liar, while Koresh maintained that they had attacked him out of nowhere for “political reasons.” Regardless of who started it, Koresh was beaten up pretty badly. Koresh and two others were jailed briefly, and the Koreshans believed that the injuries he sustained from that altercation contributed to Koresh’s physical decline and then death two years later on December 22, 1908.

			But death isn’t a problem for the immortal. Koresh’s followers, who believed sincerely in the imminent resurrection of their messiah, thought it would occur on Christmas, which was a Biblical three days away. They placed his body in a custom zinc tub in his house, where he lay in the humid Florida heat for days. As the body decomposed, children would ask questions about the weird colors and growths on their messiah’s body, to which the adults would explain that he was in the middle of a transformation. Which was true. A photo of him taken at the time shows a dark, shiny cast to his face and upper body.

			Eventually, even the adults couldn’t stomach his decomposition, and at the insistence of the local authorities they interred Koresh in a tomb on Estero Island and hoped that whenever he resurrected he would be able to get out on his own. According to some accounts, they included this note inside his tomb:

			
				In compliance with the law, and only for such reason, the body of Cyrus R. Teed is placed in this stone vault. We, the disciples of Koresh, Shepherd, Stone of Israel, know that this sepulcher cannot hold his body, for he will overcome death, and in his immortal body will rise triumphant from the tomb.

			

			After the death and lack of resurrection of their founder, some members stayed strong in the faith and kept waiting, while others left dejected. The Koreshan numbers slowly dwindled until, in 1961, there were only four left. Those Koreshans deeded most of their land to the state, reserving enough to live out their final days on.

			Dr. Cyrus “Koresh” Teed never did rise from his grave. On October 25, 1921, even the earth that he had reconfigured in such a brazen manner betrayed him. The grave was destroyed during a hurricane, and his coffin washed out to the convex gulf. All that his followers could find of him afterward were a few bones and his skull, which they reinterred in the post office on the commune. That building eventually burned down, cremating the remains.

			And while Koresh and his followers never achieved immortality, the commune itself did. Comparatively, at least. Today, their New Jerusalem is a state park called Koreshan State Park. It’s a beautiful site, full of palm trees and live oaks, right on the Estero River. A dozen buildings survive, including Koresh’s house, the Art Hall, and the Planetary Court. The last surviving Koreshan is also buried there, a Jewish woman named Hedwig Michel who fled Nazi Germany in 1940. She died in 1982 at the age of ninety. Her grave is marked by a plaque attached to a chunk of rock.

			Koresh inadvertently but conveniently timed his exit to right when we started sending people into the sky and beyond. In 1903, five years before his death, the Wright brothers launched the first plane. The first transatlantic flight was in 1919. The first man in space, Yuri Gagarin, achieved this goal in 1961, the same year that the Koreshan Unity officially folded. And Neil Armstrong printed the dust of the moon in 1969, proving once and for all that it’s more than a metal mirage. The universe is not as cozy and bounded as Koresh believed. In fact, it’s a terrifyingly infinite and inhospitable void. But his vision of a community carving out a piece of earth and working together in equality and harmony—that was pretty cozy.
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			Home of Truth
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			Killed by a Corpse

			One day, you’re a wealthy East Coast socialite, networking with friends and colleagues to help make the world a better place. The next, you’re a cult leader hanging out in a desert in Utah, listening to ghosts in your typewriter and giving milk enemas to a dead body. Life comes at you fast.

			Marie Ogden was a busy woman. She lived in Newark, New Jersey, in the early twentieth century and spent her days supporting philanthropic, social, and artistic causes. Her calendar was full of lunches, lectures, parties, and committee meetings. She was a woman obsessed with social progress—until she became a woman obsessed with spiritual progress.

			Her days of worldly activism came to an end in November 1928, when her husband, Harry, was diagnosed with cancer. For the next few months, her schedule shifted from brunches and community events to daily, hopeless trips to the hospital. In her diary, Ogden describes that time as “very unhappy” and writes that she was “dead tired.” That phase of her life didn’t last long, though. Harry died in early 1929.

			Her widowhood left Ogden at a crossroads, the same crossroads most of us hit when a loved one dies, leaving us wondering: Will I really never see them again? What’s actually important about life? Is anything worth it? Even though she had been raised Episcopalian, married into a Presbyterian family, and sent her daughter to a Methodist church, Ogden wasn’t religious. Those Christian sects were more cultural institutions to her than paths to ultimate truth. But now that she was facing the big questions, she found herself interested in what was really true about the afterlife. And that led her to spiritualism, the belief not only that the soul persists after death, but that we can communicate with those who have crossed over via the help of mediums—people who claim to be able to channel the spirits of the dead through various means, usually involving a séance. Spiritualism became incredibly popular in the United States in the decades after the Civil War, when death was at the forefront of everyone’s minds. According to a 1946 interview Ogden gave to author and folklorist Hector Lee, after the death of her husband she became “interested in the so-called mysteries of life and the spiritual progression one can and will make if they so desire.”

			And those interests led her directly to William Dudley Pelley, a man who seemed destined to be a cult leader, but who could never quite wrangle that kind of following—although he did eventually wrangle a following of a different sort. Pelley was a journalist and author, and relatively distinguished in those pursuits. He wrote for the Chicago Times, won two O. Henry awards, and penned a handful of novels and a dozen screenplays, including two Lon Chaney movies, The Light in the Dark (1922) and The Shock (1923).

			What perhaps brought him the most attention were his writings on spiritualism. Specifically, an essay he wrote for The American magazine, “Seven Minutes in Eternity,” recounts his near-death experience after suffering “a combination of heart attack and apoplexy.” While dead-ish, he ended up in a white marbly place he termed the “hyper-dimension,” where vaguely familiar people wearing hats roamed around. This special knowledge of existence beyond death changed Pelley. He now believed he had a mission to transform the world spiritually and was gifted the supernatural powers to accomplish it—including levitation, X-ray vision, and astral projection.

			Possibly “Seven Minutes in Eternity” was what nabbed Ogden’s attention, as it was published in March 1929, shortly after her husband’s death. Or maybe she encountered the story in book form later that year, as Pelley would expand and publish it as Seven Minutes in Eternity with the Aftermath. Pelley also wrote regularly about his ongoing spiritual discoveries (some communicated to him by a presence he called the “Oracle”) in the New Liberator, a magazine he edited.

			However Ogden found Pelley, just as with her civic commitments, she dove headfirst into her new purpose: the opportunity to be one of the chosen who could help bring about a new age of spirituality. She met Pelley in early 1931 and learned about his plan to establish metaphysical centers throughout the country, as well as to unite Christians in one organization following his New Age spiritualistic teachings. Ogden gave Pelley $14,000 worth of bonds and worked to open one of his centers in Newark. She also planned to be part of the national office in Washington, DC, that Pelley wanted to establish.

			But none of that happened, despite more and more of Ogden’s money being spent on Pelley’s cause. Disillusioned, Ogden split with Pelley in 1932. The split was well timed, because the next year Adolf Hitler would become chancellor of Germany, and Pelley really dug the guy. He dug the guy so much that he even created his own Nazi organization called the Silver Legion (also known as the Silver Shirts due to their Nazi-inspired uniforms) and dubbed himself the “American Hitler.” The numbers of his organization peaked at 15,000, but, in 1942, he was sentenced to fifteen years in jail for sedition. He served eight years of the sentence before being paroled, after which he spent his time trying to start a UFO cult.

			Meanwhile, Ogden started her own group, the School of Truth, gathering followers and meeting in the building in Newark that she had arranged for Pelley. She was, after all, suddenly receiving communiques from beyond, communiques that a New World Order was coming. That the reincarnated souls of Biblical heroes would awaken. That apocalyptic global disasters were looming, and out of those ashes would rise an enlightened population. That immortality could be achieved just by dedicating yourself to the cause. She knew all this because her typewriter told her so. Ogden began to receive messages from otherworldly spirits as she typed, a technologically advanced twist on the automatic writing performed by mediums that was so common in previous decades.

			When her Newark headquarters was foreclosed on, Ogden realized she needed a Promised Land, somewhere far from the natural and economic disasters she and her typewriter were predicting. That meant that coasts and major population centers were out. In the summer of 1933, she went on a tour of the country looking for suitable locations, gathering more followers as she went. The states she visited included Illinois, Idaho, Washington, and California, but none were quite right.

			Then she received a letter from one of her followers in New York. The follower told Ogden that she had been given a vision for the future of Ogden’s School of Truth. She saw a desert valley, with the word Utah written in the sky above it. According to Ogden, this vision matched her own private vision for the future headquarters of the school. Ogden saw this as a sign and headed to Utah, where she found a suitable place called Dry Valley, about fifteen miles north of the town of Monticello, in San Juan County. The valley even had a two-hundred-foot-tall snowman-shaped sandstone formation at its entrance that apparently matched a vision Ogden had had. It would come to be called Church Rock.

			In September 1933, Ogden moved to Dry Valley with some thirty followers. They pooled their resources and mined and farmed that desert, eventually rebranding the School of Truth as the Home of Truth. Another name for it was the Ogden Center. The settlement was far from civilization and, just as important to Ogden, the land had no history of humans mucking it up metaphysically with materialist pursuits. Just some Mormon neighbors here and there.

			The desert valley was a hard place, with extreme temperature fluctuations and arid, dusty soil, a place that even Odgen admitted was rough. However, she said that once the cataclysms hit, the area would be transformed into a bountiful Garden of Eden. In 1934, she bought the local paper, the San Juan Record, and used it to further promulgate her gospel of vague truths around end times, reincarnation, spiritual evolution, and immortality.

			At its height, between seventy and a hundred adherents called the Home of Truth home for themselves. The settlement had three main sections: the Outer Portal, where most of the members lived and communed; the Middle Portal, which was the site of a chapel that was never completed; and the Inner Portal, where Ogden lived with her daughter and her supernatural typewriter, a bit like a spider in the middle of a web. Like a spider, she soon found herself living with a desiccated body, a desiccated body that would bring about the end times…for the Home of Truth.

			Edith Peshak and her husband, Elmer, joined the Home of Truth in 1934. The farmers from Idaho had two adult children, Helen and Frank, but only Frank accompanied them. Edith had terminal cancer, which was the big motivator for the couple to give up their successful farm and head south to the desert. They had heard that Ogden could heal Edith—and healing was indeed one of the superpowers that she was attempting to develop out in that desert. The hope that we can conquer death and never fully lose a loved one is a powerful appeal of the Home of Truth and other spiritualist groups. That hope was what motivated Ogden to start the group when her husband died, and what motivated many, like the Peshaks, to join her.

			Ogden meditated every morning to recharge her spiritual batteries and then communed with Edith every other day, holding her hands, trying to absorb the impurities in Edith’s body, and asking for intercession from what Ogden called Invisible Helpers—spirits of healing. None of it worked. On February 11, 1935, Edith died.

			Once again, death created a major crossroads for Marie Ogden. The death of one of her followers meant that everything she had promised about spiritual evolution and immortality and her own powers were false. So she did the reasonable thing: she pretended that Edith wasn’t dead. She told her followers that Edith was going through a phase of purification and would resurrect imminently. To prepare for that awakening, she instructed her followers to wash Edith every day with a saline solution and keep her body fed with milk enemas.

			However, a few months later, Edith’s daughter put pressure on local officials to investigate what had happened to her mother. The sheriff and a local attorney both ventured to the settlement to inquire, but were barred by Ogden from seeing the body. Finally, she allowed a doctor entrance to prove that the body wasn’t a public health hazard. The doctor concluded that it wasn’t. It had mummified.

			Meanwhile, word got out that the cult was trying to resurrect a dead woman. On November 23 of that year, gleefully aghast headlines appeared in papers across the nation. In the Los Angeles Times, it was “Cultists Guard Body Awaiting Second Life.” The Milwaukee Journal wrote, “Cult Holds Daily Rites to Restore Woman to Life.” The Idaho Statesman proclaimed, “Utah Cult Refuses to Bury Dead Woman in Belief She Will Be Resurrected.”

			It took about two years, but Ogden finally allowed the issuance of a death certificate, which was a hard admission for her. However, what happened to the body of Edith Peshak is a mystery.

			In April 1937, an ex-member named Thomas Robertson, who had fallen out with the group, signed an affidavit stating that he had cremated the body on a pyre per Ogden’s direction, and that it had been done in secret. Robertson said that Ogden later told the members that the body had been hidden to keep it away from all the unwanted attention.

			However, Robertson’s story is contradicted by another account. In May 1937, a journalist named Jack DeWitt interviewed Ogden and learned the location of Edith’s body: a cave in a nearby cliff, blocked by a small boulder. DeWitt snuck out there one night and claims he found the mummified body of Edith Peshak in that cave. So Edith was either cremated or entombed—but probably not resurrected. And while what happened to Edith Peshak’s body is a mystery, what happened to the Home of Truth isn’t as much of one.

			By the end of the dead-body fiasco, less than a dozen members called the Home of Truth home, as many had left the commune disillusioned by the Edith Peshak affair or uncomfortable with the hard settlement life. But the members who stayed did include Elmer Peshak, who would leave an open chair at the communal Thanksgiving dinner for his dead wife. The group continued to shrink, though, and in 1949, Ogden sold the San Juan Record. She spent her last years in a rest home in Blanding, fifty miles south of Dry Valley. She died in 1975.

			Before her death, she had written a book summing up everything about the Home of Truth and its beliefs, called The Age of Faith Versus the Promise of Life. It was never published, though, and might have even been burned when one of her last followers destroyed all of Ogden’s papers to protect her legacy from ridicule.

			Today, the Home of Truth site itself is her legacy, and it has outlived Marie Ogden…as a ghost town. Rotten wooden buildings dot the overgrown desert landscape. The sign on the Inner Portal still brands it as “Marie’s Place.”

			As of the writing of this book, the current owners of the property are restoring it into a tourist attraction. While Ogden wasn’t able to resurrect her follower, her Home of Truth might just have a second life.
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			John Frum Movement
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			Star-Spangled Tanna

			Imagine a dirt runway on an island in the South Pacific. Except that runway seems a little too short to land an airplane on. But there is a plane there. And a tower. And a satellite dish. However, on closer inspection, you realize that the plane and the tower and the dish are all made out of bamboo and wood and straw. It’s a fake airfield. But this isn’t a trap, nor a trick: it’s more like a temple to the gods. And those gods are American.

			The country of Vanuatu encompasses more than eighty islands in Melanesia and is situated between Fiji and New Guinea. The first European explorers arrived in 1606 from Spain, but in the 1700s, after Captain James Cook wended his way through the islands, they were colonized by both the French and the British and called the New Hebrides, a name that stuck until the country’s independence in 1980. The colonial history of Vanuatu is one of indentured servitude and enforced conversion by Presbyterian missionaries. The former removed the native peoples from their islands. The latter removed its culture (referred to as “kastom” by the locals). The missionaries outlawed various practices such as penis wrapping, dancing, and—perhaps the largest loss—kava drinking. Kava is a drug made from a pepper plant root that the locals drink out of coconut shells in sacred settings. It numbs their throats and acts as a sedative, helping them to both relax and achieve spiritual enlightenment.

			In the hazy lore of the John Frum movement, it all began in 1940, when the entity that would come to be named John Frum appeared to a group of elders on Vanuatu’s island of Tanna. The island is twenty-five miles long and about twelve miles wide. Today it has about 30,000 inhabitants. It is dominated by the Yasur volcano that has lent an ominous rumbling soundtrack to the lives of the Tannese for thousands of years.

			John Frum was a tall white man who spoke the native language and may have been a spirit. Or an advance army scout from America. Or the hallucinatory by-product of a heavy night of kava consumption (the people of Tanna make the strongest kava in the country). According to Chief Issak Wan Nikiau, the son of one of those elders and later a witness to John Frum himself, the being was “more powerful than Jesus Christ.”

			The origin of John Frum’s name could be a corruption of “John from America” or a variation on “John Broom,” the latter of which is evocative of the message that John Frum brought with him: sweep out the Christian and colonial influences from the island and get back to kastom. Frum also claimed that America was going to be a friend to the Tannese and bring them lots of material goods in the future. John Frum had brought the Tannese the truth, and they just needed to pray to him for it to happen. They did, and two years later, the prophesied Americans arrived.

			World War II was drawing red lines all around the globe, and the islands of the South Pacific were strategic to the efforts of the Allied Forces, especially to the United States after the bombing of Pearl Harbor by the Japanese in 1941. The Americans set up a base on the islands, including on Tanna, and hired locals to help in the war effort. The Tannese noticed two things about these Americans. First, unlike the French and the British during colonial rule, the Americans treated the native peoples like equals, calling them by their names and paying them for their services. In addition, the American occupation marked the first time the Tannese had ever seen Black men and white men working together, shoulder to shoulder, under the same banner—in this case, a red, white, and blue one.

			And by working, they didn’t mean the things that the Tannese usually called working: hunting, foraging, gardening, weaving, and fishing. The Americans just marched and drilled and played with radio knobs all day. Nevertheless, they didn’t want for food or drink or clothes or anything. Everything they needed to live, work, and play was delivered to them by airplane or boat.

			Those deliveries brought wonders of industrial-age manufactured technology, the likes of which the Tannese had never seen: jeeps and shoes and refrigerators and chewing gum and ink pens and button-down shirts and all manner of items so many Americans take for granted. And not only had the Tannese never seen such mass-manufactured products, they also could not fathom how these items could have been made by humans. After all, how do you weave a jeep or carve a refrigerator? And what are those materials they’re made from? The Tannese had never seen metal and plastic before. Since they believed no person could have possibly made these marvels, the Tannese figured that the items must have been made by the gods, their ancestors. Which means these Americans had unlocked the secret to receiving gifts from heaven. And those gifts were called cargo.

			And that’s how cargo cults are formed. It didn’t just happen on Tanna; it happened all over the islands of the South Pacific in the twentieth century. Local islanders watched uniformed men call planes down from the sky or boats from across the water, laden with impossible-to-make wonders, and came up with their own explanations. However, the John Frum movement is unique both for having such an enigmatic figure as John Frum at its center and for its longevity. The aforementioned Chief Isaak Wan Nikiau, who led the cult for decades, only just died in 2021 at age seventy.

			But the John Frum movement wasn’t just about material possessions. It was about reclaiming Tannese culture from centuries of colonialism and white religion. The locals treated these marvels of manufacturing as gifts from their own ancestors, and then used those gifts as motivation to reject the invading culture and revitalize their own. Many John Frum adherents turned their back on the invading white infrastructure—getting rid of their money and withdrawing from their schools and churches—to focus on rejuvenating their own traditions.

			After the war ended, the Americans packed up their manufactured miracles and left. So the Tannese began copying what they thought of as the Americans’ rituals—the marching and the gun drills—hoping that the gods would also give them this cargo from the skies.

			The villages are decorated with wooden crosses painted red, in mimicry of the crosses on the military medical vehicles. Symbolic airfields and piers are cobbled together from local materials, in the hopes that Americans will use them to return. Every morning, the people go out to flagpoles and raise the American flag high above their villages. Every Friday they attend a worship service, complete with hymns to John Frum. One example of their lyrics, as reported by Paul Raffaele in 2006 for Smithsonian magazine after a visit to the island, is as follows: “We’ve come from America to cut down all the trees so we can build factories.” Raffaele said the singers punctuated the words of the song by miming chainsaws with their hands.

			And every February 15 is John Frum Day. On that holiday, people gather from all over Tanna to celebrate John Frum in the area of Sulphur Bay. The men wear matching jeans and paint “USA” in red on their bare backs and chests. They shoulder bamboo poles sharpened at the top and dipped in red, like the guns they had witnessed during the war. The chief wears an oversized hat and coat with gold epaulettes that roughly approximate an officer’s uniform. They look to the glowing Yasur volcano, secure in the knowledge that John Frum lives there and every so often leaves his fiery throne to meet with elders in private in the dark jungle, to make sure they are still faithful and awaiting his official return. And then they march and they drill and they salute and they hope that John Frum returns with his American cargo.

			And, every once in a while, it happens—sort of. The area is prone to cyclones, and when a particularly devastating one hits—as in 2015, when Cyclone Pam destroyed much of the area—international aid arrives and brings with it lots of cargo. Anytime a white American man visits and brings something from the industrialized world, it’s a small-scale fulfillment of the prophecy. In 2021, a documentarian named Cevin Soling came to the island specifically to film a documentary where he tried to fulfill the John Frum prophecy. He gave out gifts of fishing tackle and medical equipment and salad spinners.

			Of course, the Tannese aren’t any more gullible than anybody else. As with any other religion, it’s impossible to say just how much of this worship of John Frum and Americans is rooted in sincere belief, and how much of it is simply a convenient way to cement social bonds and cultural practices. Not to mention, it’s politically expedient for Tannese leaders to position foreign visitors in ways that validate and support local beliefs and to enrich their villages with what these visitors bring from the outside world.

			The John Frum movement straddles that blurry line between a religion and a cult, although “cargo religion” doesn’t have quite the same ring to it. While it’s easy for us Westerners to laugh behind our hands at an American-worshipping cult, it’s worth asking whether it’s a fully valid religious sect—and one that might just be more successful than any Western religion. From the moment of the original prophecy, the followers of John Frum only had to wait two years for their messiah. And regularly after that, they have received proof that their prayed-for cargo isn’t a pipe dream. Meanwhile, millions of more modern, more “civilized” Christians have just passed their second millennium of waiting for their own prophesied Messiah and heavenly riches. In that light, which beliefs are more rational?

			Tanna hosts other, more minor sects, as well. There’s one dedicated to Tom Navy, a Black American who reportedly encouraged the people of Tanna to live peacefully. Another is dedicated to Prince Philip, the Duke of Edinburgh and husband of Queen Elizabeth II, whose photo was found in a government outpost and commandeered by a group of adherents in the 1960s to represent the face of their god. At one point there was a schism in the John Frum movement led by a local man named Prophet Fred, who accurately predicted a flood on the island and thereafter started a new religion called Unity Joint in Christ. It eschewed Old Glory and John Frum and converted thousands of followers from the John Frum movement. It also displaced those who remained loyal to the Stars and Stripes. They fled into the jungle and started a new village called Lamaraka, which means “outcast.”

			Today, the John Frum movement is on the wane. The blow by Prophet Fred, the death of Chief Isaak Wan Nikiau, and the globalization that affects even tiny islands in remote areas mean that the John Frum movement could disappear as quickly as the American GIs did after Hitler’s death. And if it does, we lose a fascinating phenomenon: religion in microcosm. Because it’s easy to call the John Frum movement quaint. I mean, who would worship a people that invented billboards and Twitter and the Big Mac? But once you start asking questions like that, and once you start analyzing the idea of looking to the sky for prosperity (as many do with prayer); of treating items that you can buy on Amazon as sacred (as many do with crucifixes and holy books); and of practicing rituals to gain favor (as many do with baptism and going to church), well, it gets uncomfortable. Or it should.

			When it comes to belief, what is the truth, really? Is it possible to know? Does it even matter? Maybe everything we believe is merely bamboo airplanes and straw radios.
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			The C-Word
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				We know that cult is a bad word—a word that indicates a bad thing, that is. But is it a bad word, in itself? It’s no surprise that cults don’t like to be labeled cults. But it’s not just those organizations that don’t like it—turns out, many religion journalists and academics don’t like the word cult either.

				In 2016, author Guy P. Harrison wrote in Psychology Today, “The application of this term is prejudice in practice. The vast canyon of meaning that people imagine exists between cults and religions is not there. It is a fabrication of sloppy thinking.” He went on to explain in the piece that the criteria of “potential danger to members and/or others” that we use to determine a cult is flawed. Mainstream religions have killed tens of millions in religious wars throughout history, magnitudes more than all the most infamous modern cults put together. And yet, only niche religions are labeled with the derogatory word cult.

				In a 2022 interview with the Deseret News, David Crary, the AP’s religion news director, in explaining how they updated their style guide to account for religious terminology, said, “some of our favorite entries were only one or two sentences, like trying to advise people away from using the word cult.”

				In 2022, the annual meeting of the Religion News Association featured a session entitled “Don’t Call It a Cult.” The goal, according to the moderator, journalist Sarah Ventre, was to “explore the ways in which we report on marginalized religious communities, particularly those that are often referred to as ‘cults.’ ” She expressed the desire to “unpack the responsibilities we have both to our audience and to our sources and examine the ways in which our reporting affects the communities we report on long after we publish.”

				Basically, most of the arguments against using the word cult are that the word has no objective meaning, is applied arbitrarily, and is offensive—and possibly even harmful—to minority religious groups.

				If that’s true, then what do we replace the C-word with? Minority religion is sometimes used in journalism and academia, as is emerging religion. But the most common replacement is new religious movement, or NRM. However, its application is also somewhat contentious among scholars, as agreement on definitions of new, religious, and movement is needed as well.

				On the other hand, there’s value in calling it like it is, and when predatory cults are able to hide behind benign language, it makes it that much easier for them to lure in new recruits. (Not to mention, this book would have had a much more boring title.) Whatever the scholars end up deciding, I doubt the word cult is going anywhere anytime soon.
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			Chen Tao
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			The Cult Next Door

			The days leading up to March 25, 1998, were tense on Ridgedale Drive in Garland, Texas. Over the past year, some 150 newcomers had moved into the neighborhood. They were all Taiwanese, which was notable for the mostly white neighborhood, but what was truly strange was that they all wore white clothes and matching cowboy hats, had paid for their houses in cash, and were, apparently, part of a cult. A UFO cult. Their leader had predicted that God would appear on television at 12:01 a.m. on March 25 and that six days later, God would come down on Ridgedale Drive in a UFO to evacuate the faithful ahead of an impending nuclear apocalypse.

			For the cult members, that meant there were rituals to perform. For the police stationed around the neighborhood, there was order to be maintained and people to protect. The lawns were thick with both curious onlookers and eager reporters ready for the inevitable show. If God appeared in a UFO, it would be, well, big. If he didn’t, it might still be big. After all, the mass suicide of the Heaven’s Gate UFO cult had happened one year earlier, almost to the day, and the deadly siege of the Branch Davidians five years before had occurred a mere two hours south in Waco. Either way, lots of well-tended rose beds were getting trampled as everyone awaited God’s TV debut.

			And to think it all started with an ordinary sociology professor. Hon-Ming Chen was born in 1955 in Chai’i, Taiwan. From 1983 to 1993, he worked at Chia Nan College of Pharmacology and Science in Tainan City. He was also allegedly an atheist until 1992, when he experienced that magic moment all future cult leaders do: a revelation from God. The details of the form and content of that revelation are vague, but the message basically amounted to, “Greetings, I’m God.”

			But which God was it? Chen joined various religious groups and immersed himself in the sacred texts of Buddhism, Christianity, and Taoism, trying to find the answers to the fundamental questions of existence. He found plenty of interesting ideas in those religions, but the cosmologies and theologies as a whole lacked a certain something. Quickly, he realized that the holes in these religions were all saucer-shaped.

			Chen joined a UFO cult, but didn’t stay long, as he discovered that the group was more pyramid scheme than aliens-built-the-pyramids-themed. So, in 1993, with a head full of sociology and theology, Chen started his own UFO cult, one that incorporated elements from all the major religions—plus flying saucers. It was called the Soul Light Resurgence Association, although the name God Saves the Earth Flying Saucer Foundation also pops up at this point in the cult’s timeline. Reincarnation featured prominently in Chen’s cosmology, with each soul striving to ascend to higher levels of purity. For instance, Chen believed that he himself was once the father of Jesus.

			He also warned of enemies that thwart transmigration, namely lost souls and devils (the worst of which are the King Satans). These evil beings possess people and feed off their karmic energy, thereby stunting the progress of those souls. These devils also blow up the world every once in a while. In fact, according to Chen, the earth had already endured five apocalypses, all of them nuclear. The first was a war among the dinosaurs. That’s right—a nuclear war among the dinosaurs. Prior to each apocalypse, God appeared in a flying saucer to extract the faithful so they could wait out the damage until it was safe to return. That image should be a stained-glass window in a church: God in a UFO hovering above a bunch of nuclear-bomb-throwing Tyrannosaurus rexes. Much of Chen’s theology was outlined in two publications that he wrote, Practical Evidence and Study of the World of God and Buddha (1996) and God’s Descending in Clouds (Flying Saucers) on Earth to Save People (1997).

			This theology was a new revelation of ultimate truth to those who became followers of Chen. Silly as it may sound, from another perspective, a dogma that acknowledges dinosaurs and modern nuclear technology and shows enough knowledge of a scientific universe to posit extraterrestrial races can make more sense to the modern mind than a traditional religion that denies all of those things. Chen bundled these new science-based ideas into old religious paradigms—including judgment, apocalypse, and salvation. He then made it all urgent. By 1995, Chen believed that another nuclear apocalypse was imminent and that God would land that rescue UFO somewhere in America.

			He and his followers quit their jobs, sold their possessions, and moved across the Pacific Ocean to San Dimas, California, where they took on the mantle of God’s Salvation Church. San Dimas, however, turned out to be a mere beachhead, not the setting for Chen’s predicted apocalypse after all. Starting in March 1997, the group migrated west to Garland. The reason? Chen was impressed by how much its name sounded like “Godland.” By this time, the group had also settled on their own final name, Chen Tao, meaning the “True Way.”

			Garland isn’t known for much. It’s a suburb of Dallas and, at the time that God chose it as a UFO landing spot, had a population of about 190,000 people, one of whom was LeAnn Rimes, who, at fourteen, had just gone pop-supernova with her song “How Do I Live.”

			As for Chen and the adherents of Chen Tao, they lived the suburban life, assimilating into their Texas neighborhood as best they could. They seemed relatively harmless, if odd, although sometimes there were issues, as when they were reported for building a UFO landing pad in the neighborhood. It turned out to be the foundation of a gazebo. In another instance, they interpreted numbers appearing in the clouds as a sign from God, instead of the more mundane skywriting they actually were (“007,” to promote the latest James Bond film). But the group also attracted lots of media attention that caused friction in the neighborhood.

			Chen Tao first made news in June 1997, when they started buying ads in Vancouver papers seeking the reincarnated Christ. Chen had seen him in a vision and believed him to be in Canada, as well as to look a lot like Abraham Lincoln. They did eventually find their reincarnated Christ, although he didn’t resemble Abraham Lincoln, and he didn’t live in Canada. He was a nine-year-old boy named Che-yu Chiang. They had previously found the reincarnated Buddha, a ten-year-old boy named Chi-Jen Lo whom they had brought with them from Taiwan.

			The second time they made news was when Chen announced that both God and a nuclear apocalypse were coming. After consulting with God via the large signet ring he wore with the emblem facing the inside of his hand, Chen announced that God was going to appear on national TV, on Channel 18, after midnight on March 25, 1998. That date loomed mere months away. After that broadcast, Chen claimed, God would appear in person six days later at 3513 Ridgedale Drive—Chen’s house. God would also look like Chen, who was at this point in his early forties, with square glasses and silver-white hair. The God-Chen would replicate himself to meet everyone in the area individually and simultaneously, shaking their hands and speaking their own languages. And he would arrive from space in a flying saucer, nine years after Captain Kirk posed the question in Star Trek V: The Final Frontier: “What does God need with a starship?”

			These prognostications had a predictable effect on locals and the news media. The comparisons to Heaven’s Gate and the Branch Davidians became so widespread that Chen called a press conference to allay any fears. He took reporters and camera crews through his house and the various shrines that the members of Chen Tao had built. He assured the media, through his interpreter Richard Liu, that suicide was against their beliefs and that if he was wrong in his prediction, it would be no big deal, saying, “We will conclude that God has changed his plan, and no doubt God’s new plan will be revealed through God’s messenger”—that messenger being Chen. It was a uniquely laid-back approach to prophecy.

			Meanwhile, the Chen Tao members provided lots of B-roll for the media as they bowed en masse, wielded golden scepters topped by dragons, and excavated a hole six feet deep and eight feet wide to bury cassettes and books and anything else that might help future human civilizations who survived the apocalypse. In a report from KHOU-TV in Houston, a reporter stuck a microphone under the nose of anyone who would comment, contrasting camouflage-wearing locals with Texas drawls who said, “I think it’s crazy,” and “Some bizarre activity from a lot of people” with white-clad Chen Tao members who retorted in halting English, “I don’t know why they make that judgment. They never talk to us. Never ask us,” and “We just are devoted to our own belief in God, so we don’t think we are queer.”

			Finally, it was the day before God’s television debut. Everybody in Garland stayed up until midnight. Over a hundred reporters crouched in the streets and on the lawns around Ridgedale Street. Members of Chen Tao stood in a circle outside and prayed before retiring into Chen’s house to await the broadcast, which that same KHOU-TV news report described as “a daylong infomercial from God.”

			But when the time came, there was no infomercial. Nothing but the hiss and fuzz of analog static. By the end of the day, God’s cold feet were accepted by everyone, even Chen himself. He immediately transformed from prophet to spin master. At the ensuing press conference, he said:

			
				I want to emphasize that God’s kingdom has already descended, God has already descended. But the pity is that the gospel of God’s coming is known to too few people…. Because we did not see God’s message on Channel 18 tonight, my predictions of God arriving on March 31 can be considered nonsense…. I sincerely hope everybody can keep an eye on the further developments, and don’t call us liars or something like that. Please trust what we say, because God really wants to save a billion people from the Great Tribulation.

			

			On March 31, the prophesied date of God’s return in the flesh, the same scene played out, with the same disappointing ending. At that ensuing press conference, Chen gave attendees the option to make him pay for the failed prophecy, opening up the floor for ten minutes for anyone who wanted to stone or crucify him on the spot. There were no takers. He also noted that although events hadn’t occurred exactly as he had predicted, they had still occurred. God might not have descended in a flying saucer, but he had descended in spirit inside each person. Speaking aloud and shaking hands with yourself, Chen said, would fulfill his prophecy of everyone hearing God speak in their own native language and shaking hands with him. Chen had been busy tweaking his theology since March 25.

			Eventually, it became evident to all that Garland wasn’t Godland, after all. Some members of the cult moved back to Taiwan. Others doubled down and followed Chen as he regrouped north of Buffalo, New York, and began prophesying an imminent tribulation all over again. They opened a satellite branch in Brooklyn as well. However, by 2002, the group had ousted and disavowed Chen and his teachings and rebranded themselves as the Grand True Way, thereafter quickly fading into obscurity.

			And maybe that is the catch-22 of cultdom. Without bold, urgent predictions, cult leaders struggle to grab enough attention to amass a cult following. But at the same time, these apocalyptic predictions often spell the cult’s doom as soon as they fail to be realized, exposing the lies of those who claim to hold the absolute truth. It’s easy to wonder, had Chen dated his apocalypse thirty years into the future, whether the Chen Tao would still be in Garland, rocking out to LeAnn Rimes, stockpiling bleach for their whites, and burying smartphones and fidget spinners in time capsules. But more than likely, he never would have gotten as far as Garland in the first place.
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			Ordo Templi Orientis
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			Fight for Your Rites to Party

			Of all the cults—UFO cults and sex cults, doomsday cults and self-improvement cults, hollow-earth cults and New Age cults—the most feared, the most fretted over, the most forewarned against, are the satanic cults. But, unlike those other types of cults, satanic cults…don’t exist.

			Sure, satanic groups such as the Church of Satan and the Satanic Temple have been around for decades, but these aren’t the child-abusing, blood-drinking, virgin-sacrificing cults that are so plentiful in horror movies and that inspired the Satanic Panic of the eighties and nineties. Those organizations don’t worship anything supernatural or, really, anything at all. In fact, according to Peter Gilmore, current High Priest of the Church of Satan, “Anybody who believes in supernatural entities on some level is insane. Whether they believe in the Devil or God, they are abdicating reason.” These groups instead use Satan as an archetype for free thinking and antiauthoritarianism. Plus, who doesn’t like rooting for the underdog?

			But we can’t write a book about cults without something of the occult in it, even if the etymologies of the words are unrelated (see this page for more). And when your story starts with Aleister Crowley throwing swingers parties and ends with the founder of Scientology and the founder of the Jet Propulsion Laboratory trying to raise the Antichrist, well, that’s close enough. And that is exactly the story of the Ordo Templi Orientis (OTO).

			In many ways, the story of Aleister Crowley is the story of the OTO. He was born in 1875 to wealthy Christian parents in Warwickshire, England, and became an occultist, a world traveler, a mountain climber, and a writer. Due to his occult writings, he was often referred to as the “wickedest man alive” and “the Beast” (the latter being something his mother used to call him). He invented his own religion, Thelema, the main tenet of which was “Do what thou wilt.” The teachings of the religion were dictated to him by a formless entity named Aiwass, and Crowley gathered these teachings in a sacred text called The Book of the Law (1909).

			Crowley was an enthusiastic proponent of indiscriminate sex and multifarious drugs long before they became two of the guitar-stand legs of the Holy Trinity of counterculture, on which he was a massive influence. He was one of the icons on the cover of the Beatles album Sgt. Pepper’s Lonely Hearts Club Band. “Do what thou wilt” was etched into the vinyl of Led Zeppelin III. Guitarist Jimmy Page bought Boleskine House, Crowley’s old place on the banks of Loch Ness. David Bowie sang about him in “Quicksand.” The Doors posed with a bust of Crowley on the back cover of the album Doors 13. Ozzy Osbourne recorded the song “Mr. Crowley.”

			But long before these gods of counterculture were performing songs about him, Crowley was searching for the hidden truths of existence by performing secret rites, rituals, and spells…which invariably involved sex and drugs. He joined his first secret society in his early twenties when he was initiated into the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn. The Golden Dawn was a magical society whose arcane rituals were derived from certain ancient Greek and Egyptian sects. However, he was soon actively barred from ascending to the inner circle. Depending on whose side you believe, that was due to either Crowley’s tendencies toward self-aggrandizement and contrarianism or his freewheeling lifestyle, bisexuality, and quarrels with fellow members, including W. B. Yeats. Either way, he wasn’t very popular in the group. After failing to seize the order’s London lodge through the courts a year later, he was done with the Golden Dawn.

			However, he eventually found a new secret magical society, the OTO. Found it, not founded it. But he did make it his own. The OTO was established sometime in the late nineteenth century. Or maybe the early twentieth. In Germany. Or maybe Austria. The date and place of origin are vague because the organization had a fuzzy formation. That time period was a scramble of people frantically starting their own societies, orders, fraternities, and rites based on a mishmash of other societies, orders, fraternities, and rites. Basically, everybody wanted to start the next Freemasons—a quasi-religious fraternal organization with roots stretching back to the Middle Ages—but cooler. And ideally with sex thrown in.

			In the OTO’s case, the founders were Henry Klein, Theodor Reuss, Franz Hartmann, and Carl Kellner. Klein was in the music industry—a pianist, music publisher, and talent manager. Reuss was a singer and a journalist. Hartmann was a medical doctor, and Kellner was a wealthy businessman. All had interests that ranged from theosophy to Freemasonry to alchemy, and Kellner had the bankroll.

			The OTO was formed because Freemasonry was somewhat constrictive. Women weren’t allowed to join, for instance. And the four men wanted to delve into areas outside of what was traditional for Freemasonry. Including secularism. And sex magic (which you sometimes needed women for). But it was mostly a side project for these busy men, so it limped along, despite Kellner’s death in 1905 and Reuss’s flight to England to avoid charges of homosexuality. In 1910, Reuss met Crowley, who at this point was making a name for himself in the world of the occult. In 1912, Crowley joined the OTO and was appointed head of the order for England.

			Crowley set to work expanding the organization in the English-speaking world and blatantly embedding his Thelema religion into its rites. Meanwhile, Reuss was enthusiastically expanding it throughout Europe. In a 1912 issue of the order’s journal Oriflamme, Reuss wrote: “Our Order possesses the KEY which opens up all Masonic and Hermetic secrets, namely, the teaching of sexual magic, and this teaching explains, without exception, all the secrets of Nature, all the symbolism of Freemasonry and all systems of religion.” The OTO believed itself to be the sole caretaker and distributor of truth, and to hold all the answers to life’s questions, which is a common, comforting, and convenient claim by cults.

			The OTO, as Reuss conceived it, featured ten levels, or degrees, that initiates could ascend. The first seven degrees were mostly educational, but Degrees 8 and 9 were where it got horny, with 8 being dedicated to self-pleasure and 9 to outright sex. Level 10 was leadership, the Rex Summus Sanctissimus. Crowley would expand it to twelve degrees, adding anal sex as a big part of the eleventh and Degree 12 as an even higher realm of leadership called the Frater Superior, or Outer Head of the Order (OHO). That would be the person in charge of the entire society. From one perspective, the OTO was just a very complicated way to get laid. Whether its true appeal was the promise of the key to all the secrets of the universe or merely its sexy sex magick, the OTO was popular enough that lodges formed in Canada, the United States, and multiple European countries under the leadership of Reuss and Crowley.

			The two eventually crossed swords (metaphorically, possibly euphemistically), in particular when Reuss intercepted a letter from Crowley to one of his followers in which Crowley called Reuss “demented” and laid out his ambition to take over the order as OHO. That ambition wasn’t fulfilled, however, until after Reuss’s death in 1923. During his tenure as OHO, Crowley continued to solidify the order’s presence in North America and remained OHO of the OTO until his RIP in 1947.

			But not before he had to deal with a couple of troublesome “goats.” In the early 1940s, one of Crowley’s financial and spiritual supporters in America was a young man named Jack Parsons. Parsons was a graduate of the California Institute of Technology who had already earned his fortune by inventing a solid-state rocket fuel (roofing asphalt and potassium perchlorate) and selling it to the US military. He also established, along with fellow Caltech alumni, the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL), which pretty much made space exploration possible for the United States, from the country’s first spacecraft, Explorer 1, to the rovers on Mars and just about every probe and spaceship in between. And Parsons was an important part of that effort (the JPL was sometimes jokingly referred to as Jack Parsons’s Laboratory).

			But this man who was so key in helping us explore the solar system was also keen on exploring the secrets of the occult. And he would do so by having a lot of fun in Degrees 8 and 9 of the OTO. Crowley liked Parsons at first, and helped him ascend the ranks of the OTO rapidly. Parsons purchased a mansion in Pasadena, California, and opened it up to a wide variety of scientists and artists, many of whom would join him in dancing naked around bonfires in the backyard. Rocket scientist in the streets, pagan in the sheets.

			One of the people who moved into Parsons’s mansion was a young writer and veteran named Lafayette Ronald Hubbard. You might know him as L. Ron. He would later invent Scientology, a group that believes we are fallen aliens who need to conduct certain, secretive techniques on our minds to regain the godlike powers we once had. Hubbard and Parsons became friends, and the two performed various rites and rituals for the purpose of raising the Antichrist.

			See, Parsons was obsessed with the goddess Babalon (a.k.a. the Great Whore of Babylon from the Book of Revelation). He wanted to incarnate her so that she could birth the Antichrist and overthrow Christianity as the dominant religion of the world. That, apparently, entailed masturbating into parchment while Hubbard chanted and took notes. “Wand” was often the euphemism they used in these rituals. Writer Annalee Newitz summarized this strange confluence of people and acts perfectly in a 2013 Gizmodo article: “It was magick, yes, but it was also the future founder of Scientology jerking off with the founder of JPL, in order to indirectly spawn the Antichrist.”

			Meanwhile, Hubbard started getting intimate with Parsons’s longtime girlfriend Betty Northrup. Which was fine with Parsons. Their relationship was an open one, and besides, he soon found his Babalon. A red-headed artist named Marjorie Cameron dropped by the mansion to see a friend, and both Parsons and Hubbard were immediately convinced that she was the goddess they were looking for. Who could turn down that come-on line? She joined in the sex rituals with relish.

			So what was the OHO thinking about these seemingly important efforts toward changing the world and advancing the occult? Well, Crowley called them both goats (and not in the “greatest of all time” sense) and Parsons in particular a “weak-minded fool”—although that might have been born of jealousy, because if anything was in line with the life, beliefs, and works of Aleister Crowley, it was raising the Antichrist through sex and magick (Crowley preferred spelling magic with a “k” to distinguish it from stage magic).

			It didn’t take much occult magick to get Marjorie/Babalon pregnant. However, she didn’t birth the Antichrist. She aborted him. As disappointing as that was for Parsons, he had other problems to face. He was going broke.

			Hubbard had an idea, though. He thought they could leverage his experience in the navy and what money Parsons had left to create a lucrative boat-selling business together. Parsons gave him $20,000 to buy boats in Florida so that they could sail them to and then sell them at a profit in the more lucrative market in California, but Hubbard just absconded with both the money and Betty. Parsons caught up with them in Florida, but there was little he could do to stop them or get his money back.

			Parsons died at age thirty-seven in 1952 from a home laboratory explosion, after a series of bad turns that had him fired from JPL and investigated by the FBI. The explosion was ruled an accident, but some speculate it might have been a suicide and others that it was murder, with suspects ranging from a recently paroled murderer whom Parsons had helped imprison as an expert witness on bombs, to competitor Howard Hughes as revenge for corporate espionage, to anti-Zionists, since Israel supposedly benefited from that espionage. Hubbard would go on to make Betty his second wife, write a book called Dianetics, and start Scientology. Many, including Hubbard’s son from his first marriage, Ronald “Nibs” DeWolf, have observed that the structure of Scientology is modeled closely on the structure of the OTO. The leaders of Scientology deny this claim.

			After Crowley’s death in 1947, the OTO continued under his chosen successor, Karl Gemer, and Crowley left everything he had to the OTO. But Gemer wasn’t as interested in the order once Crowley was gone, and coasted as its OHO until his death in 1962. Since then, there have been various claimants to the legacy of the OTO and the rightful position of OHO, mostly in a bid to own the copyright to Crowley’s works. There are still several small lodges around the world.

			And while no one in the OTO was ever successful at spawning the Antichrist, spawning Scientology might just be as bad.
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			Divine Order of the Royal Arms of the Great Eleven
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			“A Babel of Incoherency Abounding in Absurdities”

			May Otis Blackburn baked a woman to death, helped hide a dead teenager under the floorboards of a house, and likely murdered her son-in-law, but, in the end, she went to jail because she missed a writing deadline. But that’s probably a good thing, because the book she failed to finish would have triggered the end of the world. And I’m not even sure those are the wildest parts of this story.

			Blackburn was a film pioneer, a numerologist, and possibly a serial poisoner. She was born in Storm Lake, Iowa, on August 2, 1881. At the age of seventeen, she had a daughter named Ruth with her husband, Jack Weiland. Later, after moving to Portland, Oregon, and with Jack out of the picture, she started to amass a following due to her numerology-based interpretations of the Bible. While in Portland, Blackburn financed a short film called A Nugget in the Rough (Ruth played the titular “Nugget”), which debuted in 1917. According to an advertisement in the Oregon Daily Journal, the movie is “an appealing story of a western mining camp, eastern society life, two men and a girl.” Some of it was shot on Mount Hood. Having a foothold in this burgeoning art form and industry, Blackburn and her daughter moved to Hollywood sometime between 1918 and 1919 to make it big.

			They did not make it big—not in the movie business, at least. Blackburn and Ruth lived in the Bunker Hill neighborhood of Los Angeles, and when their plans for movie stardom didn’t come to fruition, it was up to Ruth to support them. She worked as either an exotic dancer or possibly a “taxi dancer,” a job in which women were paid to partner with men for dances at clubs and halls.

			Beginning in 1922, the mother and daughter duo claimed to have been visited by the angel Gabriel (and other angels, including Michael, but Gabriel was mentioned most often in their writings). Either way, these supernatural beings had big plans for the forty-one-year-old Blackburn and the twenty-four-year-old Ruth. The angels unveiled a set of revelations that would form the foundation of a new religion: the Divine Order of the Royal Arms of the Great Eleven. That’s what Blackburn called it, but others know it as the Blackburn Cult or the Cult of the Great Eleven, or even the Great Eleven Club. Let’s just acronym it DORAGE.

			Over the next forty-two months, Ruth and Blackburn received from their angels a series of reinterpretations of the Bible and new revelations about existence. They were instructed to write it all down in a book called The Great Sixth Seal. The book had three parts: “The Trumpet of St. Gabriel,” “The Lamb’s Book of Life,” and “The Apples of God’s Eyes.” Among those angelic revelations was that Blackburn and Ruth were the two witnesses referenced in Revelation 11:3: “And I will give power unto my two witnesses, and they shall prophesy a thousand two hundred and threescore days, clothed in sackcloth.” The numerology of the verse fit Blackburn’s predilections, although the sackcloth not so much. They even claimed that angels took them underground near Bakersfield, showed them a massive cache of gold nuggets and jewels, and told them to record the exact location of all that wealth in The Great Sixth Seal.

			Blackburn and Ruth believed not only that this book would reveal all the secrets of the universe, but that its eventual publishing would bring about the apocalypse and return of Christ. Upon his return, they believed, Christ would choose eleven queens to reign over the world (the “Great Eleven” in the cult’s name), two of whom would be Blackburn and Ruth. Each of the Great Eleven would have a palace in Hollywood from which to reign and would be paired with kings, while all the faithful would become immortal. After they were handed those truths, the mother and daughter partied with the angels. According to the Los Angeles Times, Ruth said that Gabriel would “croon the tunes of Cleopatra and I’d dance for him and he made me custodian of all the Egyptian dances.”

			Blackburn and Ruth’s claims were wild enough to attract a following for DORAGE (perhaps the followers were enticed by the promise of those gold and jewel deposits). And those who followed found themselves on quite the adventure.

			But first they needed a home. Like most cult leaders, Blackburn and Ruth were adept at wringing money and assets out of their followers, particularly a man named Clifford Richard Dabney, who was the nephew of a wealthy oil magnate. He donated between $40,000 and $50,000 (close to a million dollars in today’s money) in cash, oil shares, and land to the cause, including 164 acres of land in Simi Valley. All he expected in return was a first look at the book before it was published, so that he would have a head start on the location of all those riches.

			The cult built about a dozen cabins and a temple in Simi Valley filled with lion-adorned furniture, including mirrors, divans, dressers, and an eight-hundred-pound gilded throne made of gum wood and featuring four hand-carved paws and a lion’s head. The throne was meant for Christ to rule from on his return. By day, the cult followers made money working at a tomato-packing company and gave their paychecks to Blackburn and Ruth. At night, they would conduct séances, sit in magic circles, wear long purple robes, sacrifice mules (which they called the “Jaws of Death”), and then finish it all up by dancing naked. People within the organization were given such grandiose titles as Gale of the Four Winds and King Arthur of the Four Horseman. Dabney was dubbed the Prince of the Hereafter and Now. Blackburn was often called the Heel of God, and her husband, Ward Sitton Blackburn, whom she married in 1924, was known as the North Star of the World. Ward Blackburn had a long mustache that dangled at the sides of his mouth and five-inch-long fingernails.

			But soon strange deaths and disappearances started occurring—starting with Sam Rizzio. Rizzio was Ruth’s second husband. She had married her first, Edgar J. Richenbaugh, in Los Angeles in 1919, but divorced sometime before 1924, when she married Rizzio—the same year her mother remarried. He was only eighteen. Ruth initiated him into DORAGE by having him walk barefoot on the sand of Topanga Beach intoning, “I am a dead man,” while she sprinkled water on the sand. He quickly disappeared. According to Blackburn and Ruth, Rizzio had hit Ruth in the face and been forced to leave the cult as penance. Blackburn also once phrased it as “he is now a high priest, invisible to less spiritual eyes.” She proffered a note he left behind as proof that he left of his own accord, a note that bore a lot of similarities to Blackburn’s own handwriting and her common spelling foibles, both of which could be seen in the pages of the unfinished manuscript of The Great Sixth Seal. Either way, nobody ever saw Rizzio again. The prevailing theory is that Blackburn and Ruth poisoned him.

			Then there was Willa Rhoads (sometimes spelled Rhodes), the sixteen-year-old daughter of cult followers William and Martha Rhoads. She apparently died of a tooth infection, although there is some speculation that she was also poisoned. Blackburn told the Rhoadses that Willa would be resurrected as one of the Great Eleven, the divinely appointed queens of the new dispensation, and called her the Tree of Life of the organization. Blackburn had her followers preserve the body with salt, spices, and ice at the Simi Valley headquarters, and then later moved it between various locations. Finally, Willa’s body ended up under the floorboards of the Rhoadses’ home in Venice, California, where she was entombed in a coffin beside another coffin containing seven dogs given to the Rhoadses by Blackburn, each named for a note on Gabriel’s trumpet to signify eventual resurrection. It is assumed the dogs were killed—likely with poison—to accompany Willa in death.

			Then there was Florence Turner, a thirty-year-old woman who was partially paralyzed. Blackburn treated her by having her followers build a makeshift brick oven in which they baked her for two days. She died shortly afterward—no poison necessary.

			By 1929, Dabney the oil scion, the Prince of the Hereafter and Now, had gotten fed up with waiting for The Great Sixth Seal to be finished, especially since he was in need of money because he had given so much to DORAGE and was in a bit of a feud with his uncle. He sued Blackburn for grand theft and was joined in the case by other followers who were disappointed by Blackburn’s false promises, bringing the amount of money they were suing for to a total of $200,000 (about $3.5 million in today’s dollars).

			Most of the information and theories about the fates of the dead and vanished members of DORAGE were revealed to the public as part of the discovery for this trial, including Willa and the dogs Do, Re, Mi, Fa, So, La, and Ti, who had been mummified under those Venice floorboards for four years at that point. The disappearances of three other cult members were investigated as well. It also came out that Blackburn had wanted to build a refrigerated warehouse in Simi Valley to store dead bodies for the resurrection and had asked one of the members, who was a pharmacist, for a poison that couldn’t be detected via autopsy. The jury was shocked by these lurid tales and offered a verdict of guilty. Blackburn was convicted of eight counts of grand theft and arrested on March 2, 1930.

			Although maybe angels were watching out for her. After spending only about a year in the county jail, she received a reprieve. On appeal to the Supreme Court of California, Blackburn was exonerated in what seems to be both a resounding endorsement of religious liberty and also a stern warning to anybody who wants to abuse that liberty.

			According to the decision, the justices found it inappropriate that the prosecution had introduced the stories of the missing and floorboarded cult members in a monetary fraud case and determined that it had prejudiced the jury. More relevant, they claimed, “Any legislative attempt to limit or regulate persons in their claims to the possession of exceptional spiritual power or knowledge would be rejected as a dangerous invasion of the state into the realm of religious freedom and privilege, which, from the beginning of our government, has been guarded by constitutional barriers.”

			But they didn’t side with Blackburn too heartily, calling her teachings “a babel of incoherency abounding in absurdities of an extreme type and the wonder is that rational minds should have become obsessed by such chimerical delusions.”

			Basically, the judge found that the teachings of DORAGE were ridiculous but believed it was impossible and dangerous to try to prove whether they were sincere or not, and Dabney and Co. were, as mentally competent adults, ridiculous for ascribing to them. But claiming and believing ridiculous things isn’t illegal and is actually protected.

			Still, despite the exoneration of Blackburn, DORAGE was basically cooked in a kiln and buried under floorboards itself after the trial. Blackburn’s last gasp as a cult leader would happen in 1936 when she released a book called The Origin of God, another attempt by Blackburn to reveal new truths to the world. It received no attention. She died in 1951 at age sixty-nine. Ruth died in 1978 at age eighty. To our knowledge, Christ never came for that lion throne.
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				We all want to be safe, and we often look to leaders to protect us, whether they are politicians or parents, medical professionals or scientists. But for us to feel protected by these figures of authority, those leaders need to have confidence. They need to have conviction. They need to have all the answers—or they at least need to know how to fake all that. And cult leaders are the best at faking. In this section, we will see people running to cult leaders to find protection from turbulent cultural times, imminent apocalypse, personal troubles, and even the law. Unfortunately, when it comes to cults, too often these sources of perceived protection turn out to be far more dangerous and deadly than the original fear.
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			Peoples Temple
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			The Devil and Mr. Jones

			At Evergreen Cemetery in Oakland, California, a plain block of granite about three feet tall stands out in the grass. Inscribed on its surface are the words:

			
				IN MEMORY OF

				THE VICTIMS OF

				THE JONESTOWN TRAGEDY

				NOV. 18, 1978

				JONESTOWN, GUYANA

			

			It marks the grave of four hundred unclaimed bodies, fewer than half of the victims of the Jonestown Massacre. Fewer than half of the victims of the Reverend Jim Jones.

			Jim Jones, the architect behind the infamous deaths of 918 American citizens in Guyana, South America, in 1978, was born in 1931 in Crete, Indiana. His family was poor—his father was a disabled World War II veteran—and Jones grew up in a shack of a house with no running water or electricity and little parental supervision. His mother and father divorced by the time he was fourteen. Jones became obsessed with religion early in life, perhaps to fill the hole left by parents focused on their own problems or perhaps because he liked the power dynamic between pastor and congregation. Either way, he didn’t waste time becoming a preacher after he went to college.

			He matriculated for two years at Indiana University Bloomington, and then continued his degree in secondary education at Butler University after moving to Indianapolis. Meanwhile, he married Marceline Baldwin and became a dedicated believer in communism. In 1952, at the age of twenty-one, he took on the role of student pastor at Sommerset Southside Methodist Church. By 1956, he had established his own church in Indianapolis. He would eventually call it the Peoples Temple.

			And then, this man, who would go on to orchestrate the largest American civilian death event prior to 9/11, did a lot of good—at least at first. He became head of the Indianapolis Human Rights Commission, and in that role helped desegregate the city, from theaters and restaurants to hospitals and the police department and even an amusement park. The Peoples Temple gave out food to the impoverished, provided homes for the elderly, found jobs for the unemployed, and funded scholarships for those who couldn’t afford school.

			As a result, Jones became popular among the downtrodden, especially Black men and women. His congregation grew. So did his family. Over the course of their marriage, he and Marceline adopted three Korean children, a Black boy (whom he named Jim Jr.), a part–Native American girl, and a white boy, in addition to having one biological son. Jones called them his “rainbow family” and believed he now had (Black) skin in the game due to his relationship with Jim Jr. According to the PBS show American Experience, Jones said of the adoption of his son, “Integration is a more personal thing with me now. It’s a question of my son’s future.”

			And while Jones’s championing of the marginalized was key to his ministry, what also helped grow his following was his claim that he could cure cancer. At some point he switched denominations from Methodist to Pentecostal and became a faith healer, using treatments derived from animal parts and declaring the afflicted healed. As Jeff Guinn wrote in his book The Road to Jonestown, “He understood that when you believe life is almost hopeless, that’s when you’re most ready to buy into some miracle that might lift you up.” His faith-healing scams were perhaps the first hint that his championing of social progress was more performative than sincere, or at least that it was becoming so. His son, Stephen, said in a 2018 interview for a special report for ABC News, “There was nothing spiritual about my father…. His entire existence was superficial.”

			Jones’s quest for power and control began to escalate in the early 1960s. The United States was deeply frozen in the Cold War. Schools were doing duck-and-cover drills, and John F. Kennedy had just been elected and had the Cuban Missile Crisis on his to-do list. Jones, like many in the United States, was getting worried about how safe he was within the borders of his own country. And Jones, like many other Americans, read an article in Esquire listing the safest places to live in case of nuclear war. But few other Americans went to the extremes that Jones did. He picked up his rainbow family and headed to one of those places to scout a new location for the Peoples Temple: Brazil.

			Jones spent a couple years in Brazil, living first in Belo Horizonte and later in Rio de Janeiro. However, back home, the Peoples Temple was in trouble. It was crumbling under the financial burden of funding Jones’s extended sojourn and was losing its cohesion without its charismatic leader. Jones returned to Indiana in late 1963. At this point, he began sounding more like the cult leader he was becoming, preaching in earnest about an imminent nuclear war and the socialist utopia that could survive it. He even moved to California because he thought it would be safer there.

			Jones’s message of racial integration and caring for the needy continued to resonate. By the early 1970s, the Peoples Temple had growing congregations in San Fernando, San Francisco, and Los Angeles, with a membership totaling 2,570, the majority of whom were Black. He leveraged that base to make a difference politically, too. He helped progressive George Moscone win the election for mayor of San Francisco and was appointed to the San Francisco Housing Authority Commission as a result. That campaign and position helped him expand his network of high-ranking state politicians.

			And while his acts of charity and political activism burnished his appearance of legitimacy, it was only superficial. Jones had started to move away from Christianity to set himself up as God of the Peoples Temple. In fact, many have observed that religion might always have been a means to an end for him, and that end was to establish his own communistic society over which he would rule. Jones himself once said, “Those who remained drugged with the opiate of religion had to be brought to enlightenment—socialism.”

			A major step toward that goal happened in California, where he set up a commune in Redwood Valley to survive a nuclear holocaust that he predicted would occur on July 15, 1967, a day that passed without much detriment to his reputation. That was probably because, far from being an exemplar of shared toil and benefit, the community allowed him a strict degree of control over the lives of his followers, who became isolated and dependent on him. He took advantage of these conditions by working them tirelessly, emotionally and sexually abusing them, and punishing any dissent harshly and often violently.

			Meanwhile, his paranoia increased. Perhaps it was the drug addiction he had developed since moving to California. Perhaps it was the increase in political and social instability. After all, this was an era of nuclear fears, war in Vietnam, and civil rights struggles. Or perhaps it was pure, calculated manipulation of his congregation. Whatever the catalyst, Jones started preaching about urgent dangers to the Peoples Temple, including extremist groups angry at them for embracing integration. He said these groups intended to round them all up into concentration camps. He also preached that the Peoples Temple was in imminent jeopardy of being raided by the government for espousing communism. The only thing that could save them, Jones claimed, was socialism.

			But it wasn’t his embrace of integration or communism that tarnished his reputation in the United States. It was his miracles. Journalists began to expose the scams behind his faith healing and feats of clairvoyance, and this devastating press caused internal divisions within the Peoples Temple. The sexual abuse was coming to light as well. Jones began to panic. He was losing control and garnering real enemies. To regain control and protect what he had built, he had only one option: move the Peoples Temple out of the country.

			In 1974, Jones started developing a new home for the Peoples Temple in Guyana, South America. He had discovered this English-speaking former British colony during his Brazil trek, when he had participated in revival services there. He leased almost 4,000 acres of harsh jungle from the Guyanese government with the aim of transforming it into the socialist commune and sanctuary from persecution that he had always dreamed about. It was officially called the Peoples Temple Agriculture Project, but most knew it as Jonestown.

			Over the next five years, Jones and his followers erected some sixty buildings to accommodate the almost 1,000 members of the Peoples Temple who would call it home, although many of them thought of it as hell. They toiled in the commune for long hours during the day and spent their nights listening to Jones’s anti-capitalist and anti-US sermons for hours, during which he would extol the virtues of Russia, China, and North Korea. He set up a speaker system throughout the commune so that his words were constantly droning across the jungle. His followers were prevented from contacting their friends and family. Jones would make them sign documents that he could use as blackmail to prevent their insubordination. The soil in the commune wasn’t conducive to crops, so the people—Jim Jones excluded—lived mostly on rice. And those who dissented or tried to escape were beaten, imprisoned, or drugged.

			Jones started what he called White Nights, practice drills in which he would rouse residents from their sleep to gather in the main pavilion and tell them they were under attack from government forces. He set up people in the surrounding jungle to shoot rubber bullets at them to complete the effect. During at least one of these White Nights, he had his followers drink a red punch that he claimed was laced with poison. He waited until the most dramatic moment to reveal that the drinks weren’t poisoned after all, and then congratulated his followers on passing this test of loyalty.

			But word of the abusive conditions of Jonestown soon got back to families in California, who believed their loved ones were being held against their will. They lobbied for help, and in November 1978, California congressman Leo Ryan gathered a delegation of government officials and journalists to visit his expatriate constituents.

			When Congressman Ryan and his cohorts arrived on November 18, they found mixed conditions in Jonestown. The residents were crammed into small bungalows. Jim Jones looked weak and unstable. However, according to Charles Kraus, a Washington Post reporter in the delegation, “Contrary to what the ‘Concerned Relatives’ had told us, nobody seemed to be starving…everyone seemed quite healthy.” Ryan’s group did receive notes from some members who wanted to be taken back to the States, though. Too many to fit on the plane. Still, Ryan did what he could, and more than a dozen people accompanied him back to the airstrip, some of whom had fought with spouses who wanted to stay and keep their children in Jonestown.

			But on the airstrip, Ryan’s delegation was ambushed by armed members of the Peoples Temple who wanted to prevent the followers from leaving. After the storm of gunfire abated, nine people were wounded and five were dead, including Ryan himself.

			Back in Jonestown, Jones knew the jig was up. But he still couldn’t relinquish control. He put into action the contingency plan he had been practicing since they arrived in Guyana. He called everybody to the main pavilion and incited them to drink cups of Flavor Aid laced with cyanide. He called it “revolutionary suicide,” but it’s better described as murder. A third of the residents of Jonestown were children. Many members were injected with syringes full of cyanide. Those who took it willingly had various motivations, from a sincere belief in the teachings of Jones to having no prospects beyond Jonestown. Some had watched their friends and family die and didn’t want to live without them. The finale to the horrific story was the bullet Jim Jones fired into his own head. Audio of the entire massacre, including Jones’s scattered, confusing, insane exhortations, was recorded. It’s easy to find online, but hard to get over once heard.

			Photos from the aftermath show a carpet of bodies on the jungle floor, with empty packs of grape Flavor Aid littering the deathscape. Including the dead from Ryan’s party, the final death toll was 918. Almost 70 percent of the victims were Black. Some of the surviving followers had escaped through the jungle. Others, including three of Jones’s children, were away from the commune on church business at the time.

			Survivor Teri Buford O’Shea, in a 2011 interview with the Atlantic, explained the community better than Jones ever could: “What was good about Jonestown was not Jim Jones. It was the people he attracted. They came from every walk of life, from the very well educated to the totally uneducated. Some had lots of money, some were living off of Social Security, and some didn’t even have that. It could have been you. It was me.”

			The mass grave in Oakland was dug not long after the tragedy, but in recent years, the simple stone was expanded into a larger memorial. It’s now flanked by benches and faces four large plaques set flush into the ground that list the names of all 918 victims. It’s the only real testament to the tragedy in this country, other than the strange idiom that it birthed in our culture, one that represents going all-in on a dangerous idea, complete with an inaccuracy that must have been a relief to the company that owned Flavor Aid: “Don’t drink the Kool-Aid.”
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			Ant Hill Kids
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			A Mountain of Abuse

			On an isolated mountainside in eastern Canada, a small group of people in matching tunics—mostly women—build a commune. The only one not pitching in is the group’s leader, Roch Thériault. He’s thirty years old and balding, with long brown hair and an unkempt, foot-long beard. He gazes on his tiny empire and imagines the activity of his followers on that mountain as busy ants on an anthill. He names the group the Ant Hill Kids. But what sounds like the name of a children’s television show hides a level of brutality that is beyond shocking, one that proves that our desire for protection can be so strong we mistake persecution for it. And that shocking brutality and persecution in what would become Canada’s most infamous cult might have all started with an ulcer.

			Thériault was born in 1947 in Rivière-du-Moulin, Quebec, but grew up in a small asbestos-mining town called Thetford Mines, an hour and a half south of Quebec City. His family was Catholic, and he became obsessed at an early age with the Bible and its tales of a coming apocalypse. In 1970, at twenty-three, he seemed to have all the pieces in place for a good, non-culty life: a wife, two kids, and a job as a firefighter in Montreal. But this fireman soon became a fire-and-brimstone man.

			An ulcer surgery left him with chronic, painful digestion issues and, according to his wife Francine Grenier, also changed him mentally. He was more easily irritated, cheated on her, and became obsessed with holistic medicine. He left the Catholic Church to join the Seventh-Day Adventists, a religion that appealed to him because of its focus on special diets and healthy living. He was charismatic and outgoing and did well in the church…until he didn’t. He was eventually ousted due to his outsized ego and blatant lust for power within the organization. His wife also left him. But that didn’t matter too much to Thériault. He now knew exactly what he wanted: authority.

			In 1977, he started a health-focused group in Saint-Marie, Quebec, quickly recruiting a small group of interested individuals who shared his passion and appreciated his knowledge, leadership ability, and magnetic personality. The clinic included seminars on eating healthy and quitting smoking. He married a nurse named Gisèle Lafrance. Oh, and he started seeing himself as extremely important to God’s plan. Like, prophet-level important.

			And since prophets gotta prophesy, Thériault soon made his first divinely inspired prediction: a doomsday one. Tapping into those interests sparked during childhood, he foretold that Armageddon would arrive in the imminent month of February 1979, and then he convinced nine women and four men who trusted him that the only way to survive the coming destruction of the world was to take their children, cut off all contact with their families, and follow him to a remote site on what he called Eternal Mountain, in Saint-Jogues on the Gaspé Peninsula of Quebec. There, he took on the name Moses, gave all the Ant Hill Kids Biblical names, too, and watched them erect a small commune (apparently he couldn’t help because of his stomach issues). Soon they were all cozy enough to await Judgment Day together.

			February 1979 came quickly and went just as fast, the world intact. Since cult leaders can never say “I was wrong,” Thériault managed to convince most of his followers that the missing end times was no mere error of his own, but that time to God and time to man were different, citing “one day is with the Lord as a thousand years, and a thousand years as one day” from II Peter 2:8. Still, a few disillusioned members left, and from then on, Thériault abstained from prophecies too quickly disproven, even though the Ant Hill Kids soon had much more disturbing reasons to flee the fold.

			The extended family of at least one of the acolytes of Thériault suspected that the Ant Hill Kids were in danger. After the Jonestown Massacre in November 1978, in which Jim Jones led a group of almost a thousand followers to Guyana, Africa, and then successfully convinced them to drink cyanide-laced Flavor Aid, the family of Chantal Labrie started asking questions about her life among the Ant Hill Kids. Their persistence resulted in a raid on Eternal Mountain by the authorities. Labrie was taken for a psychological evaluation, as was Thériault, who was arrested for obstruction during the raid.

			After a month of evaluation, both Labrie and Thériault were cleared as mentally stable. In hindsight, the finding makes no sense—or the sense it makes is terrifying: that these perfectly sane people were nonetheless enmeshed in a horrifying web of abuse. Because what seemed from the outside to be a vaguely hippie group selling woodcrafts and hanging out off the grid had turned into a totalitarian state, with Thériault ensconced as its narcissistic dictator. Once his followers were in his thrall—exhausted from work, undernourished, and far from family and friends—he started beating, torturing, and sexually abusing them, maiming them via bizarre “medical operations,” and subjecting them to outrageous indignities, all in the supposed service of their spiritual purification. He was at his most sadistic when he was drinking heavily. And he was almost always drinking heavily. Then the next morning he would be apologetic, in what is a familiar pattern with abusers.

			But what wasn’t familiar about this abuser was the depths of his depravity. He nailed a child to a tree so that the other children could throw stones at them. When his wife Gisèle Lafrance (who was now just one of his many wives at the commune) complained of a toothache, he removed eight of her teeth with pliers. He would command the men to break their own legs with sledgehammers or cut off the toes of those who he felt deserved punishment. He performed genital mutilations on both the men and the women and held babies over fires to coerce their mothers. He would have his followers physically fight each other and command children to perform sex acts on him and others.

			Still, the commune grew, not through evangelization, but because Thériault made it a condition that he impregnate all the women in the camp. At its peak, the Ant Hill Kids numbered around forty members, many of them actual kids. These children both formed family bonds between Thériault and his female followers and kept the women compliant, for fear he would hurt their children otherwise. Meanwhile, the faithful remained painfully so.

			Inevitably, death occurred. The first victim was a toddler. In 1981, a recent recruit, Guy Veer, who had joined the group after fleeing a mental institution in Quebec City, was sent out to watch the children. When Veer beat one of them in the face, Thériault inexplicably tried to heal the child by operating on its genitals. He had started to believe that his self-taught knowledge of anatomy combined with his miraculous powers as a vessel of the Almighty meant he could cure all ailments and injuries, even death. However, like his doomsday prediction, the attempt was a failure, and the child died. Thériault initially concocted a story about reviving the child, but then decided that Jesus wanted it in heaven. He had Veer castrated as punishment.

			Veer went to the authorities, and Thériault and a few of his followers again found themselves under intense scrutiny. This time, instead of psychological evaluations, they received jail terms. Thériault served two years for criminal negligence. Others in the group, including Gisèle Lafrance, served nine months.

			But even that didn’t scatter the Ant Hill Kids. Thériault was released in 1984 under the condition that he stay away from any other members of his cult. Thériault ignored the directive and immediately moved the group, who had waited for him, out of their current jurisdiction to two hundred acres of land in Burnt River, Ontario.

			Shortly afterward, another child died—an infant this time. The cause of death was originally determined to be sudden infant death syndrome, but the truth would eventually surface: it was left outside to freeze by the child’s mother, ostensibly to protect it from Thériault’s physical and sexual abuses.

			And that’s when child protective services got involved. They managed to remove more than a dozen children from the group, and then continued to remove another nine over the next two years as the cult continued to produce them. One of the social workers most dedicated to rescuing these children was a woman named Georgia Brown. She would later take her own life, in part because of the horrors she witnessed and heard about from the children she saved.

			Thériault continued to be unstable and self-obsessed. He would wear red robes and a gold-colored crown. When Gisèle Lafrance informed him of stiffness in her fingers, he impaled her hand to a table with a hunting knife and made her stand like that for over an hour. When her arm darkened from lack of circulation, he hacked it off between the shoulder and elbow with a meat cleaver. It took multiple blows. This was in addition to past abuses, such as slicing off part of her breasts and burning her genitals.

			Lafrance survived. And she was lucky compared to Solange Boilard. In 1989, Boilard informed Thériault that she was suffering from a stomachache. Her leader, always eager to perform one of his operations, laid her out naked on a table, gave her an enema of maple syrup and olive oil, and then cut open her stomach with a kitchen knife while Boilard was still conscious. He reached into her abdominal cavity with his bare hands and removed part of her intestines. Once finished, he commanded someone to stitch her up and someone else to blow air into her lungs through a tube. Boilard died and was buried, but Thériault wasn’t quite finished with her. He had his followers exhume her, and then he and the other male acolytes defiled the corpse sexually, purportedly in an attempt to resurrect her.

			Don’t worry. We’re almost to the end of this horror story.

			Lafrance eventually went to the police and told them about her forced amputation. After a six-week manhunt, they found Thériault, who from that point on was uncharacteristically compliant. He was found guilty of attacking Lafrance and sentenced to twelve years at the Millhaven Institution, a maximum-security prison near Kingston, Ontario. Meanwhile, one of the defecting Ant Hill Kids told the authorities about Boilard, and that crime increased his sentence to life.

			However, that didn’t stop most of the Ant Hill Kids. Many stayed dedicated to him, even Lafrance. She told the Canadian magazine Maclean’s, “People try to make Roch sound like a monster, like a butcher. But he is not that. Most of the time he was not drinking and performing his operations. He was a marvelous man who was full of passion, intelligence, and originality.”

			Some of his followers even rented apartments close to the prison and would see Thériault for conjugal visits. At least one child was born to him during his life sentence.

			Thériault completed that sentence on February 11, 2011, when he was attacked and killed by his cellmate, sixty-year-old Matthew MacDonald. MacDonald, who was serving a life sentence himself for murder, stabbed him in the neck with a shiv and watched him bleed out. He then walked up to the guards and said, “That piece of shit is down on the range. Here’s the knife. I’ve sliced him up.”

			With their leader gone, the kids finally left the ant hill, some with voids that would never be filled and others left to heal from their trauma as best they could.

			It’s easy to wonder how so many men and women could be faithful under a litany of despicable abuses by a single, drunken man in religious cosplay. Even listing the many reasons—hero worship, isolation, a sense of community and belonging, peer pressure, shared children, dependence, fear—does little to satisfactorily explain it.

			But although the case of the Ant Hill Kids is extreme, it’s not dissimilar to more “ordinary” domestic violence—which is sadly common. “I think I understand what a battered wife experiences,” a former member named Jacques Giguère told Maclean’s in 1993. “She keeps getting beaten, but her husband begs for forgiveness. She wants to believe him and can’t bear to leave her family.”

			And as for the true believers, those who thought that Thériault was the only person able to protect them from the imminent destruction of the world, their ability to endure the unendurable makes sense from the perspective that anything is better than death. Even when the physical threat was gone and Thériault was in jail, the mental control he was able to exert over his followers didn’t go away.

			Still, the fundamental question of why people stay in cults is what keeps us coming back to these stories again and again. If you’re lucky, you’ll never have to unravel that mystery firsthand.
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			Los Narcosatánicos
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			Drugs, Magic, and Human Sacrifice

			When twenty-one-year-old Mark Kilroy disappeared on March 13, 1989, in the border town of Matamoros, Mexico, authorities weren’t sure what to make of it. Like many other students that spring break, the University of Texas premed had walked across the bridge from Brownsville, Texas, to its sister city just over the Rio Grande. Kilroy had accompanied three friends on a quick jaunt into Matamoros and had a good time with booze and girls along the party strip that was the Calle Alvaro Obregon. The three friends returned to Brownsville without Kilroy, assuming he had gone back earlier or would show up later. Often, when people disappeared in Matamoros, they would be found hungover at a local hospital on either side of the river. Of course, the worst was always a possibility, too—that they were the victim of crime, maybe kidnapping or murder—but the authorities had no idea how bad the worst could actually be in this case. Kilroy had been ritually sacrificed by a nefarious cult that the Mexican media would name Los Narcosatánicos—the Narcosatanists.

			An extensive search was conducted for Kilroy. His parents offered a $15,000 reward. Tens of thousands of leaflets were printed and circulated. Police and politicians on both sides of the Brownsville-Matamoros border pled and searched for any information about his whereabouts. The police had one of his friends hypnotized to see if they could uncover any clues. They even attracted enough attention to get the case on the popular TV show America’s Most Wanted. And they did eventually find Kilroy, though it wasn’t through any of those efforts.

			In April, a twenty-two-year-old drug runner named Serafin Hernandez Garci tried to evade a police checkpoint and inadvertently led the authorities to Rancho Santa Elena, about twenty miles west of Matamoros. It was a drug-smuggling hub for the Hernandez family, which had at one time run a minor drug empire that, according to the commander of the Federal Judicial Police in Matamoros, extended from “Mexico to Michigan.”

			The police quickly discovered seventy-five pounds of marijuana on the premises. Then, either randomly or as a point of procedure, one of them showed the ranch caretaker a photo of Kilroy. The caretaker acknowledged having seen the boy and directed them to one of the many shacks at the ranch. As they neared it, the stench of decay became overpowering. There, the authorities uncovered the shallow graves of fifteen murder victims who had been dispatched in various ways—including hanging, burning, shooting, hacking, and slicing. They were all mutilated, missing eyes and testicles and hearts and other body parts. Kilroy was there. His spinal column had been removed. His brain was missing. He had a machete wound to the back of his neck. And his legs were cut off from the knees down.

			The shack turned out to be somewhat of a temple, inside of which were metal cauldrons rimed with human hair and brains, dead animals, and candles. There were blood-stained altars, blood-stained weapons, and an oil drum for boiling victims, or at least pieces of them. So disturbing were these obvious remnants of dark and gory rituals that before the authorities would investigate any further, they brought in a curandero, a folk healer, to bless the site. They would learn that this horrific temple was used by a cult run by someone called El Padrino, or the Godfather: twenty-six-year-old Adolfo de Jesus Constanzo, who was nowhere to be found on that ranch.

			Constanzo was born in Miami, Florida, in November 1962. His mother, Delia, was a Cuban refugee who gave birth to him when she was fifteen. His father didn’t stick around. Delia, like her mother, was a santera, a priestess of the Santería religion.

			According to the United States Commission on International Religious Freedom, Santería originated with the Yoruba people, an African ethnic group from West Africa and the Congo Basin who were enslaved between the sixteenth and nineteenth centuries and brought to Cuba. Over the centuries, their traditional beliefs blended with Catholicism, the religion of the Spanish colonizers of Cuba. One of Santería’s hallmark rituals is animal sacrifice, which supposedly helps bond the practitioner with ancestral spirits that can fulfill needs or grant desires. But Delia took this ritual to the extreme. Constanzo grew up in a house full of animals—live, dead, and dismembered. According to the Los Angeles Times, Delia was once arrested after being found living with several children and two dozen animals in a tiny apartment covered in “blood, urine and feces.” If a neighbor got on her bad side, they’d get hexed with an animal head on their porch.

			Delia didn’t just stop at Santería. She also found a guide to teach her son Palo Mayombe, a religious practice that has a lot in common with Santería—it likewise wended its way from Africa to Cuba via the slave trade and then spread throughout the Western Hemisphere. In Palo Mayombe, practitioners contact the spirits of the dead for protection, and sometimes to inflict harm. They use cauldrons in their rituals called ngangas, which are filled with sticks and human remains, among other objects (palo is Spanish for “stick”). The ngangas represent the spirits and are “fed” with offerings, including blood from animal sacrifices. Palo Mayombe is often stigmatized in Cuba due to the incorporation of human bones in ngangas.

			In 1984, Constanzo moved to Mexico City to ply his trade as a sorcerer for hire. He professed psychic powers, performed ritual cleansings, and cast spells of prosperity and protection. Some of his clients were high-profile, including the Mexican head of Interpol, Florentino Ventura, but he mostly served members of drug cartels and other criminals, who were almost uniformly superstitious and would pay money to be blessed before conducting their extremely dangerous and potentially lucrative illegal endeavors. “It was our religion, our voodoo,” Serafin Hernandez Garci told police after he was arrested, according to the New York Daily News. “We did it for success. We did it for protection.” It’s why he so brazenly tried to avoid the police roadblock: he thought he was invincible on his drug run. He even believed that bullets would bounce off of him.

			Constanzo started making a lot of money, driving around in expensive cars and gathering followers to his cult. Soon he styled himself as the high priest of the Hernandez clan, so that he could take cuts directly from their drug sales. They agreed, especially because the recent shooting death of one of their relatives, Saul Hernandez Rivera, had caused bitter divisions in the Hernandez family that hurt the business. And that’s how Constanzo found himself in Matamoros at the Rancho Santa Elena.

			It was also in Matamoros that he met and won over the most incongruous person in Los Narcosatánicos: a college student named Sara Aldrete Villareal, who became his girlfriend (and who was the ex-girlfriend of one of the Hernandezes). Her life couldn’t have been more Jekyll and Hyde. By day, she was a friendly, studious, award-winning honors student at Texas Southmost College in Brownsville. By night, on the other side of the bridge, she was sometimes referred to as the La Padrina to Constanzo’s El Padrino. Sometimes she was simply called his witch. She was involved to the degree that the authorities believed that she personally selected one of their sacrificial targets because he had insulted her. She lured him to the ranch and watched as other cult members cut off his nipples and boiled him alive.

			In 1987, the movie The Believers became an important touchstone within Los Narcosatánicos. Directed by John Schlesinger, it stars Martin Sheen as a psychologist who is helping the police track members of a Santería-based cult with supernatural powers bent on performing child sacrifice. The movie inspired Los Narcosatánicos and was screened often by the group. It was even brought up during some of the cult members’ confessions to the police, as if it explained Los Narcosatánicos better than they could themselves.

			Los Narcosatánicos began their ritual human sacrifices about a year after the movie came out, although two-thirds of those shallow-graved victims were killed for the usual criminal reasons, not for rituals. But it was an obvious-enough evolution from Constanzo’s perspective. If sacrificing a guinea pig could give his followers special powers, then sacrificing a human being would give them even greater ones, and would increase his own power as well. In classic cult leader fashion, Constanzo was borrowing from multiple preexisting religions and then innovating on them to create his own theology. Then one day, Constanzo, at the height of his influence and looking for new avenues to power, asked for a gringo to sacrifice. He got the blond-haired Mark Kilroy.

			According to the confessions of the cult members, they saw Kilroy heading for the bridge and tried to force him into a pickup truck, but Kilroy escaped. Members in a second car caught him and transported him to the ranch. After Kilroy spent twelve hours handcuffed in the car, duct tape was stuck over his eyes and mouth and he was taken into the shed-temple, where Constanzo killed him with a machete. From there, the cult did what they had done to other human sacrifices, including removing his spine so they could string the vertebrae onto necklaces to wear for protection and drinking brews made of Kilroy’s boiled organs to sanctify themselves and protect them from the police.

			But Kilroy’s death, ironically, was their undoing. After the roundup of cult members at the ranch, the authorities initiated a search for Constanzo, Villareal, and other members of his inner circle. They eventually found Constanzo at an apartment in Mexico City, where the looming threat of being captured and arrested was making him unstable. He burned large sums of money on the stove and threw more of it out the window. When Constanzo saw the authorities down on the street, he opened fire on them. Also in the apartment were Villareal and two other cult members, Alvaro de Leon and Martin Quintana, the latter of whom was one of Constanzo’s first converts, as well as his lover. When the police made it inside, they found Constanzo and Quintana dead, riddled with bullets. Constanzo had commanded de Leon to execute them both so they could die together. Villareal escaped the carnage but was arrested and sentenced. She will probably spend the rest of her life in prison.

			In the end, more than a dozen members of the cult were arrested, some of whom received sentences of between thirty and sixty years. There are rumors that many more members of Los Narcosatánicos escaped, and that Constanzo had been overseeing other human sacrifices with a group unconnected to the Hernandezes and their ranch, but nothing has ever been confirmed.

			Today, three decades later, the dark specter of Constanzo and his Los Narcosatánicos still haunts Matamoros. In December 2021, a fifteen-year-old Mexican girl went viral for her quinceañera photos, since they were taken in front of a spooky-looking abandoned house that was supposedly one of the places Constanzo lived during the murders. Locals call it “casa narcosatánica”—the Narcosatanist House. In March 2023, four men from South Carolina who were crossing the border into the city were kidnapped at gunpoint and forced into a pickup truck, just like Mark Kilroy. Two of them were shot to death. The media immediately used the Los Narcosatánicos killings as a touchstone, although the police would eventually determine that the crimes were a case of mistaken identity.

			As for the makeshift temple at Rancho Santa Elena, it was burned to the ground not long after the grotesque discoveries—but not before being blessed by a curandero.
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			Heavenly Jerusalem
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			Pyotr’s Cave

			Not much is known about the rise of the Russian cult Heavenly Jerusalem, but a lot is known about its descent, which became quite literal when the cave the cult was hiding in to wait out the end times collapsed.

			Born in 1964, Pyotr Kuznetsov was an engineer from Belarus. He was also divorced, possibly in a midlife crisis, and, it would later be shown, schizophrenic. Like many people in that part of the world, he was a member of the Russian Orthodox Church. But he wasn’t quite satisfied with all its teachings. Fortunately, the early 2000s was a good time to start a cult in Russia. Just a decade after the collapse of the USSR, which spent the twentieth century quashing all religious expression within its borders, Russians were ravenous for the spiritual, and there was a cornucopia of mystics and prophets who rushed in to fill that god-shaped void. According to the RIA Novosti, a state-owned news agency in Russia, some 500 to 700 sects were operating in the country in the early 2000s, with a combined membership of between 600,000 and 800,000 people. “Sects,” in this case, could mean either a cult or a splinter group from a mainstream religion.

			And Kuznetsov, who went by Father Pyotr, dabbled in both. He traveled throughout Belarus and Russia, visiting monasteries and writing about his new twist on the teachings of the Russian Orthodox Church. At first, he called his new religion the True Russian Orthodox Church, although the name he eventually settled on was more search engine optimized, but barely—Heavenly Jerusalem. He believed that he was a prophet, and his prophecy was that, despite surviving the millennium (so many cult leaders’ apocalyptic predictions were hung on the millennium), the world was about to end. He believed that the church wasn’t doing enough to prepare Christians for it.

			By 2006, Father Pyotr had gathered about three dozen adherents and settled into the rural town of Nikolskoye, about five hundred miles southeast of Moscow in the Penza region. They met in a tin-roofed hall to sing hymns and discuss the end of the world, which Pyotr pegged as occurring in May 2008. He told his followers that, when it happened, they would be the ones to determine who went to heaven and who went to hell. Their own salvation, of course, was assured, as long as they continued to follow and obey Pyotr. But they had to sacrifice a few things in the interim: basically, anything with a barcode or electronic identifier, because Pyotr claimed those hid the Mark of the Beast that the Book of Revelation warned of.

			In the Bible, the Mark of the Beast is a signifier placed on people’s foreheads or right hands that allows them to buy or sell in the new economy of the Antichrist. It takes the form of the number 666. Barcodes being the Mark of the Beast wasn’t a rare idea in Christian circles; it had been circulating since the 1970s, when barcodes started appearing on products in grocery stores (the barcode was invented in 1952 by American inventors/Antichrists Norman Joseph Woodland and Bernard Silver). Even today in America, the Christian-owned national retail chain Hobby Lobby refuses to put barcodes on its merchandise, and some say it’s for exactly that reason. (Spokespeople for Hobby Lobby say it’s because it makes interactions between clerks and shoppers more human and less technological.)

			But no barcodes or electronic identifiers for Heavenly Jerusalem members meant no processed foods, no money, no credit cards, no passports, and no ID cards. They also cut themselves off from all news sources by spurning TV, radio, and, why the heck not, electricity. Conveniently for Pyotr, this rejection of barcodes and other forms of modern technology also kept his cult followers completely isolated and therefore completely under his control. They were unable to travel, purchase necessities, receive information from the outside world, or contact family and friends without Pyotr knowing about it.

			Sometime in 2007, Heavenly Jerusalem started preparing in earnest for the apocalypse foretold in the Book of Revelation. They secretly dug out a cave in the snowy hills about two miles from the village. It was a circular passageway about six feet high and 165 feet long, with six rooms radiating from it, in addition to a well for fresh water and a latrine. According to Father Pyotr, it took them a month and a half of constant digging to hollow the bunker out. In a later interview, he would explain, “God gave us cover, and angels helped us.” However, locals told reporters that the cave was on the site of a previous bunker that had been used to house a convent in pre-Revolutionary times.

			At some point in late October or early November, thirty-five members of Heavenly Jerusalem, including four young children, descended into the cave to wait for angelic trumpets and judgments of plagues and Christ in the clouds. They had stocked the cave with enough food and kerosene to last them until the end of the world…which was only six months away.

			The villagers didn’t think much of the sudden disappearance of Heavenly Jerusalem. After all, the cult had appeared just as suddenly and mysteriously a couple years back. But they had left behind something extremely important: Father Pyotr, who didn’t join his followers in the cave. He told them that he had a different destiny and had to take care of a few things aboveground. He stayed behind in the village with two women and three children and spent his nights sleeping in a coffin. Whatever that destiny was supposed to be, however, was never fulfilled. A daughter of one of the subterranean cult members went to the authorities, and in the ensuing investigation, the forty-three-year-old Father Pyotr was arrested for, according to the RIA Novosti, “creating a violent organization.” He was taken for evaluation to a mental hospital a hundred miles from the cave.

			After a few days of interrogation, Father Pyotr told the authorities where to find the cave. The authorities took with them a range of experts, from rescue workers to doctors to priests. They found the cave barricaded shut and were welcomed with gunshots—but they soon discovered that they could communicate with the cave dwellers through an air vent.

			But the members of Heavenly Jerusalem weren’t budging. They told the police that they were all healthy, and that the cave was an acceptable temperature to get through the winter safely (somewhere between 54 and 63 degrees Fahrenheit). And besides, they threatened, were anybody to interfere, they had enough gas canisters for their underground kitchen to commit an explosive mass suicide. They called themselves “the chosen ones,” and the Russian tabloid Komsomolskaya Pravda quoted a cult member as saying, “It was God who told us to act this way, a book about us is being written in heaven.” Otherwise, they didn’t communicate with the outside world much, other than through songs and notes. Sometimes they kept completely silent. One time they asked for a cow so that they could have fresh, unprocessed milk.

			The authorities, knowing that children were down in that cave, didn’t want to force the issue or do anything that would endanger lives that were technically not endangered at the moment. A spokesman for the region, Yevgeny Guseynov, told CNN, “Any special operation that involves the use of force against those people is totally out of the question. If they do come out of the cave, it would be only if they choose to do so voluntary [sic].” The authorities installed microphones near the vent and cordoned off and monitored the scene, while attempting to continue negotiations.

			Meanwhile, back in the institution that was keeping a “heavily medicated” Father Pyotr, the cult leader was explaining some of the motivations behind the mass burial of his followers. According to the RIA Novosti, besides protecting his followers from Armageddon, the cave option had been chosen because “local drunks had beaten up our men and swore at our women. Then God showed us the only path—to move underground.” The solution had come to one of the Heavenly Jerusalem members in a “night vision.”

			For the first few months, after the initial surprise and curiosity wore off, nothing much happened in that snowbound subterrain. In February, a bit of excitement occurred when a child dropped a candle during prayers and started a fire. Authorities could hear the commotion but were refused ingress to help. Luckily, the members succeeded in putting out the fire without injury.

			Nothing much else happened until March 29, when all the water from the melting snow caused part of the roof to cave in, separating seven of the members, all women, from the rest of the group. Father Pyotr was brought from the mental institution to the site to help convince the women to exit. They did, finally deciding that being exposed during the end times was better than being buried alive in a dank catacomb.

			And then there were twenty-eight. Father Pyotr actually supported the members being disinterred, saying that he didn’t want to force them to stay down there. However, by that time the members were suspicious of him and his words, as by then he had been under the influence of the government and who knew how many barcodes. Still, a few days later, seventeen more members decided to vacate, including all of the children.

			And then there were eleven. At this point, the rescue workers dug trenches to redirect the winter runoff and ensure that the cave suffered no floods or collapses. This was Russia, after all, and there was a lot of snowmelt.

			In April, possibly due to the dwindling numbers in the cave and in his cult, his loss of confidence in his prediction, or his newly diagnosed schizophrenia, Father Pyotr tried to commit suicide. Depending on which report you read, he laid his head on either a wooden plank or a stump and then bashed his head repeatedly with another plank. He fractured his skull but survived thanks to surgery. It wasn’t his first brush with violence in the institution, as, according to the Russian publication Tvoi Den, he had earlier been attacked by fellow patients for being a “devil” and causing his followers to suffer.

			Then the momentous month of May hit. Father Pyotr had not named a specific day in the month that the apocalypse would arrive, but the remaining members vacated on May 16, after six months in the cave and while basically straddling the finish line. But of the eleven who stayed in the cave until May, only nine were alive—and that’s why they had to leave. The noxious smell of the bodies of two women who had died while underground was poisoning the air. After the authorities retrieved the bodies, they determined that one of the deceased members had died of cancer, while the other had died from malnutrition during fasting.

			In the end, after suffering their own mini-apocalypse while waiting for the big one, the band split up. May 2008 ended without a single broken seal or monster in the sky. Heavenly Jerusalem had died in that cave. As for Father Pyotr, he was deemed incompetent to stand trial due to his schizophrenia and was kept for treatment at the psychiatric hospital in Penza. The latest update that I could find on his current condition and whereabouts was a January 2013 article from the Russian Legal Information Agency that reported that the court had extended his stay at the psychiatric institute based on the recommendations of his doctors.

			As for the real star of this story, the cave itself, it was destroyed. Soon after the complete evacuation, local authorities brought down Armageddon on it with a pair of controlled explosions that collapsed the cave entirely.
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			Cult vs. Occult
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				In this book, I’ve included the Ordo Templi Orientis and Los Narcosatánicos as examples of occult cults: cults that are based largely on esoteric supernatural or magical beliefs and practices. It would seem logical to conclude that the words cult and occult have a common origin. Not only do many cults include occult practices, but the word cult is right there in occult. Does that mean the phrase “occult cult” is linguistically redundant, like “forever and ever”? Or are the two words synonymous, like flammable and inflammable? Turns out, etymologically, the two words have nothing to do with each other.

				According to Merriam-Webster, the noun cult comes from the Latin word cultus, which has a range of meanings that span from “tilling” to “training” to “adoration.” Related words include culture and cultivate. The earliest known recording of cult as a standalone word was in the seventeenth century, when it indicated religious devotion, but without the negative connotation the word has now. It took a couple hundred years for the word to evolve into its modern meaning of “a religion regarded as unorthodox or spurious.”

				Occult, on the other hand, comes from the Latin word occultus, which means “secret” or “hidden” or “esoteric.” Occlude is one word that it’s related to. Today, the word has both a supernatural connotation (for instance, secret magic rituals) and a scientific one (an “occult cancer” is one in which the original tumor cannot be determined). Its first recorded use was in the fifteenth century, beating out cult by a good two hundred years.

				In the media, cult and the occult are often used together, as if the two words encompass the full spectrum of evil. For instance, the headline of a 1983 Associated Press article exclaimed that “Cults, Occult Drawing Youth.” The lede of a 1984 article in the Paris News of Paris, Texas, stated, “Cults and the occults [sic], in varying degrees, are believed widespread in Texas.” A 1984 article from the Kansas City Star announced, “Conference in KC takes a look at cults and the occult.” The subhead: “Informed citizenry is the goal.” While some cults do engage in occult practices, there’s no real evidence of a causal relationship between cults and the occult, as the media would have you believe. Occult practices neither are necessary for cult formation nor seem to precipitate cult-like behavior more frequently than more mainstream beliefs, like Christianity for example.

				All that to say, so you can have an occult cult, both linguistically and sociologically. It’s a cult dedicated to the occult. And you should probably avoid it. But mostly because of the cult part.
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			Manson Family
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			Homicidal Hippies

			Charles Manson wrote a song for the Beach Boys. Meat Loaf once gave him a ride while he was hitchhiking. He babysat for the children of Al Lewis, of Grandpa Munster fame. Neil Young gave him a motorcycle. Angela Lansbury’s daughter was one of his acolytes. And one of the people who was murdered at his command was Sharon Tate, actress and wife of director Roman Polanski.

			As a culture, we are fascinated with Charles Manson, in part because he interacted with so many pillars of pop culture during the sixties. He’s been the subject of countless movies and TV shows, songs, and podcasts. He’s namechecked with all the most villainous villains of history, despite never bloodying his own hands with murder. The pull that Manson has isn’t just a cultural one; it was a personal one. People were drawn to him and would do anything he asked them to. The attorney who prosecuted his case, Vincent Bugliosi, said of him to Rolling Stone, “I couldn’t get someone to go to the local Dairy Queen and get me a milkshake…. He had a quality about him that one thousandth of one percent of people have. An aura. ‘Vibes.’ ” Like that of so many cult leaders, Manson’s charisma was both palpable and indescribable.

			Charles Manson was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, on November 12, 1934, to an unwed teenage mother who was in jail for robbery by the time he was five. He continued the family tradition and found himself in jail for various crimes throughout his teenage years and on into his thirties, although he did have enough time between jail stints to marry twice and father two sons, Charles Manson Jr. and Charles Luther Manson. He was so used to prison life, though, that when he was paroled at age thirty-three, he asked the authorities to keep him incarcerated. They didn’t. And that’s how he found himself in San Francisco in 1967, just in time for the Summer of Love.

			He was a little older than the Haight-Ashbury flowers-in-your-hair crowd, but that gave him an apparent authority on which he could capitalize. Throw in a hippie-mandated ability to play guitar (which he’d learned in prison from Alvin “Creepy” Karpis, head of the Ma Barker Gang), Jesus-y long hair and a beard that gave his small, 5-foot-2 frame some gravitas, and an antiauthoritarian edge, and he was able to reinvent himself from petty criminal to counterculture guru. As journalist Jeff Guinn put it in his 2013 book Manson, Manson was “the wrong man in the right place at the right time.”

			While in San Francisco, he managed to sweet-talk himself into a communal living situation with some twenty girls. Most of them were vulnerable teenagers or women in their early twenties, runaways or in need of money and stability or trying to escape bad situations. One of those girls, Patricia Krenwinkel, later explained to the New York Times what she found in the Manson Family: “For the first time, to feel safe…to feel like someone was gonna care for me.” Others just outright fell for Manson or were chasing the excitement of a counterculture that offered freedom, drugs, music, and good times. When film and stage star Angela Lansbury learned her daughter Deidre had fallen under Manson’s spell, she put her career on hold and moved her family to Ireland to get her daughter away from the man. “He was an extraordinary character, charismatic in many ways, no question about it,” she told the Independent.

			And, of course, drugs such as marijuana and LSD flowed freely in the Manson Family, as did sex, which was an easy exchange in a free love economy. Manson especially cashed in on the latter with his coterie, both for himself and to lure other men to support the group.

			And that was how he met Dennis Wilson of the Beach Boys. The Family had a bus that they hippified out by replacing the seats with colorful rugs and pillows, and they all piled in and made their way down to Los Angeles in late 1967. Wilson picked up a couple of the “Manson Girls” while they were hitchhiking in the area, took them home, and before he knew it, the entire Manson Family had moved into his house.

			But Manson wasn’t just looking for a roof for his cult. He wanted to be a rock star. He wrote a few songs with Wilson, and the Beach Boys even recorded one. It was originally titled “Cease to Exist,” but Wilson rewrote and retitled it as “Never Learn Not to Love.” Wilson also introduced Manson to Terry Melcher, a prominent record producer for such acts as the Byrds and the Mamas & the Papas. Melcher was also the son of Doris Day and a boyfriend of Candice Bergen.

			However, soon Wilson was hemorrhaging money by supporting the Manson Family, as well as absorbing damage to his cars, property, and body (he allegedly got gonorrhea from one or more of the “Manson Girls”). In addition, both he and Melcher were growing increasingly disturbed by Manson’s behavior. Manson, when not throwing LSD-fueled orgies at Wilson’s house, seemed to be on the edge of violence. At one point he even brandished a knife to threaten a studio engineer over a minor recording disagreement. Wilson finally kicked Manson and the Family out of his pad, so Manson packed everybody back into the bus and they moved to Spahn Ranch, a working ranch often used as a set for Hollywood Westerns. At that point in time, it was a ramshackle shell of its former self, but its owner, eighty-year-old George Spahn, let the Manson Family live there in exchange for work and sexual favors. They also spent time at two other ranches, the Myers Ranch and Barker Ranch, both in Death Valley.

			At these ranches, sex and drugs continued to be major tenets of the Family’s theology, and Manson gave long sermons about a coming apocalyptic race war in which Black people would rise up against whites and the country would be destroyed. Manson envisioned the Family hiding out until it was all over, at which point he would rise up as the country’s messiah. He believed the clues to this race war were all in the Beatles’ recently released White Album, and especially the song “Helter Skelter.” The Manson Family at its peak numbered around one hundred members. Of those, about a dozen would become infamous—because then came the massacre.

			Around midnight on August 9, 1969, Manson sent a small group of followers to a house at 10050 Cielo Drive in the Hollywood Hills. That group consisted of Susan Atkins, Tex Watson, Patricia Krenwinkel, and Linda Kasabian. Turns out, it was the home of Melcher, the record producer who had lost interest in Manson. However, six months earlier, Melcher had moved out; he was renting the place to Roman Polanski and his wife, twenty-six-year-old actress Sharon Tate. Polanski was away in London filming The Day of the Dolphin, but Tate was home since she was eight and a half months pregnant. She was having a small get-together. Thirty-five-year-old Jay Sebring, a friend of hers who was also an ex-boyfriend, was there; he was a hairstylist with a client roster that included Paul Newman, Steve McQueen, and Warren Beatty. Also in attendance were thirty-two-year-old aspiring screenwriter Wojciech Frykowski and his girlfriend, twenty-six-year-old Abigail Folger, who was part of the Folger coffee dynasty.

			Manson instructed his followers to do their worst. However, the first victim wasn’t even there for the get-together; he was an eighteen-year-old named Stephen Parent, who was just there to meet an acquaintance in the guesthouse on the property. The Family shot him dead in his car as he was trying to pull out of the driveway. But his fate was almost merciful compared to that of the others.

			By the end of the massacre, Tate, Sebring, Frykowski, and Folger were all dead. Blood was everywhere. Tate had been stabbed sixteen times, her body hung from a rafter. Atkins would later boast that she had tasted her blood and, had she had more time, would have cut the child from her stomach. Sebring hung from the rafter with her, after having been stabbed seven times. He had also been shot. Frykowski had been beaten with a blunt object, stabbed fifty-one times, and shot twice. Folger made it out onto the front lawn of the house before succumbing to her wounds. She had been stabbed twenty-eight times. On the front door, Atkins wrote “Pig” in Tate’s blood.

			But the Family believed even more blood needed to be spilled in service of Charles Manson. The next night (technically the evening of that same morning), the same members entered a different house, this time accompanied by Leslie Van Houten and Charles Manson himself. Unlike the Melcher house, they seemed to pick this one at random: 3301 Waverly Drive, eleven miles from Melcher’s house on Cielo Drive. The house belonged to forty-four-year-old Leno LaBianca and his wife, thirty-eight-year-old Rosemary, who were also the owners of a chain of grocery stores in Los Angeles. This time, Manson infiltrated the home with his followers, but stayed only long enough to tie up the couple, leaving the dirty work to his disciples. Leno was stabbed twelve times with a bayonet and fourteen times with a carving fork. The word War was cut into his stomach. Rosemary was stabbed forty-one times. Manson’s followers painted words on the walls in Leno’s blood: Rise, Death to Pigs, and Healter [sic] Skelter.

			Those two horrific nights of violent bloodshed went unsolved for months. The two cases weren’t even considered connected until much later, when Manson and some of his followers were jailed for auto theft and Atkins bragged to her cellmates about the killings. The police rounded up the remaining suspects who weren’t currently incarcerated, and on June 15, 1970, the trial kicked off.

			It went on for about nine months, and throughout it all, many of Manson’s followers stayed loyal. They chanted and blocked the courthouse doors. When he shaved his head, they did the same. When he cut an X into his forehead, so did they. Some were laughing as they were brought to trial. At one point one of the defense attorneys disappeared and was never seen again. Some say he was a victim of the Family.

			The prosecution’s story was basically that Manson was batshit crazy and that, through the murders, he had decided to jump-start the race war he had been predicting. One of their key witnesses was Linda Kasabian, who had been present on both nights of bloodshed, but had played the role of lookout and didn’t enter the houses or directly participate in the murders.

			Everybody involved in the August 9 bloodbath, including Manson, was found guilty, except for Kasabian, who had been granted immunity for her testimony. They were all given death sentences, which were changed to life in prison the following year, when California abolished capital punishment.

			Eventually, it came out that the Tate-LaBianca massacres weren’t the Family’s first or last forays into murder. They had also killed a musician named Gary Hinman in a similar way (multiple stabbings, phrases painted in blood on the walls), either because they were robbing him or because they were exacting revenge over a drug deal. They even painted a bloody paw print on the wall to steer suspicion toward the Black Panthers, whom Manson had reason to fear after he had shot and killed someone whom he believed to be one of their members during a previous altercation over drugs. In a separate instance, they also killed Donald “Shorty” Shea, an ex-Hollywood stuntman who was working at the Spahn Ranch, possibly because he was trying to get the Family kicked off the property. Those two murders were proven, but a dozen other people have also been postulated as being victims of the Manson Family. These murders have presented, some researchers believe, an alternative or additive motive for the Hollywood Hills killings—that Manson wanted to both obfuscate those earlier crimes with more crimes and make sure that everybody in his inner circle had blood on their hands and therefore couldn’t turn him in to the authorities.

			Over the decades, the Manson Family has regularly returned to the headlines. Not long after the trial, a small group of Family members tried and failed to rob a gun shop, allegedly with the goal of hijacking a plane to hold hostage until Manson’s release. Another member tried to assassinate President Gerald R. Ford, but her gun jammed. But mostly they reenter the news whenever one of the Family is up for parole or dies in prison. To date, the only parolee for the Tate-LaBianca murders is Leslie Van Houten, and that just happened in 2023. Susan Atkins died in prison in 2009, of brain cancer. As of the writing of this book, Patricia Krenwinkle is still alive and holds the unenviable record for longest-serving prisoner in California history. Tex Watson is still serving time. Of the three members convicted separately of the Hinman and Shea killings—Bruce Davis, Bob Beausoleil, and Clem Grogan—Davis and Beausoleil are still in jail, while Grogan was paroled in 1985. Linda Kasabian died in 2023 at the age of seventy-three. Manson himself died in 2017 at age eighty-three, after forty-eight years in prison. He was interviewed regularly, ranting incoherently, the X on his forehead long ago turned into a swastika.

			August 9, 1969, was a bloody day, a bloody blot on the American timeline, a bloody gravestone on the 1960s, and a bloody wound that to this day we still pick at—though not so much because of Charles Manson. Crazy, power-mad people do crazy, power-mad things. We obsess over this story because of his followers, some of whom, arguably, turned out worse than Manson himself. According to CNN, Susan Atkins explained their motivations in 1969, soon after committing the horrid mutilations and murders: “Because we wanted to do a crime that would shock the world, that the world would have to stand up and take notice.” But after spending her first seven years in jail, she had a different perspective. In 1976 she told Sacramento TV news reporter Stan Atkinson that her crimes were a result of a combination of long-term exposure to LSD and other drugs and Manson’s influence: “I lost control of myself behind drugs and a process of deprogramming.” In 2002, when journalist Diane Sawyer asked, “The girl who was smiling in the courtroom, those eerie smiles, was that a sane person?” Atkins answered, “No,” but could only elaborate with, “It’s really difficult to go back to that.”

			The sad irony is that while most of Manson’s followers originally joined his Family for, among other reasons, protection, in the end it was the country that needed to be protected from them.

		

	
		
			
				
				
					[image: THE SEARCH FOR PURPOSE “The martyr is of one mind, one heart, one soul, one spirit, one purpose, and will not quit until he’s made it! That’s the martyr! There are no neutrals: The neutral is a liar and a hypocrite! There are only martyrs or traitors! Which are you?” —“Moses” David Berg, Children of God]
				

			

		

	
		
			
				
				We all struggle with the thoughts: What am I doing with my life? Why am I here? Isn’t there something more worthy that I could be doing? We all want to belong to something bigger, to contribute to something lasting and important, to direct our actions on this earth in a way that matters. Many cults promise not just a sense of purpose, but a grand sense of purpose, and in a conveniently simple, premade package. Sometimes that purpose is to save the world. Or to remake society. And all you have to do to achieve that purpose is join…and sometimes poison a town or start a war with the world or give up your children to strangers or commit murder-suicide.
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			Children of God
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			Apostles of Abuse

			Always be suspicious when an organization rebrands. And be doubly suspicious if that organization is religious in nature. And if that organization is religious in nature and rebrands itself half a dozen times over the course of its existence? Then you have the Children of God, which has changed its name so often to escape its controversial past that I barely know what to call it.

			The group was started in 1968 in Huntington Beach, California, as the innocuously named Teens for Christ, by an itinerant minister named David Brandt Berg. He was part of the Jesus People, in which hippie idealism and Christian charity intersected and merged into a laid-back, acoustic-strumming movement that fit in with the countercultural crowd, despite being evangelical in nature. Soon after, to appeal to a wider audience, Berg changed the name of his group to Children of God. He quickly gathered a following of about fifty disciples, and they hit the road. Daniel Walsh, a former member of the group, told the Los Angeles Times in 1993, “We traveled around like gypsies, living in trucks and campers, stopping at anti-war rallies and the Chicago Seven trial.” At these events, they would dress in red sackcloth, smear ashes on their faces, and strike the ground with long staffs while calling out, “Woe!”

			The next two decades were extremely successful for Berg and the Children of God. They continued their peripatetic lifestyle, traveling across the country and expanding the flock to some 10,000 members who were looking for a sense of purpose. For some, the Children of God lifestyle was exciting and fulfilled the quest for a higher sense of spiritual purpose that was prevalent in the counterculture at the time. So many (flower) children of the sixties were incredibly idealistic and energetic, believing they were on the cusp of a newer, better era—and Berg gave them somewhere to direct those energies. But it wasn’t as “peace and love” as it sounds. In 2016, former member Jerry Golland told the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation that the Children of God had “scraped me off the street” and that they were specifically recruiting those, like himself, who were susceptible to indoctrination. “We’d learn to spot, you know, those eyes, that person, there is a vulnerable person. We called them sheep.”

			Despite their hippie veneer, in many ways the Children of God have a lot in common with evangelical or fundamentalist Christianity. They believe the Bible is the inspired Word of God, that the Genesis account of creation is literal, that salvation comes through the sacrifice of Christ, that prayer has the power to work miracles, and that the end times are not going to be that great for unbelievers. One of the ways that the Children of God differed from other evangelical groups is that they leaned hard on the coming apocalypse, with Berg calling himself Moses David and prophesying its imminence (he once claimed that Comet Kohoutek, which was discovered in 1973, was the starting pistol for the end times). The Children of God’s beliefs differed from traditional Christianity in an even more major way, but I’ll get to that in a minute.

			Still, the group was Christian enough to appeal to the masses, especially in the early days. However, the signs that the Children of God were an actual cult were also there early on. In addition to Berg calling himself a prophet and centering the group on himself, he also set up his followers in communes. The communes cloistered the followers in remote areas. Members were assigned Biblical names and forced to give all their money and belongings to the organization. They weren’t allowed outside jobs. Berg’s justification for this was that Christians were meant to be apart from the world, and that with the end of the world looming, possessions were unnecessary. He called the outside world the “System” and those who were a part of it “Systemites.” At its peak, the Children of God had over a thousand communes in more than a hundred countries, which Berg established by sending out his most faithful as missionaries.

			In addition to trying to win converts, the cult followers spent their days praying and singing (some of their songs were written by Jeremy Spencer, a founding member of Fleetwood Mac who left the band in 1971 for the Children of God). They also read the Bible and the thousands of newsletters that Berg wrote, called “Mo Letters.” These newsletters kept the scattered communes cohesive in their doctrines and allowed Berg’s influence to pervade beyond the bounds of geography.

			So far, it doesn’t sound too shocking, does it? But the monstrous doctrine, the one that I’ve been putting off writing about, the one that had Children of God members fleeing countries in fear of the law, involved Berg’s teachings around sex. He took the hippie ideal of free love and drastically expanded and twisted the definition (the free love movement initially sought to minimize state and religious interference in personal relationships). To put it in Berg’s own words from a 1980 Mo Letter, “There’s nothing in the world at all wrong with sex as long as it’s practiced in love…no matter who (it’s with) or what age or what relative or what manner!”

			That’s right. Pedophilia and incest were endorsed, with an exclamation point.

			Berg’s rationale went something like this: God is love. Sex is an expression of love. God made us all sexual beings. Ergo, everybody should have sex to spread God’s love. That includes children with children, children with adults, and even children with parents. In fact, there were often no recognized family units within the communes. Every adult was an “aunt” or an “uncle” and every child a “cousin.” Polygamy was common. In 2021, one ex-member named Sharen Seitz told the Daily Mail, “I didn’t know who my parents were for a long time.”

			Berg created tracts and pamphlets that vividly illustrated these beliefs about sex under titles and headlines like “The Devil Hates Sex! But God Loves It!” and “Sex with Grandmother!” Berg even encouraged literal sex with Jesus. In a twist on bridal theology (the idea that communion with Jesus is a marriage), masturbation was seen as a mini worship service/hook-up session with the Son of God. In fact, men were taught that when they indulged, they should think of themselves as women, because Jesus isn’t gay. Some members even claimed that these masturbation sessions felt like actual sex with an invisible being. Berg’s ideas about sex were so weird that they often overshadowed his similarly unappealing antisemitic and racist ideas.

			By the early 1970s, Berg faced increasing scrutiny from the government for a host of crimes—everything from rape to incest to kidnapping to tax evasion—so he fled the United States and never returned, instead living in various (often undisclosed) locations from which he continued to write Mo Letters and run the organization.

			His teachings on sex had a similarly disturbing corollary: To turn down sex with someone was considered tantamount to turning down God’s love or refusing to share God’s love, which meant that everyone in the cult lost autonomy over their bodies. Sex was considered a mandatory service to God. The Children of God even used sex as an evangelical tool. In 1976, Berg introduced a new strategy he called “Flirty Fishing.” Women members would go out and seduce men into the cult, or at least convince them to donate to it. One of the Children of God publications featured an illustration of a mermaid with a hook through her naked abdomen, her tail suggestively inserted between the legs of a naked man for whom she was bait. The caption read, “Hooker for Jesus!” The Los Angeles Times reported in 1993 that the Children of God were pressured to leave Tenerife in the Canary Islands because they were bogarting the business of the local sex workers.

			However, according to Berg, the strategy was wildly successful and added 19,000 members to the Children of God and some 100,000 converts to Jesus in general. In one of his Mo Letters, Berg claimed that compared to conventional soul-winning methods, such as a Billy Graham crusade, “We spent one-sixth the time per soul!”

			The practice of Flirty Fishing caused one family in particular to leave the cult: the Phoenix family, which included two young boys who would grow up to become famous actors, River and Joaquin. They were living in a commune in Venezuela at the time they received the directive, and quickly left via cargo ship for Miami. Their mother told the New York Times in 1989 that “it took several years to get over our pain and loneliness” after they left the Children of God.

			The Phoenix family weren’t the Children of God’s only Hollywood connection. Rose McGowan, star of the movie Scream and the television show Charmed, recounted to People in 2018 her family’s dead-of-night flight from the Children of God to protect her and her siblings from abuse, which included running through a cornfield in a thunderstorm and finding shelter in an old house to hide from pursuing cult members.

			Other members did not have such immediately traumatic experiences with the cult, or at least didn’t know they were experiencing trauma. For instance, Joyanne Treadwell, one of Berg’s granddaughters, after going into detail to the Los Angeles Times in 1993 about the horrors of being abused, admitted, “The other side of the coin is, I had fun. I miss it sometimes. We traveled all over the world; we had chauffeurs. And I enjoyed (the sex). At the time, I didn’t know I was abused. I was raised that way.” Others, who had no experience with abuse in the cult, found the focus on missionary work fulfilling and themselves happy. Michael Young, a former member, told the Guardian in 2017, “I was spiritual in a way that was kind of very obsessive and very determined.”

			By the end of the 1970s, a large-enough portion of the Children of God had left for the same reasons as the Phoenix and McGowan families that Berg reorganized and rebranded the organization as the Family of Love. A few years later they shortened the name to “The Family” to take some of the emphasis off their questionable “love” practices. They also released internal and external statements denying any wrongdoing as an organization, framing the pedophilia and incest as an individual problem and not an institutional one. After one of their members was involved in a murder-suicide in 2005, Claire Borowik, a spokeswoman for the organization, explained:

			
				Due to the fact that our current zero tolerance policy regarding sexual interaction between adults and underage minors was not clearly stated in our literature published before 1986, we came to the realization that during a transitional stage of our movement, from 1978 until 1986, there were cases when some minors were subject to sexually inappropriate advances. This should not have happened. In hindsight, it became clear that potential problems arising from our liberal stance towards sexuality should have been anticipated and stringent rules established earlier on. This was corrected officially in 1986, when any contact between an adult and minor (any person under 21 years of age) was declared an excommunicable offense.

			

			As a result of the rebranding, and by focusing on the political issues uniting Christians throughout the late 1980s and the 1990s—opposition to abortion, drugs, and homosexuality, for instance—the Family was able to rehabilitate its image. In December 1992, a group of children from the Family even sang for First Lady Barbara Bush at the White House.

			In 1994, Berg died in Portugal at the age of seventy-five, and his wife, Karen Zerby, took over the organization. Within a decade, it went through another rebranding as the Family International. However, by this time the generation raised in the organization was escaping and telling their horror stories via books and media appearances. And many of these accounts came from the offspring of Berg himself.

			Deborah Davis, one of Berg’s children, released an autobiography in 1984 called The Children of God: The Inside Story. In it, she wrote of her father, “I could easily fill this book with examples of his depraved mind, and how he treats both adults and children like objects on a game board, to be moved around, used, abused, and exploited for the sake of his personal pleasure and the ‘cause.’ ”

			In 1993, an ex-member named Ricky Dupuy appeared on Larry King Live to debate Children of God leaders and discuss the abuses he witnessed and was compelled to perform. Dupuy joined the Children of God in 1969, at age seventeen, and left in 1992. He took his life in 1996. According to SFGate, his last journal entry read, “What have I done with my life? Wasted it in the insanity of some maniacal bunch of pathological deviates…. Some things are worse than death, and my continued existence in this unspeakable state is one of them.”

			In 2018, member Alexander Watt was convicted of four charges of sexually abusing his daughter and another child while in the Children of God during the 1980s. It was the first conviction for abuse of a member of the organization. Verity, his daughter, told BBC News, “There was sexual abuse for myself from the age of four, not just from my dad who got convicted, but from various other members of the cult.”

			Faith Jones, Berg’s granddaughter, escaped the cult at age twenty-three and in 2021 released a memoir, Sex Cult Nun, which, besides being the best title of any memoir ever, also summed up her experience in the Children of God. She told the New York Post, “I grew up like a little nun, except there was a lot of sex involved!” She outed many of the more insidious practices of the group based on her own experience. Her first coloring books were pornographic; she spent nights pretending to sleep while her mother Flirty Fished a man in the same room; and there were “uncles” who showed her how to pleasure men, all before the age of ten.

			And then there was Ricky Rodriguez, one of the sons of David Berg. He grew up famous within the organization for being the subject of a book by Berg called The Story of Davidito (Davidito was Berg’s nickname for him). The large book included photos of Rodriguez as a young child in intimate situations with his mother and other adult women. He eventually left the cult. On January 8, 2005, at age twenty-nine, he murdered Angela Smith, one of his former nannies in the cult, and then shot himself. This is the incident that prompted the Family International to release the statement about their stance toward sex with minors.

			Since then, the Family International has attempted to loosen its restrictions regarding involvement with the System and downplay belief in the imminent apocalypse to try to garner more followers, but that strategy mostly just left current followers bewildered and without identity. Today, the organization still exists, although, according to its website, it is now an “online Christian network of 1,450 members.” It is still being led by Karen Zerby, along with her husband, Steve Kelly.

			And that’s all it is. Until it rebrands again.
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			Rajneesh Movement
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			Don’t Eat the Salad

			What do you imagine a ranch in Oregon looks like? Lots of dusty land filled with cows and horses, rustic buildings and barns, weathered cowboys in boots, hats, and blue jeans? How about ochre-robed, sex-obsessed hippies wearing portraits around their necks of a balding Indian man with a flowing beard? Welcome to Rancho Rajneesh, also known as Rajneeshpuram, population 2,000—or at least it was, before residents of that ranch launched the largest bioterrorism attack in American history, and maybe the only one in the world where salad bars were the weapon.

			This Oregon story starts in India, when an academic named Mohan Chandra Rajneesh shed his elbow patches for a robe to become a guru named Bhagwan Shree Rajneesh. In a country obsessed with spiritual enlightenment, Rajneesh’s path to transcendence was different. Like most cult leaders, he cherry-picked his ideas from various other religions and movements and then smooshed them together in a smooth-sounding package delivered with compelling oratory skills. In his case, the recipe for the Rajneesh Movement featured plenty of Eastern mysticism, as expected, but also heaping helpings of Western psychology and the magic ingredient: love. Free love.

			Born in 1931, Rajneesh found his voice as a philosophy professor at Jabalpur University, where he began lecturing about his own philosophies and gathered a following throughout the 1960s and 1970s. His teachings contained no real dogma and often changed to fit the situation. He once described his ideals as “religionless religion.” Rajneesh saw marriage as bondage, especially for women. Childbearing was generally discouraged due to his beliefs about overpopulation, but also due to his views on sex—mainly, that it was a path to enlightenment by itself, no procreation necessary. Moneymaking was likewise considered a path to enlightenment, so no vows of chastity or poverty in his group. Rajneesh also described his beliefs with the concept of “Zorba the Buddha,” merging the calm spirituality of the Buddha with the passionate hedonism of the main character in both the 1946 book and 1964 film called Zorba the Greek. Of the two, Rajneesh definitely put the emphasis on Zorba. His message attracted many Westerners who were in the throes of a countercultural revolution that had them looking to the East for purpose (and drugs), especially wealthy people who wanted both enlightenment and large stock portfolios. His message also resonated with women, who were tired of the binary of housewife or careerist and wanted a higher purpose. According to a 2018 article in The Conversation, Rajneesh maintained, “It is for the betterment of both man and woman that the woman should be given every freedom and equal opportunity for her individuality.”

			Rajneesh established an ashram in Poona in the mid-1970s, and by the end of that decade had amassed some 100,000 sannyasins (disciples) who received new names when they joined and sometimes referred to themselves as Rajneeshees. They wore traditional wooden-bead necklaces called mala, dangling from which were pictures of Rajneesh. They also wore red or orange robes—when they were wearing anything at all. A 1979 documentary on the cult called Ashram in Poona shows naked orgiastic rituals and dancing full of wailing and screaming (so—pretty much just an orgy).

			Then the Bhagwan decided to come to the Land of Opportunity itself, partially because he dug America’s capitalism, but mostly because he was forced out of India. The government was starting to scrutinize the group and was close to exposing the smuggling and tax fraud they were committing.

			In 1981, the Rajneesh Movement bought the 64,000-acre Big Muddy Ranch in Oregon, which was situated in a remote area some twenty miles from the tiny town of Antelope (population: 40). Here they created the utopia of Rajneeshpuram to unite all the adherents of Rajneesh’s teachings on free love, wealth accumulation, and non-family-based community, as well as to put those loose ideas into more concrete practice. From there, the movement broke a lot of national records. For instance, one of the largest wiretapping operations in history, the largest immigration fraud ever recorded, and, as mentioned, the first bioterrorism attack in American history. They got close to the record for most Rolls-Royces owned by an individual, too.

			Rajneeshpuram was, to outward appearances, extremely successful. At its peak, some 2,000 sannyasins called it home. The site had its own medical facilities, dance halls, restaurants, a mechanic shop, and even a private airport and police force. The Rajneeshees also ran businesses in nearby cities. In Portland, they owned the Zorba the Buddha Nightclub and Restaurant, the Zorba the Buddha Bakery, and the Hotel Rajneesh. The organization pulled in at least $120 million in the four years it operated—and Rajneesh loved to flaunt it. He would wear expensive watches (according to the Oregonian, he pressured his underlings to obtain for him a $1 million watch) and drive one of his ninety-three Rolls-Royces across the ranch while sannyasins lined the road, clapping and laying flowers on its hood.

			But a darker side to Rajneeshpuram soon became apparent. The ranch put the anti-family ethos of its founder into practice. Families were split up, and children were housed together, away from their parents, left to self-educate, and given jobs. Noa Maxwell (Rajneeshee name: Swami Deva Rupam), who was a child during his time in Rajneeshpuram, told the Guardian in 2018, “We had been a tight, 70s middle-class family, and within a very short period that family unit was ripped up.”

			Rajneeshpuram was a self-contained world. Of course, that was part of the problem. Dara Burrows (Rajneeshee name: Ma Prem Dara), a sannyasin who joined Rajneesh in India along with her father, David (Rajneeshee name: Swami Das Anudas), and then followed the Bhagwan to Oregon, told HuffPost in 2018 that the movement “spread the illusion of us versus them, and how dangerous it was to leave the ranch…. I definitely experienced being brainwashed.” Noa Maxwell echoed Burrows’s sentiments in his Guardian interview: “They [outsiders] were the enemy. Stupid, conventional, conservative people…I thought unless you were a sannyasin…you would just be a kind of drone.”

			Not that there weren’t dangers to the sannyasins from outsiders. After all, they were an unconventional bunch doing unconventional, sexually taboo things, and were often the targets of prejudice and worse. In 1983, three pipe bombs were set off in room 405 of the 127-room Hotel Rajneesh in Portland. The room was destroyed, but the only injury was sustained by the bomber himself, Stephen Paster, who lost some fingers. No official motivation was ever ascribed to Paster, although he was part of a Muslim fundamentalist group and was also suspected of bombing Hindu and Vedanta religious sites in Seattle the following year, while on the run from the Hotel Rajneesh crime. He was eventually captured and served five years in prison.

			But to Rajneesh and his inner circle of lieutenants, it was the county itself that posed the real danger. After all, the Rajneesh Movement was building a city on land that was legally only zoned as a ranch, and it became apparent pretty quickly that the movement was arranging fraudulent marriages to import more sannyasins from India to swell their ranks.

			By 1984, enough pressure was being applied by county officials that Rajneesh realized that the only way to alleviate it was to take over the county. That meant getting into politics. After trying to get various Rajneeshees elected to committees and boards the regular way and failing, Rajneesh’s personal assistant, Sheela Patel (Rajneeshee name: Ma Ananda Sheela), resorted to more extreme methods.

			Sheela had joined the Rajneesh Movement while it was still based in India, and by the early 1980s she had ascended through the organization to the point that she is sometimes portrayed as Rajneesh’s right-hand person and other times as his puppet master. She was the mastermind behind the establishment of Rajneeshpuram and was generally known to be ruthless when chasing her aims. For instance, to sway county elections, she came up with a plan to bus hundreds of homeless people to Rajneeshpuram, where they were signed up to vote. That plan went awry when she and her team of trusted conspirators realized that the mental health issues and general intractability of these unfortunates didn’t predispose them to be passive pawns. After that, the Rajneeshees dropped the homeless voters off at various nearby cities that were unprepared for the sudden influx of the indigent.

			Sheela and her coconspirators also set fire to a county office as a form of intimidation and installed a massive wiretap operation throughout the commune to monitor the communications of its residents, both as a matter of procedural paranoia and to gather valuable intel. They made plans to assassinate various government officials, including Charles Turner, the US attorney for Oregon, who was investigating the Rajneesh Movement for immigration fraud, as well as Dave Frohnmayer, the state attorney general. They tried to take out a county commissioner named James Comini, who had been critical of their organization, by attempting to poison him as he recovered in a hospital after ear surgery.

			Sheela and her lackeys even targeted fellow sannyasins, including Rajneesh’s doctor, Swami Devaraj, and his caretaker, Ma Yoga Vivek, both of whom Sheela for unknown reasons had deemed threats to Rajneesh’s life. She and her group went as far as gathering guns and filling hypodermic needles with mixtures of potassium and adrenaline. They even staked out offices and homes. Fortunately, none of those plans ever succeeded, due to a variety of minor setbacks that might indicate the group didn’t have the stomach to actually kill anybody.

			But they had no problem making people violently ill. Sheela used salmonella bacteria as her weapon, dosing water glasses and courtroom bathroom fixtures with it and making a few people extremely sick. But then she escalated beyond individual hits, and she and her small group of ride-or-die Rajneeshees started taking the brown vials of liquid and infecting grocery store produce and restaurant salad bars in the nearby town of The Dalles. More than seven hundred individuals got sick from the bioterrorist attack. Sheela’s team also looked into infecting the water supply, and, depending on who’s telling the story, the salad bar attack was either a dry run for that plan or a Plan B, since a water supply attack would be an extremely complicated endeavor.

			The attack was uncovered relatively quickly. Hundreds of people in a small town suddenly contracting salmonella poisoning isn’t exactly subtle. When the heat came for Rajneeshpuram, Sheela and others absconded to Europe while Rajneesh publicly denounced her as a criminal. Whether she operated independently, at his command, or just with an adequate level of plausible deniability is unknown.

			What is known is that these crimes caused the downfall of the utopia. Most of the conspirators, including Sheela, were convicted of various combinations of attempted murder, assault, arson, and wiretapping, and spent a few years in prison. Rajneesh himself was convicted of immigration fraud. He cut a deal in 1986 and spent the next year being refused entry into or getting kicked out of a dozen countries until he finally returned to Pune, India. He changed his name to Osho, denounced the United States, and continued successfully guru-ing, gathering a following and writing books until his health deteriorated for unknown reasons (he claimed he had been poisoned by the US government). He died in 1990 at age fifty-nine.

			Still, many sannyasins are able to separate the criminal acts of a few leaders from the culture and goals of the movement as a whole and look back on their time at Rajneeshpuram with fondness. The New York magazine site The Cut interviewed a few after the 2018 release of a Netflix documentary on the cult called Wild Wild Country. One interviewee who still uses her Rajneeshee name, Ma Ananda Sarita, said, “It was a super positive time of my life. We took a desert and we completely transformed it…. People were working 16-hour days but always singing, dancing, hugging, laughing, and having love affairs. It was a very vibrant and alive place and very joyful.” Another interviewee, Rashid Maxwell, stated, “I could go on forever about how important that experience was for me. I’m eighty and I just feel so happy, so rich, so free, so my life is so joyous.”

			Today, the cult still exists in various forms, although mostly as a trademark and copyright to be fought over, as Rajneesh’s teachings are still popular. As for Rajneeshpuram/Rancho Rajneesh, it’s now the Washington Family Ranch, a large Christian youth camp—so, arguably, still the home of plenty of indoctrination, just hopefully without all the wiretapping and salmonella poisoning.
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			Aum Shinrikyo
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			From Acupuncture to Armageddon

			Sure, every other cult believes worldwide apocalypse is just around the corner. That urgency is what helps drive rapid conversion and unquestioned obedience. But how many cults try to bring about the end of days themselves—and in ways that would make a James Bond supervillain look like a mere schoolyard bully? Let me introduce you to Shoko Asahara, leader of the cult Aum Shinrikyo, who started out as an acupuncturist and ended up being executed for mass murder and bioterrorism.

			Asahara was born as Chizuo Matumoto in 1955 in an isolated area of southern Japan. He was mostly blind, and attended a school for the blind. After he graduated, he moved to Tokyo, got married, and started a family. He would eventually father six children. He also opened a Chinese medicine shop, from which he sold herbs and offered acupuncture to support that growing family. He soon branched out into practicing and teaching yoga and became interested in Buddhism, Hinduism, the teachings of Christ, and the prophecies of Nostradamus. Around this time, he went to the Himalayas on a spiritual pilgrimage and met the Dalai Lama. But somehow, without any apparent trigger, the yoga teacher went power mad.

			In 1984, he started an organization called Aum Shinrikyo (“Ultimate Truth”), a phrase which he saw as synonymous with his own person. He professed to be able to levitate and predicted that World War III would occur sometime in the late 1990s, bringing about a nuclear Armageddon that would decimate the planet. Only his followers would survive, of course. He saw himself as a new messiah and a new Buddha, who, besides helping people survive the coming nuclear blasts, could grant health and spiritual well-being in their daily lives—and also the secret of levitation. Converts wore electrical caps to sync their brain waves with his. They paid to drink his blood and his bathwater, as well as teas steeped with his hair. Hair was one of Asahara’s trademarks—he always wore his dark hair and beard long and thick, and it encircled his face like a lion’s mane. It was even rumored that he would save a single strand of pubic hair from each of his sexual conquests within the cult. But what kind of person would follow a man like that?

			Well, mostly young professionals who were burnt out by the highly competitive, pressure-intense work culture of Japan, in which failure was considered humiliating and success meant a rigidly proscribed life path full of even more pressure. Asahara’s story appealed to these educated men and women who wanted to pursue a more meaningful and spiritual purpose. And, in a country with two giant atomic scars on its landscape and collective psyche, it’s easy to see why Asahara’s predictions of a nuclear holocaust weren’t considered so outlandish.

			One of these young professionals was Hiroyuki Miyaguchi, who joined Aum after failing to graduate college. He was looking for a new purpose beyond the career as a systems engineer he had previously pursued. He first found Asahara’s books and eventually joined the community. Miyaguchi told the Japan Times in 2004, “I was desperate for something absolute in the area of relative and objective thinking, and Asahara’s unusual confidence in his teachings, which there was no way to scientifically prove (correct) anyway, gradually captured my heart.” Miyaguchi also enjoyed the day-to-day life of living and working in the organization, saying: “It was more than a permanent vacation, in the sense that we had full aspirations for a common goal (of enlightenment) and were actually trying hard to achieve that goal.”

			Over the next few years, Asahara grew both his ranks and his financial empire. He opened yoga training centers, computer shops, restaurants, and other entrepreneurial ventures, in addition to accepting the donated wealth of his followers. He became involved in illicit activities as well, including manufacturing drugs for the Yakuza—the Japanese mafia. By 1989, Aum tallied 4,000 members, and the Japanese government granted it status as an official religion, a designation that gave Aum various legal and tax protections. That official seal of legitimacy, plus nabbing some solid media opportunities with TV and magazines along the way, helped quickly boost the number of members in the organization to 10,000 in Japan alone. The group opened a national headquarters in Kamikuishiki, at the foot of Mount Fuji, which consisted of a complex of buildings, some of which were built for sinister purposes that wouldn’t be revealed until it was too late.

			Asahara went international, setting up centers in Russia, the United States, Germany, and a few other countries, growing the organization to anywhere from 20,000 to 50,000 members. Its net worth grew, as well. By 1995, the organization was worth more than $1 billion. However, despite all that cash and support, when Aum tried to get twenty-five of its members, including Asahara, elected to Japan’s Diet (parliament), they failed completely.

			It was around that time that the group began its murder spree. In 1988, one of Asahara’s followers died during a thermotherapy ritual in which members took baths in scalding water. It was an accident, but Asahara, fearing legal and financial consequences, told his followers to burn the body and get rid of it. The man’s best friend, who was also in Aum, grew disillusioned with the cult and wanted to leave. Fearing he would tell the authorities about the death of his friend, Asahara had him killed.

			The same year that Aum Shinrikyo was awarded their religious designation, a lawyer named Tsutsumi Sakamoto, who was preparing to file a civil lawsuit against Aum on behalf of the families of some of the cult members, was killed by Aum, along with his wife and one-year-old son. Cult members snuck into the Sakamoto residence, injected them all with potassium chloride, and then strangled them and disposed of their bodies. But those murders wouldn’t be uncovered for at least five years—not until the group committed a deadlier crime, one that subjected their past actions to long-overdue scrutiny.

			Most cult leaders await the day of the apocalypse with no Plan B, and then have to scramble either geographically or theologically to evade their fallibility. Not Asahara—he wanted to make sure his predicted apocalypse happened. But he didn’t just order his followers to comply with his plans like some mob godfather; he manipulated them by perverting the Buddhist concept of phowa, which, roughly explained, means to direct your consciousness while you are dying in a way that helps you make a better transition. Asahara basically redefined phowa as a type of assassination that would help its victims karmically in the long run, but he also used the term in a genocidal sense, telling his followers that they had to end the world so that it could reform into a better place afterward.

			But maybe Asahara didn’t need try so hard to rationalize his ideas. If you can talk somebody into drinking your bathwater, you can probably talk that same person into doing just about anything—even mass murder. Hiroyuki Nagaoka, the father of one of the cult members, told the Japan Times in 2015, “Aum turned our children into mindless people without a sense of their own free will. They became unable to determine good from bad and that is why Aum members didn’t think twice about murder. They became Asahara’s puppets.” His son, who withheld his name from the paper, explained it a little differently, saying: “The bond between Aum members was very strong because we thought we were connecting on a spiritual level. We believed we are connected in our past lives as well as the future through reincarnation.”

			Aum’s ranks were full of young scientists and engineers, and his bank accounts were flush, so he started trying to both buy and develop weapons of mass destruction to bring on Armageddon. That was also what his worldwide expansions were about—they were less missionary endeavors and more part of Asahara’s efforts toward developing a world-ending weapon. Aum’s earliest investigations into potential weaponry make them sound like super villains in a comic book. They visited the archives of Nikola Tesla in Serbia to learn about earthquake-making technology, researched plasma guns that could incinerate people instantly, and looked into giant mirrors that could turn the sun’s rays into deadly lasers. Asahara even tried to purchase nuclear arms in Russia and bought land in Australia to mine uranium, but was unsuccessful on both counts.

			Inspired by some of Saddam Hussein’s much more plausible tactics in the Persian Gulf War that was currently raging, he turned to biowarfare as the most achievable method of ending the human race. But Aum’s early attempts at creating bioweapons were almost comical. They experimented with botulinum toxin, one of the most poisonous substances on the planet (and also what Botox is made from). They tried to cultivate the weapon by harvesting soil that was known to be contaminated with the C. botulinum strain. After processing it (and really stretching the definition of process), they were left with tanks of a thick, yellow substance…that wasn’t potent enough to kill even the test mice. In fact, one of the cult members apparently fell into a vat of the stuff, but suffered no harm whatsoever.

			Still, they had all this sloppily made muck on their hands, so they tried to disperse it. They fitted trucks with spraying mechanisms and doused the area around a few choice locations—two US naval bases, an airport, the Imperial Palace, the headquarters of a rival religious group, and the Japanese Diet. Like the mice and that one dude who almost drowned in it, nobody was hurt. Embarrassingly for Aum, nobody even noticed the “terrorist attack.”

			Next, Aum tried B. anthracis, the bacteria that causes anthrax. This time, instead of trying to extract it from dirt, they were able use an inside contact to smuggle a viable sample out of a laboratory. Still, the cult’s process for purifying the bacteria was inept, if it existed at all, and when they sprayed it (this time in a residential area), only some birds and a couple of pets died. All the humans in the area did was complain about the smell and the gelatinous mess everywhere. The police gathered samples, but didn’t focus on the strange incident until much too late.

			Aum looked into other potential bioweapons, including cholera, Q fever, and Ebola, but those were all the wrong kinds of dead ends for the cult. Things stopped being so comical when Aum turned its attention to chemical weapons, which were easier for them to produce. They started using Venomous Agent X, or VX, for individual hits on their own dissidents and people who were critical of the organization. They would spray the highly toxic nerve agent in the faces of these victims or smear it on items that the victims would touch, like car door handles. They killed some twenty people in this manner.

			Then they discovered sarin gas. Sarin was invented by the Nazis and is extremely potent. Aum first used it as a weapon of mass death on the night of June 27, 1994, in the city of Matsumoto. They drove an outfitted truck to a residential neighborhood, where they used a remote-controlled system to release a cloud of the nerve agent. They picked this particular neighborhood because three judges who were about to rule against them in a property dispute lived there. Once the cloud enveloped the area, seven people died and five hundred ended up in the hospital.

			But the attack wasn’t traced back to Aum. Not for another year. A 1995 case study on the cult by the US Senate Government Affairs Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations found that the Japanese government had greatly underestimated the organization and was just not paying attention to what was a relatively obscure sect at the time. According to the case study, “A number of Japanese Aum experts interviewed by the Staff charged that their own government’s inability or unwillingness over the years to investigate the Aum led to the cult’s delusion of invincibility…. This immunity just emboldened the Aum to more outrageous conduct in their opinions.”

			On March 20, 1995, cult members committed their single deadliest and most infamous crime. They planted almost a dozen packages on five subway trains that were all headed to Kasumigaseki Station. Tokyo’s subway is one of the busiest in the world, and these packages were planted during rush hour. In addition, Kasumigaseki Station is a hub for Japanese government buildings and the police station. The packages were plastic bags filled with liquid sarin and wrapped inside newspapers. The cult members punctured the packages with the tips of umbrellas, releasing a flow of liquid that spread as a vapor, and then ran to the getaway cars that were awaiting them. By the end of the attack, thousands of people were lying all over the floor of the cars and the station, blood pouring from their faces.

			Thirteen people died and 5,000 were injured, some of whom suffered lifetime side effects from the sarin exposure. However, according to expert reports, had Aum been better at both creating and dispensing the agent, they could have killed tens of thousands.

			This time, it didn’t take long to determine who was at fault, and the days that followed were a chaos of both police and Aum activity. The authorities raided Aum’s headquarters, armed with canaries to test the air for safety, and uncovered their chemical weapons facilities. Meanwhile, Aum released hydrogen cyanide in the subway to bring about another massacre, but fortunately failed. The Yakuza assassinated the cult’s lead scientist, Dr. Hideo Murai. He had become a regular on media broadcasts denying the cult’s involvement in the attacks, and the Yakuza suspected he might reveal their deal with Aum. Eventually, the police arrested hundreds of members of Aum, including Asahara.

			Asahara’s trial took eight years, during which time he never apologized nor explained his motivations. He mostly rambled incoherently. In 2001, several Aum members plotted to bomb the Imperial Palace to free Asahara, but their plans were foiled. Finally, in 2004, Asahara was found guilty of crimes that led to the deaths of twenty-nine people and, along with a dozen others in his inner circle, was given the death penalty. Almost two hundred cult members were also convicted, although given lesser sentences. In July 2018, Asahara and his lieutenants were hanged.

			Since that time, Aum…has kept going, somehow. Today, it’s known as Aleph and includes only about 1,300 members. Still, those members have been tightly monitored by Japanese authorities, as well as by the families and victims of the cult, all to make sure attacks like the one on March 20, 1995, never happen again.
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			Fandom and Cultdom
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				Fandom often feels dangerously close to cultdom. The obsessive devotion many have to the Star Wars or Harry Potter franchises, or the New York Yankees or the Los Angeles Lakers—complete with the requisite monetary investment and cosplay in matching attire or sports jerseys—certainly has some overlap with cult-like behavior. However, the world of arts and entertainment has a specific use of the world cult—the cult classic, a piece of forgotten or disparaged media that is beloved by a niche group.

				The term cult classic is most often applied to movies. Perhaps that’s because film has an entire “so bad it’s good” category. Perhaps it’s because the success of a film is easy to gauge through box office numbers. Perhaps it’s because, for much of the medium’s existence, films could only be seen during brief runs in theaters, and even after home media and streaming, many niche films remain hard to find. Examples of notable cult classics include Freaks (1932), The Rocky Horror Picture Show (1975), Eraserhead (1977), and Showgirls (1995). Also, every film that John Waters directs.

				Sophie Collins, writing for the website Movieweb in 2023, defined cult classics as “movies that may be less successful financially or shunned by the mainstream. Nonetheless, they developed a fanbase that engages in things like repeat viewings, dialogue references, and audience participation.” You can see the parallels between cult classics and actual cults in this definition. Like religious cults, cult followings form around media that is rejected by the mainstream, and as a result, the devoted followers rally even harder around the object of their admiration.

				The Rocky Horror Picture Show is perhaps the ultimate cult classic. This musical–comedy–horror–science fiction film failed on release and was quicky pulled from theaters. Thereafter, it moved to college campuses and midnight movie showings. Eventually, the LGBTQ+ community discovered it, as well as interactive theater fans, who would dress up as the characters and sing and act along with the movie. Today, it has the longest theatrical run of any movie in history. Half a century after its debut, some theater somewhere is always playing it. It also became a Halloween staple, trotted out as seasonal viewing.

				And that’s where the term cult classic starts getting as cloudy as the term cult. Over time, The Rocky Horror Picture Show shifted from a cult classic to a mainstream hit. Can the same be said for mainstream religions like Christianity and Islam, which began as small groups of followers (an even dozen, in Jesus’s case) rallying around a prophet, before they attracted the billions of followers they enjoy today? Today, rather than dedicating themselves to Jesus and Mohammed, or even contemporary cult leaders, many people commit themselves to beloved films instead. At least a showing of Rocky Horror isn’t likely to end in terrorism or murder or suicide—the worst that’ll happen is you’ll lose your voice or get a blister from your stilettos.
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			Sullivan Institute
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			Going Nuclear on the Family

			You should always listen to your therapist—unless hidden behind that cardigan sweater and those low-perched spectacles is an insidious cult leader bent on fulfilling their own carnal desires and lust for power. Of all the cults in this book—the ones run by self-proclaimed messiahs, the ones run by underworld drug dealers, the ones run by deranged killers—there’s something about a cult run by a tyrannical therapist that sounds particularly terrifying. After all, cults are all about mind control and brainwashing and head games, and who could be more diabolically skilled in those methods than a therapist?

			That said, the leader of the Sullivan Institute was not actually a therapist—he just masqueraded as one for the perks. Saul B. Newton was born in 1906 in New Brunswick, Canada, with the surname Cohen. He attended the University of Wisconsin and then the University of Chicago, where he took classes in social work and became an ardent communist. In 1937, he volunteered to fight in the Spanish Civil War, where he spent almost two years before returning to the States, just in time for World War II, during which he served in the US Army. He was also a serial adulterer and an alcoholic—biographical tidbits that might seem petty to include in light of his larger crimes, but those traits would go on to become defining tenets of the Sullivan Institute, a psychoanalytic organization that would quickly devolve into an insidious and surprisingly metropolitan cult.

			When Newton married his fourth wife, psychotherapist Dr. Jane Pearce, he found a way to justify his drinking and philandering—not by claiming he was a reincarnated Jesus, as most cult leaders do, but through the science of psychiatry. In 1957, Newton and Pearce created the Sullivan Institute for Research in Psychoanalysis on the Upper West Side of Manhattan.

			The name was a reference to influential twentieth-century psychoanalyst Harry Stack Sullivan, whom Pearce had studied under before his death in 1949. Sullivan likely hoped he would leave a legacy in psychiatry, but he certainly could not have guessed that that legacy would be as the namesake of one of the most insidious cults New York City has ever welcomed into its boroughs.

			Sullivan pioneered the psychoanalytic idea that the most important influence on the individual when it comes to their mental health and self-actualization is their social network—their friends, basically. It was an interactional idea, versus classic Freudian psychoanalysis, which is focused mostly on inner conflicts and parental influence. Dr. Sullivan worked with those who suffered from schizophrenia and believed their condition could be improved, or even healed, in part by living together in groups.

			However, Pearce and Newton took those beliefs to an extreme. To them, Sullivan’s research on the benefits of communal living showed that the traditional focus on the nuclear family as the building block of society was the cause of all mental illness, and therefore all societal problems. They viewed the parent-child relationship (especially when it came to the mother) as both enslavement of children and capitalist in its priority on ownership. They believed that parents suppressed the desires, potential, and creativity of their children, thereby destining them to perpetually unsatisfied lives.

			In a 1970 paper, Newton and Pearce wrote, “The concept of sexual fidelity or even serial monogamy, which is central to the nuclear family, is also central to the restriction of spontaneous interpersonal interaction.” They weren’t the only ones to come to this conclusion during the various thought experiments spawned by 1960s counterculture, but they may have been the only ones to try it out in real life on a mass scale. They created a group to both test their theory (as was probably the case for Pearce) and take advantage of the situation (as was definitely the case for Newton).

			They set up the Institute on the Upper West Side of Manhattan, a strange place for a cult. Cults usually need isolation to thrive; think the Home of Truth out in the Utah desert or the Ant Hill Kids on a remote mountain in Quebec or the Peoples Temple in Guyana. And yet, for thirty years, the Sullivan Institute made it work in one of the largest, densest, busiest cities in the world.

			Newton and Pearce attracted hundreds of people to the organization over those decades (a New Yorker article from 2023 credits them with as many as six hundred adherents). The members lived in three different buildings, two of which were owned by the Institute. But unlike the average sixties-era cult, these buildings weren’t filled with homeless hippies hyped up on society-shattering promises of free love and communal living. The members of the Sullivan Institute were largely young, white-collar professionals in Manhattan—lawyers, doctors, computer programmers, artists, therapists, and writers, who had careers and goals but were still missing purpose in their lives. The repression and strict conformity of the fifties had made it clear that the nuclear family was not the key to happiness for everyone—so why not try a new way of living? And Newton offered them a package that was hard to resist: a close-knit community, easy sex, cheap rent, all the therapy they could eat, and a license to booze. Alcohol was encouraged to ameliorate anxiety. Pearce herself would drink vodka out of a baby bottle during her therapy sessions to track how many ounces she was consuming. During the Vietnam War, Sullivanian therapists would even write letters testifying that their patients/fellow members were unfit for duty—an appealing prospect for young men desperate to evade the draft.

			The group attracted several famous people, including Jackson Pollock, who loved the Sullivanian ideas about nonmonogamy and alcohol and, as a result of their teachings, started referring to his mother as “that old womb with a built-in tomb.” Singer Judy Collins’s Sullivanian beliefs were bemoaned by her ex-boyfriend Stephen Stills in the Crosby, Stills & Nash hit “Suite: Judy Blue Eyes.” She wrote in her autobiography, “I sure got a lot of mileage out of the Sullivanian belief that alcohol was good for anxiety, and that having multiple sex partners was a political statement and a healthy lifestyle.” Former Sullivanian Richard Price told Alexander Stille for his 2023 book, The Sullivanians: Sex, Psychotherapy, and the Wild Life of an American Commune, “It was like instant community, instant sex. It felt like someone had opened the gates of heaven.”

			People lived in same-sex dorms at the Sullivan Institute and were encouraged to have sex with someone different every night. In fact, for someone to turn down sex was seen as not just anathema to the cause, but also a personal failure in their own growth. Newton himself would force his member-patients to give him oral sex during their sessions and on their dime. But it wasn’t all sex: members were encouraged to spend as much quality time as they could with platonic, same-sex friends, even to the point of planning adult sleepovers.

			Meanwhile, they were also forced to cut off ties with their families, both their families of origin and the families they started at the Institute. Permission to have children had to be granted by Sullivanian leadership. If it was granted, the woman had to have sex with enough men to obscure the paternity of the child. After its birth, the child was removed from its mother and given to a babysitter, and then, when old enough, enrolled in boarding school. Parents were allowed to see their children a single hour a day and one evening a week. In one particular case, member Deedee Agee (daughter of James Agee, author of the novel A Death in the Family) was only allowed to breastfeed her newborn for fourteen minutes a day (seven per breast). In an interview with Alexander Stille for The Sullivanians, Lauren Olitski, the daughter of painter and patient Jules Olitski, said, “The Sullivanians told my parents that the worst thing a person can do is raise their own children.” Meanwhile, dues, fines, and donations ate up members’ salaries and allowed Newton to amass some $12 million and additional properties in Vermont, Long Island, and the Catskills.

			Of course, none of the rules and restrictions applied to the leadership (a sure sign of a cult…or a corporation). Newton ultimately married six times, half of them during his time at the Sullivan Institute, and fathered ten children. He lived with his family at the headquarters.

			In 1979, the partial meltdown of a nuclear reactor at Three Mile Island temporarily redefined for the Sullivanians what kind of “nuclear” they should be afraid of. Fearing the worst, Newton moved as many of the Sullivanians as would follow to Orlando, Florida, to wait out the fallout. About half joined him. When the scare ended, the Florida group returned to their Manhattan enclave. Newton was furious with those who hadn’t joined him in Florida and forbade members from mentioning the flight. The Sullivanians later made a documentary in which they stated that they believed people would suffer from the aftereffects of the Three Mile Island incident for many years. After that episode, they maintained a fleet of school buses and motorcycles so they could flee the city fast if and when the next nuclear catastrophe loomed.

			It was around this time that the organization started to get more violent. In 1978, Newton had downgraded Pearce to ex-wife, relegated her to the communal areas of the Institute, and married actress Joan Harvey, who would train to become a therapist after joining the group. At Harvey’s insistence, the Sullivanians bought a theater troupe called the Fourth Wall Repertory Company and renamed it the Fourth Wall Political Theater. According to Esther Newton, daughter of the cult’s founder, “It combined the worst of Marxism, psychoanalysis, and the musical theater.” They also bought a theater in which they could perform. However, when the previous tenants wouldn’t leave, hundreds of Sullivanians converged on the theater and smashed up all their sets.

			In 1985, dark-clad members broke into the apartment of a neighbor who had accidentally spilled paint on one of their buildings. The Sullivanians trashed the apartment and beat up the tenants. When one of the victims came to their building to confront them, a dozen members jumped him and beat him up again. In another instance that same year, a member tried to leave the group, but two Sullivanians, one of whom was a son of Newton, caught up to him in the subway and dangled him over the tracks while threatening to murder him.

			The group began to fall apart in the late 1980s, when family started to reassert itself in the organization like shoots of grass through sidewalk concrete. People who had grown up in the cult started trying to figure out who their biological parents and siblings were. A Sullivanian named Marcie Pappo hired strongarms to kidnap her own infant from outside one of the Sullivan Institute buildings because she hadn’t been allowed to see the child in six months. Two other members sued for custody of their children. All of this brought negative attention to the group, and investigations were launched that resulted in some of the Sullivanian therapists, including Joan Harvey and Newton’s sixth wife, Helen Moses, having their licenses revoked. The final death knell for the Sullivan Institute was the death of Saul Newton himself, who began to suffer from dementia and then died of septicemia in 1991.

			As for the Sullivanian ideals, if you take them out of their cultish context, they might have been ahead of their time. According to the Pew Research Center, in 2021, a whopping 25 percent of forty-year-olds in the United States weren’t married, and of those, only 22 percent lived with a romantic partner. Compare this to 1980, when only 6 percent of forty-year-olds weren’t married. Meanwhile, according to the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the birth rate in the country is dropping fast: “Between 1976 and 2018, the mean number of children ever born per woman declined, from three children to two.” To rip off T. S. Eliot, the nuclear family might be going out not with a bang, but a whimper.
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			Nuwaubian Nation
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			Black Power in an Egyptian Pyramid

			He called himself many things: heir to the throne of Sudan, Chief Black Thunderbird Eagle, the leader of a lost North American tribe, a descendant of the prophet Mohammed, and an alien from the planet Rizq. Really, though, Dwight “Malachi” York was just a pedophile who realized that his best bet for sating his perversions was to start a cult.

			In most ways, the Nuwaubian Nation is like any other cult, with a charismatic leader whose delusions of grandeur excuse abuse, an ideology that is a confusing mishmash of mainstream and esoteric belief systems, secluded communal living, and extreme financial control of its members. But what makes the Nuwaubian Nation distinct is that it’s a cult dedicated to Black supremacy, one that attempted to recreate ancient Egypt in rural Georgia.

			York was born in 1945 in Boston—possibly. His origins are a bit vague and have, at times, been falsified and mythologized. However, he officially entered the record in 1964, when he was arrested in New Jersey for having sex with a thirteen-year-old girl. He was placed on probation for that crime, which he broke that same year for possession of a deadly weapon, assault, and resisting arrest. He spent three years in prison.

			After his release, he moved to Harlem, where he hustled on the streets, peddling incense and pamphlets he had written. These pamphlets discussed Black supremacy and the tenets of Islam. At first, his ideas were not too different from those of other Black Power organizations that were popular at the time, such as the Black Panthers and the Nation of Islam. He gathered a few followers and called the small group Ansar Pure Sufi. In the early seventies, as his following continued to grow, he moved to Brooklyn and changed the name of the group to the Ansaru Allah Community (AAC). York’s message of Black supremacy gave members a sense of identity and purpose during the struggles of the civil rights movement, a tumultuous and dangerous time for Black Americans who were attempting to dismantle legalized and system-wide discrimination and disenfranchisement. In a 2015 interview with Vice, ex-member Robert Rohan said, “I was made to feel like I was working toward building unity as an African American. That made me want to stay.” He added, “There was a sense of pride…. York was teaching an Afrocentric approach to creation, opposed to what I was used to seeing; white Jesus, white apostles, white Moses. When you see a leader in your community portraying spiritual figures as black, it speaks to you.” It’s easy to see what an appealing message that was to young Black people looking for their place in a white-dominated society.

			And York’s group continued to grow. For the next two decades, the AAC expanded to some five hundred people, who lived in twenty apartment buildings owned by York in the Bushwick District of Brooklyn, and then later at an estate in the Catskills called Camp Jazzir. He also opened shops—bookstores, a grocery store, a clothing store, and a gift shop. Meanwhile, the AAC spread into other cities, including international outposts in Trinidad, London, and Toronto. His followers would evangelize heavily using pamphlets and books that York wrote and referred to as “scrolls.”

			But what seemed to be a valiant and sincere effort for Black empowerment hid a different world inside York’s apartments. Members were required to donate all their possessions and money to York and the cause. They were given a daily quota for how much income they should make by selling the scrolls. If they didn’t meet it, they were beaten. Abuse was doled out liberally. Anyone who expressed doubt about anything York said was met with a beating. He controlled the sex lives of his members, only allowing sexual relations to happen with his permission and mandating who should have sex with whom and when. He, of course, was permitted to have sex with any woman in the organization and kept a harem of wives.

			In 1993, York and his group suddenly left New York for Georgia, where they bought a secluded 476-acre property in Putnam County. The nearest town was Eatonton, which had a population of 6,600 residents at the time and was seventy-five miles southeast of Atlanta. With that geographical change came a new name, both for the AAC and for York. The former became the Nuwaubian Nation (full name: the United Nuwaubian Nation of Moors) and the latter became Dr. Malachi Z. York, one of about a dozen names and titles that York gave himself throughout his time as leader of the organization.

			The fresh start seemed to be an attempt to evade legal troubles. Law enforcement was circling the group. York and some of his followers were under suspicion for a range of crimes, including welfare fraud and arson (authorities surmised that the AAC was responsible for a series of building fires, which York capitalized on by picking up the buildings for cheap in the ensuing fire sales). Then there was the murder of Horace Green in 1979. In her book The Nuwaubian Nation: Black Spirituality and State Control, Susan Palmer offers that the police were investigating York and the AAC for the fatal shooting of this Bushwick resident. Green was a fifty-four-year-old community leader and executive director of the Bushwick Improvement Society Day Care Center. According to the police, the shooting was an “execution-style killing” and didn’t seem to be a robbery. His murder was never solved, but Green’s active campaign against the AAC’s takeover of the community made the authorities suspicious that York and his group were involved.

			But in peachy Georgia, the attention that the Nuwaubian Nation received was not for their crimes, but for the eccentricity of their ever-morphing theology (a word that York didn’t like, preferring “factology” or “right knowledge” instead) and the commune they were building. By this time, York had left behind all pretense of Islam and turned the Nuwaubian Nation into a UFO cult. He preached that Black people were descended from a superior alien race that would one day return and rescue them from all the other races that were merely evolved from apes. He also started claiming that the Nuwaubian Nation were Native American, as they had originated from a lost tribe. On this basis, he even tried to get a license to build a casino.

			But as strange as his ideas about the origins of Black people were, the corollary was even stranger. He believed that white people were descended from beings called Flugelrods, which lived in caves in Antarctica. He preached that their paleness came from leprosy, that they had vestigial tails, and that their ancestors mated with jackals. In a 2004 letter he wrote to some of his followers, he said:

			
				The Caucasian has not been chosen to lead the world. They lack true emotions in their creation. We never intended them to be peaceful. They were bred to be killers, with low reproduction levels and a short life span. What you call Negroid was to live 1,000 years each and the other humans 120 years. But the warrior seed of Caucasians is only 60 years old. They were only created to fight other invading races, to protect the God race Negroids. But they went insane, lost control when they were left unattended. They were never to taste blood. They did, and their true nature came out.

			

			More visible than their bizarre ideas about aliens and leprous white people was the Nuwaubians’ obsession with ancient Egypt. On that patch of land in Georgia, they built an Egyptian-themed complex called Tame-Ra. They erected a large, vividly painted sphinx and two forty-foot-tall pyramids of plywood and stucco (one of which was painted black and gold). Obelisks covered in Egyptian-style iconography loomed above the property, and a large arch of a gate led to it all. The Nuwaubians dressed in colorful Egyptian-inspired attire, with elaborate headdresses, fezzes, robes, and masks. They were, quite possibly, the best-dressed cult in this entire book. York even declared Tame-Ra a sovereign nation. The connection the group drew with Egypt might be found in a proclamation that they wrote on the occasion of the inauguration of their annual parade. In it they asserted that “the Nuwbuns were the dark, brown to black skin wooly hair original Eygyptians” [sic].

			For the next ten years, the Nuwaubian Nation prospered. About a hundred members lived on Tame-Ra itself, with another four hundred in surrounding towns. But on their annual Saviors Day, a celebration of York’s birthday, the ranks of the Nuwaubian Nation on the property could swell as high as 5,000 as Nuwaubians traveled from all over to attend. These events were capable of pulling in half a million dollars each from admission fees. The Nuwaubians also made money selling passports to members to allow them to enter the compound, and they had a profitable national chain of bookstores called All Eyes on Egipt [sic]. And that’s in addition to all the dues they collected from individual members.

			But there were often problems with the locals. When building inspectors showed up to examine the strange structures, they were chased off by guards with machine guns. One of the pyramids held a club called Club Ramses, which was shut down because the building was only zoned for storage. The Nuwaubian Nation fought back by slashing the tires of attorney Frank Ford, who represented the county in the lawsuit, and throwing rocks through his windows. Once, a gutted dog was placed next to his house. Putnam County sheriff Howard Sills received death threats and found himself followed everywhere he went. York fought it out in the media as well, accusing the local government of racist attitudes toward the Nation, which drew supporting visits from civil rights activists Al Sharpton and Jesse Jackson.

			Toward the end of the nineties the group began to fall apart, for reasons that had nothing to do with UFOs or Egypt or local building codes. In 1998, Georgia authorities started receiving anonymous tips that York was sexually abusing minors. Young girls started appearing in hospitals to give birth. The story the authorities were hearing was that York was sexually assaulting children as young as five and had a program in place in which his harem of wives groomed the children to better sexually service him. Helped by some forty defectors and their families, including one of York’s own sons, Jacob York, authorities gathered enough evidence to go after him.

			On May 8, 2002, York and Kathy Johnson, one of his wives, were arrested while running errands outside the commune. After that, three hundred law-enforcement officers descended on Tame-Ra. Although the authorities were concerned that something like the siege in Waco with the Branch Davidians would happen, the members of the Nuwaubian Nation surrendered peacefully.

			In 2004, York was found guilty of multiple counts of racketeering and charges related to sexual molestation of children. He was sentenced to 135 years in prison. Kathy Johnson received two years. As of the writing of this book, York is close to eighty and is still behind bars in ADX Florence, a prison in Colorado known as the “Alcatraz of the Rockies.” Tame-Ra was razed almost immediately. Sherriff Sills himself knocked over the gates with a bulldozer.

			As for the Nuwaubian Nation, they are still around, although their ranks have thinned considerably. Hundreds gathered when York’s sentence was up for appeal in 2005, and in 2009, some followers tried to break him out using falsified documents. All Eyes on Egipt bookstores are still open today across the country, and nuwaubianfacts.com, the Nuwaubian Nation website, is still up and proclaiming the innocence of its leader. The headline on the site reads: “KIDNAPPED MAY 8, 2002 A.D. BY THE U.S. GOVERNMENT.”

			Interestingly enough, York’s influence wasn’t merely a religious or criminal one—it was also cultural. Some of the forefathers of hip-hop drew inspiration from both his words and his Egyptian style. In the collections of the Smithsonian Museum in Washington, DC, is a red fez owned by Afrika Bambaataa, one of the pioneers of the genre, which reads, “Proud Nuwaubian” and “United Nuwaubian Nation of Moors.” Other musicians who have been influenced by York’s work include Doug E. Fresh, Erykah Badu, and OutKast.

			While his message of Black empowerment still resonates, York was not motivated by the quest for Black liberation as many of his followers were. At the end of the day, his motives were not only sexual, but financial. According to the Southern Poverty Law Center, York once told his son Jacob: “I don’t believe in any of this shit. If I had to dress up like a nun, if I had to be a Jew, I’d do it for this type of money.”

			[image: ]

		

	
		
			[image: ]

			Order of the Solar Temple
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			Starry Knights

			On October 5, 1994, a fire broke out in a farmhouse on the outskirts of the small Swiss village of Cheiry. The firefighters who responded tamed the blaze, and when they entered the house, they found the body of a man lying in bed with a plastic bag over his head. Around the house were various mechanisms designed to start and fuel the fire remotely. But it got stranger. As they continued their investigation of the property, the firefighters found what they thought was a garage. Inside, however, it looked like a meeting hall filled with personal belongings…but no persons. Later, upon further probing, the authorities discovered a fake wall with a secret room behind it, preserved due to a failure of the incendiary devices. The room was painted crimson, with a matching carpet and tall arched mirrors lining the walls. An altar held a chalice, a rose, and a cross. In the center of the room were twenty-two dead bodies, both women and men, as well as one young boy. They were wearing black, red, and white ceremonial cloaks with crosses on them, in the vein of the Knights Templar. Some had plastic bags over their heads. A couple of the women were wearing gold dresses. Their bodies were arranged in the radiating pattern of a sun.

			On the same night, about 130 miles south of Cheiry in the village of Granges-sur-Salvan, a trio of chalets burned. Responders found twenty-five corpses in the wreckage, most lying in bed, and each in the same ceremonial cloaks and plastic bags worn in Cheiry. Several children were among their number. The fire had also been spread by remotely activated devices similar to those found in Cheiry.

			That was how the world found out about the Order of the Solar Temple. But its final death count hadn’t yet been tallied.

			The Order of the Solar Temple was started by Joseph Di Mambro and Luc Jouret in Geneva, Switzerland, in 1984. Di Mambro was a French businessman who was extremely interested in esoteric practices and secret societies. In 1956, at the age of thirty-one, he joined the Rosicrucians, a mystic order dedicated to transformation and enlightenment via ancient, secret knowledge and rituals. He left the group in 1969. A few years later, after running afoul of the law for illegal business practices, he left France for Switzerland, where he leveraged the ideas he’d encountered while a Rosicrucian to set up his own ritualistic organization, the Center for Preparing the New Age, and then, a few years later, the Golden Way Foundation. He seemed to be spending the 1970s preparing for a new epoch.

			However, he needed a more charismatic face for the organization. He found Jouret. Jouret was Belgian, younger than Di Mambro by twenty-three years, a homeopathic doctor, and a motivational speaker. The two joined forces to create a new, secret order that was preparing for a coming world tribulation and the next phase of existence: the Order of the Solar Temple.

			The motivating idea behind the order was that they wanted to unify the major religions of the world and create a more spiritual society. However, they also believed that the world was about to undergo an ecological cataclysm that only the elite (i.e., members of the Order of the Solar Temple) would survive, by astral projecting (they called it transiting) to the star Sirius. Fueling their ideas of elitism and grand purpose, the members of the Solar Temple were told that they were important reincarnated historic figures. Jouret, for example, claimed to be a reincarnated Knight Templar, as well as an incarnation of Jesus Christ. When Camille Pilet, a wealthy, retired director at the prestigious Piaget watch company, joined the order, he was told he was Joseph of Arimathea in another life. He was also immediately promoted to the highest level of the organization.

			The order had three levels: the Brothers of Parvis, the Knights of the Alliance, and the Brothers of the Ancient Times. Each level contained within it various grades and was signified by a white, red, or black cloak, respectively. Members of the order would also carry ceremonial swords. They claimed to be led by a council of thirty-three spiritual beings called Masters, who were said to inhabit temples beneath Zurich and the Himalayas. These Masters would communicate to the highest level of the order via Di Mambro and Jouret.

			During ceremonies, ghostly apparitions of the spectral Masters would appear, as would legendary artifacts of spiritual significance, including Excalibur and the Holy Grail, the latter being inextricably linked to the Knights Templar in historical lore. As recounted by ex-member Thierry Huguenot in the 1996 documentary Death of the Solar Temple, Di Mambro would say to them, “Do you realize that we are the only people on the planet to be seeing these things? That throughout history there have been great souls, great saints and they have never had a sign. And we have flashes, signs.” When the Holy Grail appeared, Huguenot said, “It had a shining quality…we fell to our knees…with more than joy to see the Holy Grail.” These visions went a long way toward convincing order members that they were on the right path.

			Jouret and Di Mambro had children who were considered extremely special to the order. Di Mambro claimed that his son Elie, who was born in 1969, was divinely begotten while he was on a trip to Israel. Meanwhile, Jouret’s son, who was born in 1983, was destined to become something called the Grand Master of the Temple of the New Age of the Era of the Virgin. Spoiler alert: neither fulfilled their destinies.

			The group prospered over the 1980s, with their primary recruiting tactics being Jouret’s passionate lectures and the setting up of clubs to funnel members into the order. At the order’s peak, they welcomed some five hundred members across Canada, Switzerland, and France, and expanded their physical footprint in each country by buying up new properties.

			However, eventually the waving red flags became flashing red lights. By 1993, members started defecting and asking for their donations back for a slew of reasons. For instance, Jouret and Di Mambro had become sexually controlling. Jouret would demand sex from female members to give him the energy to conduct rituals. Both men would separate couples that they thought weren’t compatible and then make advances on the newly single women. A major blow to the order unfolded like an episode of Scooby-Doo when Di Mambro’s son Elie and a member named Tony Dutoit unmasked the apparitions they were seeing in their meetings as holographic light tricks. The order was also under police scrutiny after Jouret was charged with stockpiling weapons.

			Di Mambro and Jouret worried that the order was falling apart. It’s unknown when they really started changing the mission of the order from saving the world to leaving it—via the transit to Sirius—but on a tape salvaged from the charred wreckage in Switzerland, Di Mambro and Jouret discussed their plans openly.

			
				Di Mambro: People have beaten us to the punch, you know.

				Jouret: Well, yes, Waco beat us to the punch.

				Di Mambro: In my opinion, we should have gone six months before them, but what we’ll do will be more spectacular considering everything which we have behind us.

			

			That’s about when members of the order started dying. However, the fatalities in the Order of the Solar Temple were kicked off not in Switzerland, but a day earlier in the town of Morin-Heights, Quebec. Authorities there found a burning house, inside of which were five dead bodies. One of the bodies belonged to Tony Dutoit, who had helped debunk the order’s most sacred moments as mere lightshows. Two others were his wife, Nicky, and their three-month-old son, Christopher Emmanuel. All three had been stabbed multiple times, the infant with a wooden stake. The Dutoits were found with medallions around their necks engraved with the letters “T.S.,” or Temple Solaire (French for Solar Temple). The other two bodies belonged to their murderers, Jerry and Colette Genoud, who were also members of the order and had committed suicide after the crime. Apparently, Jouret and Di Mambro ordered the hit by convincing those followers that Christopher was the newborn Antichrist.

			This template of murder-suicide, it turns out, was used for all the Solar Temple deaths that followed. Of the fifty-three dead between Switzerland and Morin-Heights, some had been shot, others stabbed, many drugged, and some suffocated. Some of the bodies showed signs of resistance. Others were definite suicides. The ensuing fires were intended to be the medium of transit for their souls, including for Jouret and Di Mambro, who were among the dead. However, even after the deaths of its leaders, the Order of the Solar Temple was not quite done.

			As the authorities investigated, the media received a series of five letters, the contents of which were opaque and dealt mostly with the “transit” itself, as well as typical cult paranoia of forces both inside and outside the cult. At the very least, the letters seemed to indicate that the cult was still around. A year later, more deaths would confirm that notion.

			On December 23, 1995, sixteen bodies were found outdoors in the Vercors mountains of France. The corpses were arranged in the star pattern around a campfire and had been immolated. There were also bags over their heads, drugs in their systems, and gunshot wounds in their skulls. Three were children. It was the Solar Temple MO of murder, suicide, and astral body arrangement.

			On March 23, 1997, a house fire in Saint-Casimir, Quebec, revealed the burned bodies of five Solar Temple members. However, for the first time, there were survivors. Three teenagers, the children of two of the dead, were discovered in a shed behind the house, drugged but otherwise physically unharmed.

			Those last two events increased the final body count for the Order of the Solar Temple to eighty-four over the course of three years. Among the dead were two policemen, a mayor of a town in Quebec, a journalist, multiple millionaires, and an Olympic competitor. As to why some of those members willingly transited to Sirius, cult expert Jean Francois Mayer shared one cult member’s perspective at a conference at the University of Virginia in 1998. He didn’t name the woman, but quoted from an unpublished testament she had written before her death, in which she described herself as an important reincarnated figure whose duty was complete and who was now ready to evolve to the next level of enlightenment beyond Earth:

			
				Happiness fills me because I know that I have fulfilled my duty and that I can bring back in peace and happiness my capitalized energy enriched through the experience which I have lived on this earth back to the source from which everything comes. It is difficult for the man of the earth to understand such a choice. Such decision to leave willingly one’s terrestrial vehicle, but such is it for all those who carry with them light and cosmic consciousness and know where they go about.

			

			Sometime after the original tragedies, the police arrested and tried Michel Tabachnik, a respected Swiss composer and conductor, on suspicion of being one of the leaders of the order, especially after Di Mambro’s and Jouret’s deaths. Tabachnik had known Di Mambro for decades, had been involved with their organizations in the past, and had written some of the texts used by the order. But he was acquitted. Twice, in fact.

			To date, that is the last we have heard from the Order of the Solar Temple. Hopefully all their dark secrets have been dragged into the light of the sun—but with such a secretive cult, you never know.
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				The world always seems like it’s getting worse—that it’s closer and closer to a global catastrophe every day. Meanwhile, individually, we are often dealing with personal catastrophes, as human beings always seem beset from all sides. The promise of not just being saved from those catastrophes but thriving as a result might be the most alluring assurance a cult can provide. Cults have offered salvation from divine judgment, government tyranny, science gone awry, climate devastation, our own addictions and vices, and even the basic dissatisfactions of being a human being. Too often, these seekers do not find salvation in a cult, but instead find themselves disappointed, shamed, or, worse, dead. Which, I guess, is a kind of salvation. But not a gentle one.
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			Branch Davidians
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			War in Waco

			The story of the Branch Davidians of Waco, Texas, starts as a dry, decades-long history of religious schisms and infighting and ends with a tense fifty-one-day standoff with tanks and fires and guns and almost a hundred dead. And it was all broadcast live on television.

			Dry stuff first, though. The Branch Davidians were an offshoot of an offshoot of the Seventh-Day Adventist Church, itself a relatively mainstream offshoot of an apocalyptic Christian sect (and borderline cult) called the Millerites. The Millerites were led by a man named William Miller who predicted that the apocalypse would happen in 1843 or 1844. Although that prediction didn’t come to pass, modern-day Seventh-Day Adventists still believe that humans have been in what they term an “investigative judgment” since 1844 as a precursor to the eventual full Second Coming—they just don’t hang a specific date on it. Their name refers to both their focus on the coming apocalypse (or “advent”) and their celebration of the Sabbath, unusually for Christians, on Saturday.

			In 1929, a Seventh-Day Adventist named Victor T. Houteff created a splinter group over a slightly different interpretation of some of the end-times passages in the Bible. He called his group the Davidians, and in 1935, he and about three dozen followers established the Mount Carmel Center in Waco, Texas. Houteff taught the Davidians that he was the only one who could interpret the Bible accurately and that he would never die.

			Then he died. His wife, Florence, took over, and in 1957 she moved the growing group to a nearby farm and opened a compound as the new Mount Carmel. This Mount Carmel would become the most important character in the story of the Branch Davidians. Over the course of its existence, this complex of pale, blocky buildings would shelter political power plays, failed prophecies, gnarly attempts at resurrection, vigorous tries for messianic births, and gunfights. And that’s all before the violent, chaotic events that led to its final destruction, when the entire world witnessed its smoldering ruins from helicopter height.

			Florence predicted that Christ would return on April 22, 1959. As that date neared, a thousand Davidians showed up to Mount Carmel to await the end of the old world and help jump-start the beginning of the new.

			But it didn’t happen. After that disappointment, the group started to dissolve. An Adventist named Benjamin Roden corralled a pocket of disillusioned ex-Davidians who resolved to continue looking to the skies for Christ. He named his group the Branch Davidians and they moved into the Mount Carmel facility and its attendant seventy-seven acres.

			Roden died in 1978 and his wife, Lois, took over. Lois’s legacy for the Branch Davidians was less her feminist take on their doctrine (she taught that the Holy Spirit was female) and more who she chose as her lover: a young man about forty years her junior named Vernon Howell. A decade later, Howell would become world-infamous as David Koresh, a name he adopted both to connect himself to the house of the Biblical King David (from whose lineage the new messiah is supposed to come) and as a reference to a Persian king who freed the Jews from bondage in Babylon, and who is sometimes referred to as a messiah. His name proclaimed his ambition. But first he had to fight Lois’s son—politically and physically.

			After Lois’s death, her son, George Roden, wanted to lead the Branch Davidians, but Koresh had managed to accrue his own following. In 1985, George won out and took control of Mount Carmel. However, Koresh was still such a threat to him that, in 1987, George challenged Koresh to a duel of resurrection. Whoever could bring a dead body back to life would win. George exhumed the body of a cult member named Anna Hughes, who had died two decades before. Whether Koresh accepted the challenge or, as was his story, came to the compound with seven armed followers to get proof of corpse desecration and turn George in to the authorities, is unclear. George would go on to claim in court that he had disinterred the body as part of a project to relocate the cemetery on the property.

			What is clear is that the attempted necromancy almost resulted in more deaths, not one fewer. The two groups started shooting at each other, resulting in George being injured. In the ensuing trial, Koresh’s followers were all acquitted of attempted murder, while Koresh squeaked by on a mistrial due to a hung jury. The Branch Davidians threw a party for the jurors afterward. But the key to winning Mount Carmel, it turned out, wasn’t miracles or bloodshed; it was money. George got behind on the taxes for the property and Team Koresh bought it out from under him. It also helped that in 1989 George killed a man and was sent to a mental hospital after being found not guilty by reason of insanity.

			Fully enmeshed at Mount Carmel and unchallenged as the leader of the Branch Davidians, Koresh turned his attention to fulfilling his role as prophet and messiah, which mostly meant that he started accruing wives and guns. Of course, it wasn’t that obvious at first. Koresh promised and seemed to be providing something extremely important for his more than one hundred followers. According to a 2023 NPR interview with Jeff Guinn, author of Waco: David Koresh, The Branch Davidians, and a Legacy of Rage, “The initial messages basically were ways everyone could work better, love the Lord more, and basically make yourself worthy of being saved when the end times came.” Still, pretty soon his mandates seemed less salvation-inspired. He forced celibacy on the male members, including husbands, while claiming all the wives, women, and girls as his own. He told his followers that God wanted him to sire twenty-four children who would go on to help rule the imminent Kingdom of God. His wives were as young as fourteen (which was, and still is, legal in Texas with parental permission), and some investigators and ex-members have claimed that his sexual predations extended to even younger girls.

			Koresh’s ability to successfully impose such repugnant rules is difficult to understand. He was certainly charismatic, a natural leader, and he seemed to have the big answers—namely, how to secure salvation in the coming end times. But long after the events that made the Branch Davidians infamous, surviving members are still trying to parse why they obeyed. Ex-member David Bunds told ABC News in 2018, “I’ll call it a cult, that’s what it was…it’s people doing things they wouldn’t normally do, like giving up their wives and letting their children have sex with adults, which is crazy, but that’s what you do when you’re in a cult. Someone says they have authority and then impose upon you rules and restrictions and expectations and it gets down into your soul, it really screws you.”

			Koresh also began stockpiling munitions—many of which were illegal, including machine guns and grenades—and ensuring that everybody on the compound knew how to use them. This initiative had a twofold purpose. One was as preparation for the Final War, in which, according to Koresh, they would all die in an apocalyptic battle with the forces of Satan, but then be resurrected when God inevitably won in the end. The other reason for all the firearms was their commercial value. The Branch Davidians upgraded semiautomatic weapons to automatic weapons and sold them at a profit.

			It was this latter activity that got the attention of the US government. A UPS driver became suspicious of all the weapons he was delivering to Mount Carmel and reported the Branch Davidians. Local authorities were already on alert, as they had heard stories of war-zone-like noises such as explosions and automatic gunfire coming from the compound.

			On February 8, 1993, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF) launched Operation Trojan Horse. They approached the compound in cattle trailers, ready to surprise the Branch Davidians and seize their deadly arsenal. However, Koresh and his followers had somehow been tipped off and had guns cocked and aimed. Both sides claimed the other shot first, but multiple reports, including some from the reporters that were on hand, pointed to the Branch Davidians as the ones with the trigger fingers. The ensuing three-hour gun battle killed four agents and five Branch Davidians, although autopsies later revealed that two of the dead Branch Davidians had been killed by other Branch Davidians after being injured by the ATF agents, and a third—one of Koresh’s fathers-in-law—seemed to have died by a suspiciously close-range shot to the mouth.

			That’s when the FBI stepped in. What followed was almost two months of standoff between national authorities and the Davidians at Waco. The authorities were worried about a mass suicide, the welfare of the dozens of children inside, and the already proven danger to their own agents. The Branch Davidians were worried about, well, the terrifying army amassing outside their walls, which included helicopters and tanks and multiple law-enforcement agencies from the local to the national level.

			The FBI tried various tactics to drive the Branch Davidians from the compound peacefully. They played loud music, Tibetan chants, and the sounds of dying rabbits over loudspeakers. They cut the power multiple times. They shone spotlights on the compound and bulldozed various vehicles owned by the Branch Davidians. They also struck up negotiations via phone and provided the Branch Davidians with outlets for their messages as well as provisions such as milk (the milk cartons were, of course, bugged). It was a somewhat confusing strategy that combined peaceful negotiations with annoying intimidations. But it did drag on. And as it did, TV audiences watched with fascination and horror.

			Koresh had been wounded in the battle with the ATF, but not severely. He was able to take part in the negotiations, although he often handed that duty over to his lieutenant Steve Schneider. Meanwhile, the Branch Davidians hung signs from their windows: “We Come to Love, Not War,” said one. “Let’s Have a Beer When This Is Over,” said another. “I’m an American, I Love America, but BATF Killed My Family and Friends,” was a third example.

			Over the first few weeks of the siege, Koresh had let his followers leave the compound if they chose. Thirty-five were able to escape the tense situation, twenty-one of them children. However, after March 23, Koresh stopped releasing members, and things got more strained. Koresh maintained he wanted to finish writing about the seven seals of Revelation before he surrendered, but the authorities were doubtful of the claim.

			On April 19, the FBI gassed the compound. The plan was approved by the Attorney General Janet Reno, who in turn got President Bill Clinton’s sign-off. The FBI used tanks to punch holes in the buildings and inject tear gas to clear the compound. However, almost immediately, fires erupted in Mount Carmel and consumed the compound fast. Seventy-five Branch Davidians died, including twenty children. Only nine members survived, all adults.

			The whole mission went down in living rooms across America, with families watching the tragic ending of the fifty-one-day event live on their TVs. And the optics of the situation were bad for the US government: Here were tanks and tear gas being used on US citizens. Here were almost a hundred men, women, and children dead. Ruby Ridge, another tense and deadly standoff between federal agents and a family in Idaho, had occurred just six months before ATF agents shot it out with the Branch Davidians. One of the bystanders at Waco was a man named Timothy McVeigh, who, two years later, would bomb a federal building in Oklahoma City, killing 168 people. He claimed what the government did in Waco was one of his motivations.

			After the tear gas cleared, another side to the story came out. The authorities discovered that the Branch Davidians had stockpiled almost 250 firearms and hundreds of grenades. They learned that the fire had been started not by the gas, but by the Branch Davidians themselves. In addition, many of the dead didn’t die from either the fire or smoke inhalation; thirteen of them were fatally shot, including three children. A three-year-old had been stabbed in the chest, and two other children had been killed by blunt force trauma to the head. David Koresh himself died with a bullet to his forehead. And not a single shot had been fired by the authorities in those fifty-one days, not since the original skirmish between the Branch Davidians and the ATF.

			The nine members of the Branch Davidians who survived the blaze and the murder-suicides were charged with manslaughter of ATF agents, as well as various weapons offenses. Today, all nine members have been released from prison, and the Branch Davidians in general are still around. In 2013, NPR interviewed a seventy-two-year-old member named Clive Doyle, who survived the siege and was acquitted of all charges. According to Doyle, “We survivors of 1993 are looking for David and all those that died either in the shootout or in the fire. We believe that God will resurrect this special group.” Jeff Guinn also told NPR:

			
				The people who survived Mount Carmel, who believed in David Koresh, believe in him to this day—that what the ATF did, and then the FBI [did], perfectly fulfilled David’s prophecy that he and the others who died at Mount Carmel have been translated up and are waiting, and at some point, God is going to return them at the head of his armies, we’re going to have this clash and the end of days will come.

			

			Meanwhile, new religious life blooms on the bones of Mount Carmel, still the stage for the Branch Davidians. Yet another offshoot group has sprung from the wreckage and now owns the Mount Carmel property. This group is called Branch, The Lord Our Righteousness and is led by Charles Pace. They have turned the property into a memorial, planting a tree for each of the victims of the Waco siege. The group eventually disavowed David Koresh, even going so far as to cut down the tree that was planted for him.
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			Movement for the Restoration of the Ten Commandments of God
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			Except the Sixth One

			Obey the Ten Commandments: it’s a relatively simple and uncontroversial idea for the religious. “Don’t be a jerk” is pretty much the sum of them. They’re really not worth starting a cult over, and certainly not worth murdering eight hundred people over (in fact, I think there’s a commandment that specifically prohibits that). However, that is, more or less, the story of the Movement for the Restoration of the Ten Commandments of God (MRTCG).

			The formation of the MRTCG was sort of like an offbeat romantic comedy movie—with one big twist. In 1989, in Rwashamaire, Uganda, a former sex worker in her mid-thirties named Credonia Mwerinde and a former politician named Joseph Kibwetere, who was twenty years her senior, sat down and realized they had something in common: they had both experienced a vision of the Virgin Mary. So, together, they created a cult. Cue cutesy montage.

			In Mwerinde’s case, her visions of Mary ran in the family. Her sister, her daughter, and other members of her family had all been visited by visions of the Virgin Mary. And it all started with her father, Paulo Kashaku, who in 1960 had a vision of his dead daughter, Evangelista. She, Jacob Marley–like, told him that he would one day be visited by three spirits from the pearly beyond. And, sometime in either 1987 or 1988, the prediction was fulfilled when Jesus, Joseph, and Mary dropped in on Kashaku. He owned farmland in the remote area of Kanungu in southwest Uganda, and the three spirits of Christian past instructed him to dedicate his land to uniting fellow believers under a common cause.

			So Kashaku instructed his daughter Mwerinde, along with her daughter, Ursula Komuhangi, and her sister, Angela Mugisha, to spread that message throughout the country. And that’s how Mwerinde found Kibwetere. Kibwetere was a Catholic, a family man, and a well-off entrepreneur who had superintended schools, worked for the government, and led the Democratic Party in his district until the party lost the election. He himself claimed to have been receiving visions of Mary since at least 1984.

			Kibwetere and Mwerinde hit it off immediately, and the three women moved into the Kibwetere home in Rwashamaire, not far from Kanungu. Kibwetere’s son, Juvenal Rugambwa, explained to the Sunday Times of London how his dad felt about Mwerinde: “My father was in awe of her and would do anything she said.” While at the Kibwetere home, the two of them began hammering out an idea for a new religious organization based on their visions of Mary. They believed that people needed to be more dedicated to the Decalogue—those ten basic rules of society that God gave to Moses on Mount Sinai (twice, after Moses broke the first set in anger). In fact, they found the Ten Commandments so important that they believed that the world was about to end because they weren’t being respected. That date, a decade after that fateful meeting of the visionaries, was December 31, 1999—sort of. We’ll get to that.

			Meanwhile, Kibwetere and Mwerinde started amassing followers—hundreds, in fact, many of whom stayed on Kibwetere’s property. The appeal of their message was pretty straightforward. Uganda was already a mostly Christian country, with about a third of those Christians being Roman Catholic, and the organization they were putting together borrowed a lot from the Roman Catholic faith. As Paul Ikazire, a former priest of the MRTCG, explained to the New York Times, “We joined the movement as a protest against the Catholic Church. We had good intentions. The church was backsliding, the priests were covered in scandals and the AIDS scourge was taking its toll on the faithful. The world seemed poised to end.” An organization that promised to reform a corrupt church and put the focus back on the basics was refreshing. The country had also suffered through decades of dictatorships and wars, including the rule of Idi Amin and the Ugandan Bush War, and many of its citizens needed some hopeful structure in all that destructive chaos.

			But Kibwetere’s family began having a hard time with the cult, especially when it came to Mwerinde. His son Rugambwe told the New York Times, “They started mistreating us, the family members, the children and the mother, saying the Virgin Mary had told them to do things, to keep us without food and to punish us.” In 1992, the family told them that they had to leave, and Kibwetere and Mwerinde took their MRTCG west to Kashaku’s land in Kanungu. There, they set up a village that they called Ishayuuriro rya Maria (“rescue place for the Virgin Mary”).

			The village was monastic. They forbade sex, even between married couples, which helped them not to run afoul of Commandment #7 (“Thou shalt not commit adultery”). They rarely spoke, communicating only in hand signals to avoid breaching Commandment #3 (“Thou shalt not take the name of the Lord thy God in vain”) and Commandment #9 (“Thou shalt not bear false witness against thy neighbor”). They fasted often. They spent their time working and praying. They built homes, a church, and a school. They took tough pilgrimages through forests and rocky hills to a stone shaped, they believed, like the Virgin Mary. But there was an ulterior motive to these directives: because they discouraged communication and sex, members had few opportunities to create bonds and share their experiences in the cult, which might have led to them questioning the leadership. The hard work and fasting also kept members too weak and tired to have the energy for mutiny.

			The MRTCG recruited various nuns and priests who had been excommunicated from the official Catholic organization due to local politics and who were generally disillusioned with the institution to which they had dedicated their lives. These defrocked men and women became leaders in the group. The most notable among them was Father Dominic Kataribaabo, who had spent time in the United States earning a master’s degree in religious studies from Loyola Marymount University in Los Angeles. Cult leaders named twelve apostles called Entumwa (“messengers”): six men and six women. These apostles ran the commune, with Kibwetere at the top, although many say that Mwerinde was the true mastermind. The pair continued to receive messages and visions from Mary, and Mwerinde would communicate to the Blessed Virgin through what she claimed were phones hidden in ordinary objects, like cups and plates.

			The MRTCG had three levels of membership, each with its own uniform. Novices wore black. At the next level were those who swore to keep the Ten Commandments; they wore green. Full members wore green and white and promised to remain faithful to the cult until they died. The aesthetics of the MRTCG were still Catholic, including the iconography and the rituals. Meanwhile, much of what they believed and followed came not from the Bible, but from a 163-page pamphlet called A Timely Message from Heaven: The End of the Present Time, which Kibwetere and Mwerinde had started writing back in Rwashamaire. It was formatted like the Bible, with numbered paragraphs. To join the cult, inductees had to read the pamphlet multiple times over the course of an initiation that took four to six days to complete.

			The MRTCG even spread beyond Kanungu, to the districts of Kabale, Rukungiri, Bushenyi, and Mbara. Throughout the mid to late 1990s, the MRTCG continued to grow. Estimates place their numbers anywhere between 1,000 and 5,000 members. And they seemed to be decent neighbors: they would take in families in need, feeding and clothing and caring for them. One BBC article stated, “Villagers in the area described the followers as disciplined, polite and never causing any trouble.”

			Meanwhile, the clock ticked down to December 31, 1999. While the rest of us were waiting for the Y2K bug to take down civilization as we knew it, the cult members were waiting for the return of Christ and Mary and for all the promises and threats of the Book of Revelation. Their metaphor was an Old Testament one, though, as they thought of their commune as a Noah’s ark—offering special protection against worldwide destruction. As one nineteen-year-old unnamed cult member said to the state newspaper New Vision in 1999, “The world ends next year. There is no time to waste. Some of our leaders talk directly to god. Any minute from now, when the end comes, every believer who will be at an as yet undisclosed spot will be saved.”

			Still, it’s unclear what exactly the cult members believed was going to happen on December 31, 1999. A Timely Message from Heaven was vague, although full of apocalyptic imagery. According to the pamphlet:

			
				When the year 2000 is completed, the year that will follow will not be year 2001. The year that will follow shall be called Year One in a generation that will follow the present generation; the generation that will follow will have few or many people depending on who will repent…. The person who will manage to go through this period and reach Year One of the next generation, that person is fortunate.

			

			In essence, the document predicted first a rapture of the faithful and then the nasty bits of the Book of Revelation throughout the year 2000. If one survived all of that, they would be saved and join the ranks of the redeemed generation.

			However, as you probably personally recall or can guess, December 31, 1999, came and went without a single person shooting up into the clouds, in Uganda or otherwise. MRTCG leadership got on the phone with the Virgin Mary and learned that there had been a reprieve, but only a brief one: the new date for the rapture was March 17, 2000.

			On March 15, the cult began preparation for the rapture in a new church they had built. It had an altar under which were buried Paulo Kashaku and his wife, who had both died before the end times arrived. The members placed all the property documents for the cult with the police for safekeeping for future generations and sold off all personal property at a massive discount. They then partied to dedicate the new church, slaughtering three bulls and downing seventy crates of Coke. March 16 was mostly spent in prayer in the new church. On March 17 at 10 a.m., cult members formed a procession that wended from the new church to the old, which was now a dining hall.

			From that point, all knowledge about what happened to the members of the MRTCG is speculation, because half an hour later, a large explosion and a chorus of hellish screams erupted from the building. The commotion attracted nearby field-workers, who found the building engulfed in fire. The windows were boarded shut, the door was locked, and hundreds of people inside were burning alive.

			No one survived. Eerily, the tragedy echoed one of the eschatological passages from A Timely Message from Heaven: “Hurricanes of fire would rain forth from heaven and spread all over those who would not have repented…. This fire will also reach inside the buildings; there is no escape.”

			One woman who lived nearby, Anna Kabeireho, explained the aftermath years later to the BBC: “Everything was covered in smoke, soot and the stench of burnt flesh. It seemed to go right to your lungs. Everybody was running into the valley. The fire was still going. There were dozens of bodies, burnt beyond recognition. We covered our noses with aromatic leaves to ward off the smell. For several months afterwards, we could not eat meat.”

			Almost instantly, the media compared the event to the mass suicide of the Peoples Temple at Jonestown. Four days later, with the media still speculating about mass suicide and responders straining under the overwhelming task of recovering and identifying the hundreds of charred and unrecognizable bodies, six more male corpses were found in a latrine behind the church. The men had been covered in concrete and were obviously murdered. The authorities began to realize that maybe the tragedy on March 17 wasn’t a mass suicide—maybe it was a mass murder.

			Authorities began investigating the other MRTCG properties outside of Ishayuuriro rya Maria. On March 24, they found 153 bodies buried in two pits in Buhunga. On March 26, they found 155 corpses in Rugazi, at a property previously owned by Kataribaabo, the Loyola Marymount University–educated priest who was a member of the organization’s leadership. March 30 revealed eighty-one bodies at the Rushojwa farm of another MRTCG leader, Joseph Nymurinda. And in April, fifty-five bodies were discovered near Kampala. These mass graves were in fields and yards and even buried in the concrete foundation of a house. Many of the bodies belonged to children.

			The cause of death of the victims of the inferno in Kanungu varied, and included poisoning, strangulation, and stabbings. The bodies were all buried naked and packed tightly together in their communal graves. Based on decomposition, their deaths predated the fire, and their bodies had been there for months. Those newly discovered bodies, plus the final tally of the Kunungu fire (338 dead), placed the death count of the cult at just under 800 bodies, although earlier reports estimated it as high as 942, which would have beaten Jonestown for the largest mass cult death in the world.

			The prevailing theory is that, once the original date for the rapture didn’t pan out, many members lost faith and wanted all the money that they had donated to the cult returned. The church leaders panicked and sacrificed those members, and then murdered those who remained loyal in the fire. Another theory is that the deceased in the mass graves were in the bottom two tiers of membership, while those murdered in the fire were the elect in green and white.

			As for the leaders, including Kibwetere, Mwerinde, and Kataribaabo, what happened to them is unknown. Due to the scorched conditions of the bodies, the remote area, and the lack of forensic capabilities of the Ugandan authorities, it couldn’t be determined conclusively if the leaders went down in the ark. Rumors circulated that they escaped the blaze, which seemed credible enough that Interpol issued notices for the arrest of six of the leaders. A third theory, which would partially explain the leaders’ fates, is that Kibwetere himself had already been dead for months, and the cult’s sudden descent into violence was the result of Mwerinde taking over.

			But with no survivors and no clear documentation of the cult’s plans for those final days, the full story of the gruesome end of the MRTCG will always be a mystery.
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			Superior Universal Alignment
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			The Kids Are Not All Right

			The story of the Superior Universal Alignment is either the story of one of the most sadistic cults in this entire book or the story of a cult so insignificant that nobody would have ever heard about it but for a bit of Satanic Panic, Brazil style. It might also be the story of a serial killer. Let’s find out together. It’s not going to be fun.

			On August 2, 1989, in Altamira, Brazil, an eight-year-old boy named Joseph was found injured out in the forest, with signs that he had been sexually abused. He didn’t remember much about his attack, just that he had met a strange man. In November of that same year, another boy, this one a ten-year-old named Otoniel, woke up in the forest to find blood pouring from between his legs, his genitals missing. He would survive the castration and explain that a strange man had approached him and offered him mango. After they ate the fruit and walked together in the forest for a while, a cloth with a strong smell suddenly smothered Otoniel’s face, causing him to black out. On July 23, 1990, a nine-year-old boy named Waldicley had the exact same experience as Otoniel, although instead of a strange man approaching him with mangoes, a strange man approached him for help freeing a kite from a tree. He awoke with the same mutilations.

			The local authorities arrested a drifter named Rotílio de Souza on suspicion of committing these atrocious crimes. However, de Souza died in prison a few months after his arrest…and the crimes didn’t stop. In fact, whoever was committing them seemed to have grown more skilled at them. Because Joseph, Otoniel, and Waldicley, believe it or not, were the lucky ones—at least they lived.

			Over the next three years in that same area of Brazil, more than a dozen boys (some reports have the number as high as nineteen) between the ages of eight and fourteen went missing. Some were never found. Others were found dead. Those whose bodies were discovered were horribly mutilated, with eyes gouged out, hands cut off, burns or bite marks, signs of sexual abuse, or missing organs or toes or hair. And almost every time, they were castrated.

			Without an indigent to pin the crimes on, the police hypothesized that perhaps the boys were the victims of organ smuggling. And it just so happened that two doctors, Anísio Ferreira de Sousa and Césio Brandão, had recently moved into the area. However, experts weighed in and concluded that, despite the apparent precision of the mutilations, which made the investigators think a medical professional must have been responsible, the methodology used was not a viable way to harvest organs for profit.

			In 1993, the authorities turned their attention to a cult, Lineamiento Universal Superior, or Superior Universal Alignment (SUA), as the possible culprit. The SUA was started in the early 1980s by Valentina de Andrade. It was a UFO cult—a doomsday UFO cult. De Andrade believed that she was the reincarnation of Mary Magdalene and that she was receiving messages from extraterrestrial beings. They told her that there was no such thing as God and that Jesus Christ was an alien. In fact, the Three Wise Men were also aliens, and they delivered the Christ alien to the Virgin Mary to raise (after bribing her with gold, frankincense, and myrrh). The extraterrestrials also told de Andrade that the world was about to end any day now, but that if she could spread the truth and gather followers, they would send a spaceship to rescue the faithful. Pretty typical stuff, as far as cults go. So what does a doomsday UFO cult have to do with murdered and mutilated children?

			It turns out that one of the tenets of the SUA was that children were dangerous. In her book, God, the Great Scam (alternately translated as God, the Great Farce), de Andrade writes, “Watch out for children, they are unconscious instruments of the great scam called God and his nefarious collaborators.” She believed that they had extremely negative energies and could cause harm. Her followers, who would call her “Mom,” would sometimes give up their own children to other caretakers to save themselves and secure their space on the mother ship. In addition, her book particularly emphasized the danger of any child born after 1981—and that was true of many of the Altamira victims.

			The previous year, authorities had investigated a similar crime against a boy that took place near where de Andrade and her fourth husband, José Teruggi, lived in the state of Paraná, about 2,000 miles south of Altamira. The authorities theorized that the death of the child was part of the ritual offerings of a satanic cult, and here was a cult handy to blame. When the authorities raided de Andrade’s home, they found the cult’s dark, hooded robes and information about its seeming abhorrence of children. However, de Andrade fought back against the characterization of her group’s stance on offspring, despite what she had written in her book. In 1996, she told the local publication Folha de Londrina (as translated): “Anyone who mistreats children is nothing but a beast. We have several children at Lineamiento and we treat them with all the affection and love they deserve.”

			No actual evidence connected de Andrade and Teruggi to the murder, and they were cleared. The Paraná authorities did continue to pursue the satanic cult theory, though, likely less because of convincing evidence and more as a result of the unfounded Satanic Panic that originated in the United States in the eighties and had spread across the world by the late nineties. Over the next decade, authorities successfully prosecuted a handful of people for the murder in Paraná, although the case was fraught with police intimidation and torture and unreliable witnesses.

			A year later, de Andrade was drawn into the Altamira crime investigation in an eerily identical scenario, in which the authorities formed the same theory that the crimes were perpetuated by a satanic cult. They either came to this conclusion on their own after striking out with drifters and organ harvesters, or they had heard about the Paraná murder, which was being investigated concurrently. Either way, it likewise led them to the nearest child-hating cult at hand—the SUA. Authorities in Altamira arrested six or possibly seven people in connection with the crimes: de Andrade, the two aforementioned doctors, a businessman named Amailton Madeira Gomes, his father José Amadeus Gomes, and at least one former military police officer who worked security for the Gomes family, Carlos Alberto dos Santos Lima. There might have been another former military police officer indicted, Aldenor Ferreira Cardoso, although the record isn’t clear and it seems he at least wasn’t convicted. According to the prosecution, these individuals worked together as a cult to kidnap and sacrifice the boys in dark rituals, the purpose of which was the prosperity of the members of the cult.

			The trials, which were held in the city of Bélem, didn’t start until 2003, more than a decade after the crimes were committed. Even with two of the surviving victims, Otoniel and Waldicley, confidently identifying Carlos Alberto dos Santos Lima as their attacker, as with the Paraná case, the hearings were plagued by police intimidation and torture, overeager eyewitnesses, Satanic Panic, and procedural irregularities.

			As for the defense, the accused claimed not to know each other, much less be bound together as part of a child-murdering cult. Other than de Andrade, it wasn’t even obvious that any of them were members of the SUA, although one of the doctors, Anísio Ferreira de Sousa, was a spiritualist. In addition, no physical evidence tied any of them to the crimes. In fact, no autopsies had ever been conducted on the victims, nor had a forensic sweep been made of the sites where the bodies were found. The Gomes family believed they were being indicted merely due to their money and influence in town. The younger Gomes told Tribuna in 2003, “I was accused because my family has high economic power.” Also, he was gay, making him an outsider. It seemed that the Altamira trials were not just a satanic panic, but also a bit of a witch hunt as well.

			After a series of confusing legal shenanigans that lasted into 2004, four of the accused were convicted, with the exceptions being the elder Gomes, Cardoso, and de Andrade herself. De Andrade, who was in her mid-seventies at this point, was cleared because she wasn’t in Altamira during the time span of the crimes, and prosecutors couldn’t prove that she had directly masterminded them in any way. The four convicted men received sentences that ranged from thirty-five to seventy-seven years in prison. Case closed.

			Until, that is, a serial killer came out of the woodwork shortly after the end of the trials and confessed to all of the murders. Oops.

			In 2004, mechanic Francisco das Chagas Rodrigues de Brito was arrested for killing forty-two boys between 1989 and 2004. The authorities found bodies hidden in his room, and he confessed to all the other killings, including those in Altamira. And while it’s not unusual for a serial killer to exaggerate their body count to aggrandize themselves upon capture, de Brito’s intimate knowledge of the nature and exact locations of the crimes, the consistent features across every one of his crimes (namely, the castrations), and the fact that he had lived in all the areas where the mutilations and murders took place proved conclusively that the crimes were perpetrated by him. And de Brito’s motives weren’t satanic—they were just perverted. Over the next ten years, he went to trial eleven times for those various child murders, and by 2014 he had amassed multiple sentences that added up to 385 years in prison.

			Even before de Brio’s confession, many interested in the Altamira case strongly doubted both the verdict and how it was arrived at, and believed that the SUA was a scapegoat. Now, with tangible proof that the court had ruled in error, politicians, human rights groups, and journalists lobbied for a review of the case. It seemed the SUA itself was in need of salvation. Sadly, no justices in Altamira wanted to review the sentences of the four men who were in jail for the same crimes that de Brito was proven guilty of. Today, Gomes and Lima are dead, and the two doctors remained in prison for at least a decade after the original verdict, the subject of infrequent articles about the injustice of their positions. As of the writing of this book, their current status could not be determined.

			As for de Andrade, the leader of that rare cult that was victimized rather than victimizing others, she went back home and continued her UFO-inspired teaching, albeit with a much smaller group of followers after the big public relations hit of being linked to child murders. She died on December 31, 2022, in the city of Londrina, Paraná, at the age of ninety-one.
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			Synanon
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			Thugs, Not Drugs

			It was like the cold open of a detective show. On October 11, 1977, a Los Angeles lawyer named Paul Morantz arrived home from a day at the office. He saw an oddly shaped package in his mailbox and reached inside to retrieve it, but a sudden pain in his wrist caused him to shout and yank his arm out. Dangling from it was a four-and-a-half-foot-long rattlesnake. The fangs of the serpent dug deeply into his arm as he called out for help from his neighbors and tried to free himself from its inextricable grip. Even before he saw that the rattles on the snake had been removed to silence it, he knew that this was no mere chance desert encounter—it was a hit on his life. And he knew immediately who had placed that deadly snake in his mailbox: Synanon.

			Synanon, originally a wildly popular rehabilitation group for alcoholics and drug addicts, has greatly influenced the treatment of addiction to this day. Before it, drug addicts had no real path to rehabilitation; they were either incarcerated or hospitalized and basically given up on. Synanon believed that addicts could be saved from their addiction and recover, and it employed various “tough love”–style methods for achieving that goal. It also established the idea that addicts needed ex-addicts, more than clinicians who had never battled with drugs, to help them through sobriety. Or at least that’s how it worked before Synanon became a vicious cult that destroyed families, physically brutalized its critics, and trapped people within its programs (not to mention sticking rattlesnakes in mailboxes).

			The organization was started in 1958 by Charles Dederich, who was born in 1913 in Toledo, Ohio. He was heavyset, with asymmetrical features caused by partial paralysis from contracting meningitis at age twenty-nine. More important to this story, he was an alcoholic college dropout, middle-aged, broke, and in a second failing marriage. He wandered the beaches of Santa Monica, California, for years, falling further down a self-destructive spiral. Sometime around 1956, he stumbled into an Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) meeting, and it changed him in two ways: he stopped drinking and started leading.

			He diligently applied himself to the twelve steps, but found the real secret to kicking his addiction was communing with his fellow alcoholics. Even more, he reveled in the way they looked up to him. He had a straightforward approach and a commanding voice, and he was great with simple, quotable turns of phrase (“Today is the first day of the rest of your life” is often attributed to him). The New York Post once described him as having “the battered face of a professional wrestler, the soul of a philosopher and the command presence of a combat general.”

			He loved the peer experience so much that he started inviting people over to his house to share and debate and build camaraderie. Soon after, he welcomed drug addicts, too. At the time AA had no experience catering to the distinct needs of drug addicts; its sister group Narcotics Anonymous had started only a few years before and was still in the organizing stage. Dederich wasn’t a drug addict, though. His only real experience with drugs was in 1957, when, a year sober, he took LSD as a potential treatment for alcoholism as part of a controlled experiment by UCLA. That experience was apparently revelatory. According to Los Angeles magazine, Dederich said that the experiment was “the most important single experience in my entire life” and that he “became a different person, really and truly.” He even attributed his success with Synanon to the experience. But despite never being addicted to drugs, Dederich believed that the same methods that helped him heave the hooch would help others ditch the drugs.

			Soon his small home couldn’t hold all the attendees, so he set up shop in a Santa Monica storefront and welcomed anybody with substance abuse issues. At first he called it the Tender Loving Care Club, but he changed the name to Synanon when an attendee tripped over the words symposium and seminar. At least that’s one story. Another is that the word was simply a portmanteau of symposium and anonymous.

			Dederich’s methodology was severe. He would first make the addict go cold turkey. After days of agonizing withdrawal, the exhausted addict would be allowed to live with and work for the Synanon organization. Then, multiple times a week, they would play the Game, which was the defining feature of Synanon. During the Game, everyone gathered and spent hours verbally eviscerating each other. Participants were allowed to say anything they wanted about anybody to anybody, even to Dederich, and even if it was untrue. The verbal haranguing and pile-ons were intense and humiliating and exhausting but somehow exhilarating, and would sometimes last for two days. The only rule was that you couldn’t get physically violent. Whether intentionally or not, Dederich had identified and targeted an entire demographic that was incredibly vulnerable to brainwashing: addicts. Desperate for salvation from their addiction and no longer trusting their own decision-making, they were all too willing to cede control to Dederich, who took advantage in the worst way. The enforced withdrawal weakened them physically while “the Game” broke down their self-esteem, making them incredibly malleable under Dederich’s influence.

			Despite the apparent success of its program, Synanon had a rocky go at first. The building where they met was condemned, so Dederich moved his growing flock to the National Guard Armory building on the beach, in a much nicer neighborhood, but one whose residents weren’t keen to share it with a place where drug addicts and alcoholics congregated. Days after moving, Dederich was arrested for treating addicts without a license and for doing so in a residential area. He spent almost a month in jail. As he explained to the Los Angeles Times, “We started saving lives on the wrong side of town.”

			But the situation made Dederich and Synanon newsworthy in both the local and national press. They received supportive write-ups in the Los Angeles Times, the Los Angeles Mirror, and Time and Life magazines, all of which praised his cause, methods, and successes. Dederich claimed an 80 percent success rate with addicts, although he never had to prove that statistic, because Synanon wasn’t licensed or bound by grants with stipulations around making their results transparent. Overall, people seemed to love the program. An ex-member named Bill Lane, who was twenty when he entered Synanon to combat his drug addiction, told Los Angeles magazine, “I just got caught up in what was going on. In all honestly, I loved it. I had a fabulous experience. It saved my life.” The program was so popular that celebrities, including Rod Serling, Ray Bradbury, Leonard Nimoy, Jane Fonda, Charlton Heston, and Milton Berle, would often come to a meeting to speak or check it out. Hollywood even made a movie about Synanon in 1965. Called Synanon, it starred Edmond O’Brien as Dederich and Eartha Kitt as his third wife, Betty, a former sex worker and drug addict who had originally joined Synanon for help with her addiction. One of the taglines for the movie was: “Where only the damned want in, and only the desperate want out!”

			Buoyed by the press and support, Synanon thrived over the next decade. It grew to more than 1,300 members, in large part because it eventually began welcoming anybody who wanted to join, even if they weren’t addicts. These non-addict members were called “squares.” This caused a short-term legal headache, since now Synanon technically wasn’t a nonprofit treatment program anymore. In 1974, the IRS wanted to revoke Synanon’s tax-exempt status, but Dederich and his lawyers pulled an end-around and submitted paperwork registering the organization as a religion to keep the status.

			But it wasn’t just a legal ploy. Synanon had many characteristics of a religion—or at least a certain type of one. There were communally raised children, for instance, who participated in their own version of the Game (although Dederich actually preached against having any children at all and pushed members to get vasectomies and abortions. He thought children posed too much risk, especially after rumors of child abuse in the organization started appearing in the press). Synanon adherents also became instantly recognizable, because both male and female members shaved their heads, a practice that began as an initiation and punishment, then became an act of solidarity, and finally became mandatory. When director George Lucas needed people with shaved heads as background actors for his first movie—a dystopian science fiction film called THX 1138—he hired Synanon members.

			The organization’s religious status allowed it to avoid censure and also got around one of the biggest criticisms of Synanon up to that point: despite its claimed success rate, nobody ever seemed to graduate from the program. Addicts would come in and never leave. Dederich either came to believe that addicts could never fully recover without Synanon oversight, or he just relished being in control of their lives. But with Synanon now a religion, graduation was an irrelevant concept.

			By the late 1970s, Synanon had $22 million in assets, $8 million in annual revenue, and 5,500 acres of property all over California and in key spots across the country, as well as fleets of cars, trucks, boats, and aircraft. It also made millions per year selling Synanon-branded office supplies, which companies would purchase to support its noble cause. Dederich also created a security force within the organization called the Imperial Marines, who practiced a form of martial arts that they developed called syn-do. They owned some $200,000 worth of guns, which one of their newsletters explained was due to their concern over a “rising crime rate.”

			Betty died in 1977, and Dederich married a thirty-one-year-old Synanon member named Ginny Schorin. He was so invigorated by the act that he made everybody in the organization divorce and marry someone new, including his own daughter. It was a typical paradigm with Dederich. When he gave up cigarettes, the rest of the organization had to. When he started wearing overalls, it became the uniform. When he started watching his diet, everyone else was forced to follow suit.

			By the late 1970s and early 1980s, Synanon had started getting the opposite kind of press from what it had received in the early days. The media, members who had left (called “splittees” by Dederich and the faithful), and worried families of members started to realize that Synanon had transmogrified into a cult. A small, weekly California newspaper called the Point Reyes Light even won the Pulitzer Prize in 1979 for its investigations into Synanon.

			In response, Dederich got both litigious and violent. He would sue any media outlet that said disparaging things about his organization and sic his Imperial Marines on anybody critical of Synanon, including defectors. In a tape recovered by the police, he is recorded as saying, “Our religious posture is: Don’t mess with us. You can get killed dead, literally dead…. I am quite willing to break some lawyer’s legs, and next break his wife’s legs, and threaten to cut their child’s arm off…. I really do want an ear in a glass of alcohol on my desk.”

			When Synanon discovered a neighbor named Alvin Gambonini was reuniting runaways from the group with their non-member parents, Imperial Marines beat him in front of his wife and children. A man named Phil Ritter, who had sued to get his young daughter out of Synanon, was beaten with wooden mallets and left where he lay, his skull fractured, sliding into a coma that, fortunately, he recovered from. And then there was the infamous silent rattler in the mailbox. Its victim, Paul Morantz, would survive the bite (although he was hospitalized for a week) and go on to make a successful legal career out of fighting cults. According to him, more than eighty people had been attacked by Synanon. His own attack occurred because he had helped a young married couple named Frances and Ed Winn. Frances suffered from depression and had visited a family clinic to request a tranquilizer. Despite having no history of substance abuse, she was referred to Synanon. There, she was held down, had her head shaved, and then was kept against her will for nine days. Ed hired Morantz to get his wife back, which Morantz did after negotiating with Synanon leaders. He also sued Synanon and won the Winns a $300,000 verdict for their pain and suffering.

			The snake attack didn’t take down Morantz, but it is what finally took down Synanon. The police arrested the two Imperial Marines directly responsible for the hit, and Dederich for masterminding it. They found Dederich drunk out of his mind, with an empty bottle of Chivas Regal in front of him, and took the relapsed alcoholic to jail on a stretcher. The two Imperial Marines received yearlong prison sentences; due to his ill health, Dederich received probation, a condition of which was that he was no longer allowed to run Synanon. He moved with his wife to a double-wide trailer in Visalia, California, where he would live until 1997, when he died at age eighty-three.

			Synanon died six years before him, in 1991, after the IRS revoked its tax-exempt status and put it on the hook for $17 million. It went bankrupt and then went away.

			Dederich’s story starts at the bottle and ends at the bottle. What had the potential to be a life-changing and unique force for good in society became nothing more than a garden-variety cult, even without doomsday predictions or UFO fantasies or mass suicide. Just the delusions of grandeur of one man.
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			The Woman Who Survived Two Cults
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				Laura Johnston Kohl has an unenviable claim to fame. She was the Violet Jessop of cults; the Tsutomu Yamaguchi of cults. She survived two of the most infamous cults in history: the Peoples Temple and Synanon.

				Kohl joined Jim Jones and his Peoples Temple in 1970. She was twenty-two and incredibly socially and politically conscious: she had already protested the Vietnam War, gotten involved with the Black Panthers, and found herself at the Woodstock festival in 1969. She told the BBC in 2018, “My life was in turmoil. I had a failed marriage and I was looking for a place to be political in a safer environment after a series of bad decisions.”

				She believed she had found this safe environment in the Peoples Temple. Decades later, in an article for the San Diego State University Library, she wrote, “I thought that I was living the life of an activist in an egalitarian community with all types of people, and that our existence was a statement in itself.” Kohl spent eight years in Jim Jones’s cult. She even moved to Guyana and helped build Jonestown, but survived the massacre. Three weeks before the visit from Congressman Leo Ryan that precipitated it, she was assigned by Jones to the church headquarters far away in Georgetown, the capital of Guyana. She believed Jones sent her to the headquarters because he wanted his most ardent supporters there to welcome the congressman.

				After the massacre, she returned to California, traumatized and grieving, and eventually found herself in the welcoming arms of Charles Dederich and Synanon, the organization that began as a much-needed haven for recovering addicts and which transmogrified over time into a brutal cult. She spent about a decade in that cult as well, witnessing it degrade until it disbanded in 1991, after a series of crimes that included assault, attempted murder, kidnapping, and fraud.

				According to Kohl in that same San Diego State article, “Part of what attracted me to both groups is that I am a communalist; this also colors my perspective and my reflections on them. And while I found living in community the most fascinating time of my life, I would never return to either of these particular cults.” As an idealistic, energetic, community-minded young person, she was, unfortunately, the perfect target for these predatory cults.

				After surviving Synanon, Kohl started a family and became a practicing Quaker. She enjoyed a long career as an elementary school teacher. Throughout her life, she continued to write and speak about her experiences with cults. “My job as a survivor,” she told the San Diego Union-Tribune in 2018, “is to continue the conversation, to continue the search for understanding, and to teach that those who died in the [Jonestown] tragedy were some of the best people I could ever hope to meet in my life.”

				Kohl died of cancer on November 19, 2019. She was seventy-two.
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			The Seekers
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			Cosmic Dissonance

			The Seekers are an important cult, which is a phrase I haven’t used anywhere else in this book. It’s possibly the first-ever documented UFO cult, and that’s cool. But that’s not why it’s are important. The Seekers are important because, thanks to a few quick-acting and morally gray researchers, the cult was instrumental in the development of the idea of cognitive dissonance, a concept that has helped us understand how the human mind deals with conflicting information, and which is the foundation for the type of thinking demanded by cults. As a result, this story is less the story of a cult and more the story of the group of researchers who secretly infiltrated it.

			Leon Festinger was a social psychiatrist at the University of Minnesota. He had been studying past cults that had survived failed prophecies and was interested in the group dynamic involved. When he learned that there was a modern-day cult where he could get firsthand data, he gathered a team of researchers and jumped at the chance. And they had a bonanza of prophecy failures to analyze with the Seekers, because the Seekers kept prophesying that they would be rescued from imminent apocalypse by flying saucers. Even after they were proven wrong multiple times.

			Humanity has seen strange objects of all shapes in the sky throughout recorded history. However, the term flying saucer didn’t enter the vernacular until June 1947, when a pilot named Kenneth Arnold, flying near Mount Rainier in Washington, saw a formation of nine reflective objects flying extremely fast. He described them as thin and shaped like saucers. He even compared them to pie pans. As the story shot with the speed of a UFO through the national media, the objects would come to be known as flying saucers. And then for the next few weeks, hundreds more were seen in the skies across the country. One month after Arnold’s experience, the Roswell crash occurred, with all its attendant conspiracies, and it seemed humanity was at the edge of a new era, the skies of its home world full of extraterrestrial visitors.

			Meanwhile, Dorothy Martin, a housewife in her fifties who lived in the suburbs of Chicago, had no interest in a new era. Not at first, anyway. Firmly ensconced in the nineteenth century, she was a spiritualist and a medium. Martin used her spectral talents to communicate with the dead via a process called automatic writing. In a delightfully named article in the Atlantic, “The Christmas the Aliens Didn’t Come” (the meaning of which will make sense later), Martin described her process for connecting with spirits: “I felt a kind of tingling or numbness in my arm, and my whole arm felt warm right up to the shoulder. Without knowing why, I picked up a pencil and a pad that were lying on the table near my bed. My hand began to write in another handwriting. I looked at the handwriting and it was strangely familiar, but I knew it was not my own. I realized that somebody else was using my hand.”

			At first that somebody else was her deceased father. However, as the rest of the nation caught UFO fever, Martin did, too. She started attending New Age meetings and got into L. Ron Hubbard’s Dianetics, which at that point in time was just on the edge of congealing into Scientology. Soon, the entity that animated her writing hand wasn’t her father, but an extraterrestrial—multiple extraterrestrials, actually, including one named Elder Brother. Another was Sananda, who claimed to be the reincarnation of Jesus Christ.

			Eventually, a directive emerged from Martin’s cosmic sources. She was in contact with a race of aliens she called the Guardians. They were originally from a planet named Car, which had been destroyed by nuclear-like devices when the forces of light and darkness fought against each other. The Guardians scattered to the planets Clarion and Cerus, and were now able to contact her because humans’ own use of nuclear bombs had altered our atmosphere, allowing openings for extraterrestrial communications like a crack in a dam leaks water. And good thing, too, because the Guardians told Martin that the world would end in August 1954 due to an alien invasion, but that they would send a flying saucer to rescue her and anybody else she could get to believe their message.

			Before Martin’s talents for automatic writing and prophecy caught the attention of Leon Festinger, they caught the attention of Charles Laughead, a staff doctor at Michigan State University. Laughead was a UFO fanatic who had been organizing groups in his church and at his home to discuss the phenomena. He called his group the Seekers. Laughead joined forces with Martin, brought his Seekers into her fold, and became her biggest evangelist. The Seekers, though a small group of perhaps a dozen or so, now became a full-fledged UFO cult. Its followers even divested themselves of belongings to prepare for the science fiction rapture.

			When the time of the invasion neared, the Seekers followed the instructions of the Guardians, gathering at an airfield to await the flying saucer that would rescue them from the imminent apocalyptic war. They hung out at that airfield all day, but nothing saucer-shaped landed in the field, so they returned home. Fortunately, they had met a stranger while they waited, and Martin revealed that the man had been Sananda in disguise. She claimed they had done the right thing by putting into action their desire for salvation, and that their faith had not been in vain.

			Laughead soon started calling and sending press releases to the local papers, announcing that the end was nigh. The Chicago Tribune ran with the headline “Doctor Warns of Disasters in World Tuesday; Worst to Come in 1955, He Declares.” Unexpectedly, the failure at the airfield seemed to make the Seekers even more confident. As soon as their prediction was proven wrong, they simply changed the narrative and moved on, unperturbed.

			Eventually, Martin was able to get the real scoop from the Guardians. They told her the day of the true apocalypse was to be December 22, 1955. And instead of an alien invasion, Earth itself would be the instrument of doom: a worldwide flood would douse and re-form the continents, killing everyone except the Seekers. Again, the only way to be saved from that disaster was to hitch a ride on the Guardians’ spaceship, which would only pick up the faithful.

			By October 1955, those headlines had reached Leon Festinger, four hundred miles away in Minnesota. Here was his opportunity to finally observe firsthand the aftermath of a spectacularly failed prophecy. He and a small team of researchers who were focused on social groups made a daring plan: they traveled west to Chicago, pretended to be believers, and joined the cult.

			The cult gathered at Martin’s house in Oak Point, Illinois, and awaited further instructions for their retrieval. They already knew some of the tacticals. For instance, they were supposed to remove all metal from their persons, including zippers and bra clasps. Some crossed their fingers that the ban on metal during space travel didn’t apply to tooth fillings. They also had special passports (blank sheets of paper inside stamped envelopes) and a code phrase for entry: “I left my hat at home.” Meanwhile, the researchers secretly took notes on everything that was happening or being discussed in the group, sometimes running to the bathroom or nearby hotels to jot their observations down fresh.

			At 4 p.m. on December 17, the Seekers received a phone call from someone identifying himself as Captain Video. He told them the time was nigh and to head outside at midnight to board the flying saucer that would land for real this time to save them from the looming devastation. They grabbed their passports, double-checked for zippers, practiced their passwords, and headed out into Martin’s backyard. However, not so much as a plastic Frisbee landed there.

			The Seekers sheepishly went back inside. The phone call was almost certainly a prank (Captain Video was the name of a children’s show at the time), but the Seekers couldn’t accept that idea. In the discussion that followed, they concluded that they must have been tested again, both to prove their faith and as practice for boarding the flying saucer. After all, they would only get one shot to leave Earth, and if one of them so much as left an earring in a lobe, it could all be for naught. There was much scribbling of notes in the bathroom that night by the clandestine researchers.

			At midnight on December 22, the day of the prophesied flood, the Seekers again went out into the night, braless, zipperless, jewelryless, passports in hand. They waited for two hours in the midnight cold of that Illinois December, but not so much as a shooting star cracked the skies. When they finally retreated into Martin’s house, they made a decision. It was the same decision they had made twice already: they would try again.

			Two days later, at 6 p.m. on Christmas Eve, they solemnly exited Martin’s house, singing Christmas carols. And while children all over the world looked to the skies for Santa, the Seekers did the same for their saucer. And, of course, standing shoulder to shoulder with the Seekers on that Christmas Eve and belting out carols alongside them was the team of university researchers.

			This time, however, the Seekers and faux-Seekers weren’t alone. A crowd of two hundred gathered around Martin’s house, people who had read the newspaper articles and had heard about the strange little group and their unwavering faith in extraterrestrials. The crowd was unruly enough that the police had to make an appearance. Meanwhile, the Seekers stood there on that cold Christmas Eve like the Griswold family in National Lampoon’s Christmas Vacation, waiting for the 25,000 imported Italian twinkle lights to come on.

			When yet again the prophecy went unfulfilled, some of the Seekers finally accepted defeat and left the cult. But the most devout stayed. According to that same Atlantic article, the next day a stranger came to the door, and they welcomed him in, fed him, and hoped he was Sananda. As the visit dragged on, Martin would ask him, “Are you sure that you have no message for me? Now that we are alone, we can talk.” Turns out, he was just another of the researchers.

			Upon further discussion, the Seekers decided that the aliens had changed their plans: the faithful acts of the Seekers had made the hearts of the Guardians grow three sizes that night and they had decided not to drown the planet, as when God told Abraham he was just kidding about the whole “sacrifice your son” thing. In a subsequent interview with a local newsman, Laughead denied that the Seekers were ever supposed to be picked up by a flying saucer and claimed that they were just out singing Christmas carols because it was Christmas. He did say, though, that the aliens were there with them. According to When Prophecy Fails, the book Festinger would write about the cult, Laughead told the newsman: “It was a little hard to tell, but of course at the last when we broke up, why there was very evidently a spaceman there because he had his space helmet on and he had a big white gown on.” But, Laughead continued, he didn’t talk to the spaceman, nor did the Seekers, fearing a riot, make a big deal out of his appearance.

			After the events of the night, the police threatened to arrest Martin and Laughead on charges of disturbing the peace and corruption of minors (they had told children about the coming apocalypse and alien saviors), so they both left the area. Laughead ended up in California after he lost his position at Michigan State due to his constantly talking with his students about aliens and UFOs, but he stayed in UFO circles and remained friends with Martin. Martin ended up on a bit of an odyssey: through Arizona, Peru, and then Mount Shasta in California (a site important to mystics and UFO devotees). The entire time, she kept in contact with the Guardians and continued her prophecies. She called herself Sister Thedra and established the Order of Sananda and Sanat Kumara, the latter being another of the Guardians, and managed to accrue another small following, although no more headlines. She would die in Arizona at age ninety-two.

			In 1956, Leon Festinger and two of the other researchers, Henry Riecken and Stanley Schachter, would publish the aforementioned book, When Prophecy Fails: A Social and Psychological Study of a Modern Group That Predicted the Destruction of the World. It was both a firsthand account of the Seekers and the foundation for Festinger’s theory of cognitive dissonance, the impact of which has been massive in the field of psychology but also as a well-known lay concept.

			Festinger opined, partly based on his experiences with the Seekers, that human beings cannot assimilate conflicting ideas well, so they strive for internal consistency over objective truth. When new information is presented that goes against a tightly held belief (say, aliens not picking you up when they say they will), the brain goes into overdrive to come up with ways to keep that originally held belief safe. Basically, the human brain needs to rationalize more than it needs to reason. It needs stability more than fact.

			Of course, there were problems with Festinger’s methodology. The observer effect and moral concerns aside, merely joining the group encouraged the beliefs and actions of the Seekers. After all, the researchers swelled the ranks of the tiny cult by almost 30 percent, which is particularly important since one of Festinger’s criteria for cognitive dissonance to occur is strong social support.

			Still, what with all the alien saviors and near-miss apocalypses and influential social experiments, it was a Christmas few involved would ever forget.
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				We are all trying to get better at something. We read books, we take classes, we listen to experts, we study and we practice and we sweat and we sacrifice. We want to get healthier and smarter and richer and happier and more enlightened. And many cults claim to offer a path to making more of ourselves, to becoming better people. In the cults in this section, betterment was defined as fantastically as learning to live without food, evolving into aliens, or ascending to a state of purity with the famous dead, or as mundanely as losing weight or excelling at business. Invariably, though, these paths ended not in betterment, but in abuse and death.
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			Remnant Fellowship Church
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			Squeezing Through the Eye of a Needle

			The giants of diet and weight loss loom large in our culture. They include Jenny Craig. Robert Atkins. Jean and her Weight Watchers. Dr. Arthur Agatston and his South Beach Diet. Dr. Walter Voegtlin and his carnivorous Paleolithic diet. Harold Katz and Nutrisystem. Over the late twentieth and early twenty-first century, we looked to them as our last desperate and futile bulwarks against the so-called obesification of America. And then there was Gwen Shamblin. She was the Christian version of these diet gurus, with one key difference—none of those other personalities ever built a cult.

			Shamblin’s take on fitness was certainly unique—or, rather, her take on thinness was. Born in 1955 in Memphis, Tennessee, she earned degrees in dietetics and nutrition from the University of Tennessee, then worked for both Memphis State University and the Tennessee Department of Health. In 1978, she married David Shamblin, an accountant. Also, like most people in Tennessee, she was raised a Christian—in her case, in the Church of Christ, a conservative, nondenominational Christian sect whose main distinguishing characteristics are that they don’t believe in using musical instruments in worship services and they don’t believe that baptism is a necessary part of salvation.

			In 1986, after struggling with her own weight and career path, Shamblin merged her two passions, diet and deity, to create the Weigh Down Workshop (later referred to as Weigh Down Ministries), a Christian diet regimen that she taught through twelve-week courses and videos. Except that Shamblin didn’t like calling her program a diet—which was a great marketing angle, but also fairly accurate. She didn’t prohibit any types of food, and she didn’t see exercise as a solution to being overweight. She explained her philosophy in her usual colorful way in a 2000 Wall Street Journal interview: “Diets made God look stupid. He was the chef behind lasagna. He loves sour cream. He was not happy that broccoli became righteous while Haagen Dazs became sin.”

			Shamblin believed that God had designed the human body to police its own appetites. You should eat when you get hungry, and stop eating when that hunger is satiated. And when you get cravings that have nothing to do with a growling stomach? You pray them away. Shamblin thought most diets focused too much on food. On calories. On fats. It was almost idolatry. The basic tenet of Weigh Down was to replace love of food with love of God. In interviews she liked to say, “I teach people how to stop bowing down to the refrigerator, and how to bow back down to Him.” In a 2008 interview with Matt Lauer on Today, she explained her weight-loss program as a path to a higher level of satiation: “God, can you make me feel better than rocky road ice cream?”

			At some point she adopted a towering bright blond hairdo and thick eye makeup, easily identifiable and caricaturable. And, of course, she was thin. She gave numerous interviews on television—on Larry King Live, The Tyra Banks Show, and the BBC—as well as to major newspapers and magazines. She would often appear with followers who had found success in losing weight through her program. “The Lord has delivered me from Little Debbie cakes,” said one adherent in a profile of Shamblin in the New Yorker. Shamblin sold millions of books, and her program was adopted in churches all over the world. According to the HBO documentary series The Way Down: God, Greed, and the Cult of Gwen Shamblin, her teachings spread to “more than 250,000 people in over 1,400 congregations and 70 countries.” It belied what she said in the aforementioned Wall Street Journal article: “I am not a savvy businessperson. I’m just a dumb blonde with a genuine heart for God, who found the golden product that everyone wanted.”

			And maybe, had she continued to focus on Weigh Down Ministries, she would have simply continued to be the face of skinny Christians headed down the narrow way. But she set her sights higher. In 1999, she left the Church of Christ and started her own religious sect. She called it the Remnant Fellowship Church, a reference to Ezra 9:8, in which a remnant group of faithful is protected and made to prosper by God. She believed other churches were too progressive and worldly and that the church she was establishing was the only true way to God. She bought forty acres in Brentwood, Tennessee, and built a church on the property. And then she alienated most of her audience.

			One of her first acts after creating the Remnant Fellowship Church was to deny the long-held Christian doctrine of the Trinity—that the one God has three equal manifestations: the Father, the Son Jesus Christ, and the Holy Spirit. She announced this take to 40,000 people in her weekly email newsletter in August 2000. This belief disturbed many of the churches that had been offering her diet programs to their congregations, causing them to cancel her appearances and classes and to send back her materials. Her Christian publisher, Thomas Nelson, canceled an upcoming book by her.

			But, turns out, the loss of a large portion of her base didn’t matter. Weigh Down was a juggernaut movement, and now that Shamblin was in charge of people’s souls as well as their bodies, she pushed her ideas even further. For her, thinness was next to godliness, and a person’s BMI was direct and immediate evidence of whether they were operating within God’s will or not. She also started espousing the principles of her non-diet as a methodology to deal with any perceived addiction or sin: drugs, booze, even homosexuality. Despite tossing out the Trinity, Remnant Fellowship Church was extremely conservative in other ways. They believed that wives should be deferential to their husbands and encouraged physical punishment of children (paddling with foot-long glue sticks was a common suggestion for keeping kids in line).

			However, rumors spread that behind the high hair and makeup was the face of an abuser. Shamblin had immense power over her followers, and their lives and appearances were vital to Shamblin’s brand and income streams. As a result, members were encouraged to do more than just listen to their bodies to lose weight: they were pushed to do anything to shed the pounds, including starving themselves. Those who couldn’t lose weight were treated badly, and people were threatened if they tried to leave the church. According to Marina Zenovich, the director and producer of The Way Down, Shamblin’s church was not about taking care of one’s temple, but about “power and controlling people’s lives, controlling their weight, controlling their marriages, controlling their finances.”

			In 2003, some of that rumored abuse hit the news when two Atlanta-based members of the Remnant Fellowship Church, Joseph and Sonya Smith, were found guilty of beating their eight-year-old son, Josef, to death as part of a routine practice of corporal punishment encouraged by Shamblin’s church. The parents were sentenced to life in prison plus thirty years. A Nashville television station released a recording in which Shamblin was heard praising the Smiths for locking Josef in a closet for three days with nothing but a Bible. Today, the church still maintains the innocence of the Smiths and claims that Josef died from septic shock caused by an infection.

			In 2018, Shamblin divorced her husband of almost forty years and married Joe Lara, an actor who had garnered brief fame for playing Tarzan in both a movie and a short-lived television series. Meanwhile, the now Gwen Shamblin Lara continued to make money hand over fist, which she claimed all went to taxes or to the church, despite evidence that much of it was fattening her bank account and real estate holdings.

			Still, she seemed to be unconquerable, as if God really was on her side. However, all that changed on May 29, 2021, when she, along with six other church leaders, boarded a 1982 Cessna Citation 501 private jet for a jaunt to Palm Beach, Florida, to attend one of Donald Trump’s “Make America Great Again” rallies. The plane, piloted by Joe Lara, crashed into Percy Priest Lake near Smyrna, Tennessee, shortly after takeoff. Everyone aboard the plane died. Besides Shamblin and her husband, the victims of the crash included her son-in-law Brandon Hannah, as well as church leaders David and Jennifer Martin and Jonathan and Jessica Walters.

			Investigations determined that the cause of the crash was a mechanical failure in the thirty-nine-year-old aircraft, and that nobody on the plane was certified to fly. Both Joe Lara and Brandon Hannah had pilot licenses, but they had let their certifications lapse and were not qualified to fly the plane.

			Interestingly enough, although Shamblin seemed to have invested a large amount of money into the Remnant Fellowship Church over the years, it was not named in her will. Everything in her massive estate went to her two children. Adding to the irony was that, at the time of her death, Shamblin was in the middle of filming a video series castigating greed and exhorting her followers to give their wealth to the church.

			The loss of Shamblin and an entire leadership team should have spelled the end for the Remnant Fellowship Church. But Shamblin’s daughter, Elizabeth Hannah, stepped in to lead both the church and the weight-loss program. Today, the church continues Shamblin’s mission and vision. According to its website, church services are streamed to more than a hundred Remnant Fellowship groups across the world.

			And Shamblin’s persona is still a large part of the church and its outreach. She, after all, achieved her ultimate goal: dying thin.
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			I AM
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			From Shasta Hiker to Shyster

			I AM started in the early 1930s when an occultist named Guy Ballard hiked the mysterious Mount Shasta in Northern California, met an immortal, drank something weird, and then sold more branded merch based on that encounter than the rock band KISS.

			Ballard, who was born in Kansas in 1878, served in the army during World War I and then became a mining engineer. In 1916, he married Edna, a professional harpist from Iowa. Both were extremely interested in the occult, with Edna sometimes offering her services as a medium. They had been living in Chicago, but when Guy received a work assignment in California, they couldn’t pass up a visit to the legendary Mount Shasta.

			Mount Shasta is a 14,180-foot-tall dormant volcano that to this day is Disneyland for New Age proponents and occultists. Stories and lore surround the mountain like fog, and its slopes are often swarming with people who have made pilgrimages to the site. The Klamath tribe hold that a great sky spirit named Skell fought a battle there with an underworld spirit, a probable reference to its volcanic past. Bigfoot and lizard people are said to populate its flanks. Alien craft hide in the lenticular clouds that form at its peak. It’s supposedly packed with gold and gemstones. But the strangest story of all is that its interior is the site of the city of Telos, which is inhabited by a race of seven-foot-tall refugees from the lost continent of Lemuria, which flooded during a nuclear war with Atlantis.

			Guy himself wanted to ascend its paths because he had heard legends of a group who resided there called the Brotherhood of Mount Shasta. They were part of the Great White Brotherhood, a mystical organization of immortal, enlightened beings who oversaw the spiritual evolution of humanity. Its membership included, naturally, Jesus Christ, Buddha, and Krishna. These members, also called Ascended Masters, had skipped bodily death and entered a higher level of existence. While at Mount Shasta, Guy managed to meet another Ascended Master, a chap named Saint Germain, and so Guy added his own lore to the rich weirdness of Mount Shasta.

			According to his 1934 book, Unveiled Mysteries, Guy met a stranger while hiking the mountain who magically filled his cup with a “creamy liquid” that the stranger explained was “Omnipresent Life.” Guy experienced an “electric vivifying effect” when he drank it. As the stranger’s clothes transformed into a jeweled white robe and a ring of white fire surrounded them, he revealed himself as Saint Germain, an Ascended Master. Germain then preached for days about love and light while flying Guy through time and space to witness his past lives, as well as mines full of treasures. Saint Germain also led Guy deep inside Mount Shasta to see the fabled Lemurian wonders and even introduced him to a Venusian or two. Guy also hung out with a panther that became his companion during these visits. According to Germain, to Guy’s surprise, he, his wife, and his son, Don, were all in the club of Ascended Masters, too. Or were destined to be, at least, when it was their time to ascend.

			Now, a lot of what Guy witnessed and wrote about in Unveiled Mysteries (as well as subsequent books) wasn’t original to him. He and Edna were big into theosophy, a religious movement started in America in the late nineteenth century by a Russian mystic named Helena Blavatsky. Her ideas likewise involved transcendent human masters who were helping people purify themselves through reincarnation until they could ascend to a higher, more enlightened plane of existence. She was even the one to anoint Saint Germain among the brotherhood. Before Blavatsky, Saint Germain was known to history as an eccentric eighteenth-century European whose real name and origins were never known (although, among many other titles, he referred to himself as a count). He basically traipsed across the continent making wild claims and playing music. A letter from English writer Horace Walpole, who was his contemporary, described him this way: “He sings, plays on the violin wonderfully, composes, is mad, and not very sensible. He is called an Italian, a Spaniard, a Pole; somebody that married a great fortune in Mexico, and ran away with her jewels to Constantinople; a priest, a fiddler, a vast nobleman.” Count Saint Germain also claimed to be five hundred years old, which might be why Blavatsky concluded he was a master.

			Back to Guy Ballard. With his anointment by the Count as an eventual Ascended Master at Mount Shasta, Guy was ready to kick-start a religious organization of his own. So he and his family moved to one of the best places on the planet to do that: Los Angeles. There, they started I AM (sometimes called the I AM Movement or I AM Activity or I AM Presence or Mighty I AM). The name was a reference to Exodus 3:14, in which God tells Moses to lead the Israelites out of Egypt. Moses asks God his name so that he can tell the Israelites who sent him, and God answers, “I AM THAT I AM” (in the King James Version. Other versions translate God’s response as “I AM WHO I AM”). The name of Ballard’s group could also be seen as an abbreviation of Ascended Master, or even Accredited Messenger, which is what the Ballards called themselves, since they technically hadn’t ascended yet. They also started the Saint Germain Foundation and Press, through which they printed and sold books such as the aforementioned Unveiled Mysteries, its follow-up, The Magic Presence, and a series of dictations from various Ascended Masters. Guy wrote under the pseudonym Godfre Ray King, and Edna wrote under Lotus Ray King. And then they launched lecture tours across the country.

			Ballard’s tales of personal betterment, miraculous healing, and wealth gathering (as part of his initiation, he learned that one of his missions was to distribute the wealth that Saint Germain had shown him) were well received by many. It was the Great Depression, people were aching for hope and escape, and the promises of healing and riches were wildly appealing. The Ballards told their followers to abstain from drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, sex, and indoor pets. They told them to avoid onion and garlic, since the Ascended Masters apparently didn’t like the smell. They also pushed American patriotism pretty hard, as the Ascended Masters had apparently told the Ballards that the United States was pivotal to their plans for future worldwide enlightenment. They would have followers chant “decrees” as a way of manifesting their desires by actively accessing and directing the I AM presence within them, with maybe an assist from the Ascended Masters. According to the website of the European branch of I AM, while prayer is a hopeful request of God, decrees are perceived as more active.

			They also sold merch. Plenty of merch. Besides all the books, they offered I AM pins and rings, phonograph records of sermons and Edna’s harp solos, pictures of the Ascended Masters, and even cold cream, according to one Los Angeles Times article. They also sold an electric device with colored lights on it that they called a “Flame in Action.” It was a meditation aid and healing device of sorts. The one thing they didn’t charge for were the lectures themselves—at first, anyway. Eventually, the Ballards couldn’t resist the temptation and began accepting what they termed “love gifts” from followers. They even went so far as to provide envelopes at their lectures for the love gifts. According to a 1938 Time article that offered a firsthand account of an I AM meeting (to which the Ballards rolled up in a cream-colored limousine with a giant harp strapped to the back), the Ballards said that they allowed these offerings because they “no longer deny to their followers the right to make contributions.”

			The movement grew. I AM had reading rooms and auditoriums in cities all over California, as well as in Florida, Washington, Illinois, and Pennsylvania. Some accounts number its membership as high as one million by 1938. Others place it at 400,000 or 700,000 members. A 2003 article from the International Cultic Studies Association estimated it more conservatively, at between 10,000 and 50,000. The discrepancy probably reflects the difficulty of knowing who was officially part of I AM, since many nonbelievers attended their meetings, got on their mailing lists, and, I assume, bought their cold cream.

			Regardless, I AM was a wildly successful venture until 1939, when Guy made the awkwardly timed decision to ascend. He died at age sixty-one of complications related to heart disease and cirrhosis of the liver. Beyond the practical effects of losing a leader, the movement found itself in an awkward spot—because Guy wasn’t supposed to die. He was supposed to ascend, like Jesus’s resurrection into the clouds. However, Edna and Don, who stepped up to take his father’s place in the family business, tweaked their theology and announced that physical death could be part of the ascension process.

			Many of their followers didn’t buy it and started coming forward to report unfulfilled promises of healing and enrichment. See, the Ballards often claimed secret knowledge, given to them by the Ascended Masters, of hidden gold and jewelry deposits around the world. At one point, the Ballards even sold stakes in lakes they claimed were full of gold. But those investments never panned out. They had also apparently failed to restore the eyesight of a blind senator. In another situation, a seventy-five-year-old woman donated all her earthly possessions to I AM based on the promise that she would be cared for in this life and the next. According to the Los Angeles Times, Edna’s reply concerning the woman was, “We’re no more obliged to return the money or pay her bills than any ministers would be. I know how to turn their evil back into them. If she’d brought as much love and blessing into the world as I have, she wouldn’t be in this fix.”

			Of course, some of Edna’s testiness could be due to the fact that she, her son, and eight members of their inner circle were currently on trial for eighteen counts of mail fraud from all their proselytizing and fundraising. The trial and its multiple reviews lasted through 1944, with the court ultimately finding them guilty of mail fraud for collecting $3 million from followers. The verdict was initially upheld on appeal to the US Supreme Court, but on further review the charges were dropped on a technicality, since the court had refused to allow any women on the jury. However, I AM was still fined and forbidden from using the US Postal Service until 1954.

			Edna, Don, and the dwindling faithful who were left continued with I AM. Edna would ascend in Chicago in February 1971. An article from the McClatchy Newspapers and AP services from June of that same year said of her passing, “The event went unpublicized because the movement does not believe in death.”

			As for I AM itself, the movement is still around. According to its website, saintgermainfoundation.org, I AM maintains a network of hundreds of temples and sanctuaries all over the world. The most interesting place to see the group, however, is probably back at Mount Shasta, where they perform pageants every year. Say hi to Saint Germain if you end up attending.
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			NXIVM
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			A Self-Help Guru and His Starlet Sex Slaves

			Self-help is a bit of a misnomer, as those seeking it invariably trust someone else for that help, whether they’re searching for advice online, in a book, or in person. Unfortunately, many of those self-help gurus are more interested in helping themselves to people’s bank accounts than in helping them achieve betterment. And that, plus sexual abuse, was the modus operandi for Keith Raniere, leader of NXIVM (pronounced NEX-ee-um).

			Keith Raniere was born in Brooklyn, New York, in 1960. His career comprised a series of pyramid schemes—those illegal hierarchical business strategies in which only the few at the top of the pyramid benefit, and only through heavy recruitment rather than creating and positioning a competitive product. In the 1980s, he worked for Amway, which uses a multilevel marketing (MLM) business model that is similar to a pyramid scheme, but is legal since it technically sells legitimate products. Throughout the 1990s, Raniere launched multiple pyramid schemes of his own. His first was Consumers’ Buyline, which collapsed when the state of New York took him to court for falling on the wrong side of the extremely thin pyramid-MLM divide. He pleaded “no contest” and was required to pay a $40,000 fine, although he only managed to pay about 25 percent of it. His next foray into predatory business schemes was his National Health Network, which ostensibly peddled vitamins. Attorney Douglas Brooks, who specializes in victims of MLMs, told CNBC that these types of businesses “use a number of techniques to sort of get people to lower their guard and to stop thinking critically, not treating it as a business, but treating it as a way that they’re going to fulfill their dreams.” You can see why MLMs and pyramid schemes are excellent blueprints for cult-like predation.

			Raniere leveled up his con when he met Nancy Salzman. Salzman was a former nurse and therapist who became enamored with Raniere. They combined his expertise in pyramid schemes and her knowledge of therapy practices to create and launch NXIVM in 1998. The name has been attributed to an ancient Roman loan program called nexum, or perhaps it’s simply evocative of the phrase “next millennium.” NXIVM was headquartered in Clifton Park, New York, just outside Albany. Raniere dubbed himself “Vanguard,” after a video game, and Salzman became the “Prefect” of the organization. The main product of NXIVM was its Executive Success Programs (ESP). Corporate executives are uniquely vulnerable to self-help schemes due to the intense pressures and stakes of their jobs, plus they, both personally and through their companies, often have money to invest under the auspices of development and improvement.

			As for the program, it was a mishmash of ideologies and ideas, including Scientology, Ayn Rand’s works, the human potential development movement, neurolinguistic programming therapy, and eye movement desensitization and reprocessing. According to Forbes, Salzman described Raniere’s program thusly in a brochure: “There is probably no discovery since writing as important for humankind as Mr. Raniere’s technology.” Technology was a term Raniere used for this system of recycled ideas. He even tried to get a patent on the program. Unsuccessfully.

			Recruitment for ESP was stellar, not just in terms of numbers (the most recent estimates indicate that around 16,000 people total attended NXIVM seminars), but in the caliber of people they were able to convince to attend seminars and even join the organization, including Hollywood actresses, billionaire businessmen and their scions, and Mexican political families. A cofounder of BET once attended a seminar, as did a former US surgeon general and various Fortune 500 CEOs.

			Despite the success of the program and its veneer of corporate self-help, it was quickly apparent to some that Raniere was actually building a cult. Less than five years after NXIVM was established, Forbes published an article stating, “Detractors say he runs a cult-like program aimed at breaking down his subjects psychologically, separating them from their families and inducting them into a bizarre world of messianic pretensions, idiosyncratic language, and ritualistic practices.” Many of the hallmarks of a cult were there immediately—for instance, the aggrandizement of its leader. Raniere was called a child prodigy, feted as a world record holder for highest IQ, and upheld as the most ethical man in the world. (Although it seems strange that someone so seemingly gifted would dedicate his life to pyramid schemes.)

			In addition, the programs themselves were less like classes for improving one’s career and life and more like initiations and indoctrinations. Attendees would recite ESP’s twelve-point mission statement, including such declarations as, “I pledge to share and enroll people in ESP and its mission for myself, and to help make the world a better place to live” and “Part of the condition of being accepted into ESP is to keep all its information confidential. If I violate this, I am breaking a promise and breaching my contract, but more importantly, I am compromising my inner honesty and integrity.” Members wore colored sashes to show their level of accomplishment within the organization. They had special handshakes and bowed to their leaders. And, of course, everybody had to sign confidentiality agreements. There was also no end to the money they were pressured to spend on escalating levels of classes.

			The NXIVM methodology was particularly insidious. Raniere practiced what he called “exploration of meaning,” in which he would force attendees to confess to the entire group their past traumas, the purpose of which was ostensibly to track how those past wounds influenced their current mental processes. In some ways, it was a legitimate psychological undertaking, although such methods are usually conducted privately between a patient and a licensed therapist, not in front of an entire group as part of a seminar. A therapist named Kelly Scott told Business Insider that NXIVM “fetishizes vulnerability,” which she quickly corrected to “fetishizes exploitation.” Toni Natalie, who had dated Raniere long before NXIVM, explained him to Rolling Stone this way: “What Keith was able to do was immediately ascertain your weak points and insecurities. And then he takes those insecurities and convinces you he’s helping you with them. But it’s just things he uses to hold you hostage.”

			Still, nothing came of the Forbes article. In 2012, the Albany Times Union picked up the baton and published an in-depth investigation into NXIVM, in which cult expert Rick Ross said, “NXIVM is one of the most extreme groups I have ever dealt with in the sense of how tightly wound it is around the leader.” The bad press was starting to pile up, but nothing really affected NXIVM until 2017, when the New York Times investigated the group. And they did so only because the story had shifted from one of a charismatic leader who’d hoodwinked wealthy executives to one of a sex trafficking cult.

			In 2015, Raniere established a group within NXIVM called DOS. It wasn’t out of character for him to establish smaller entities within the cult. He had already created Jness, a group that focused on women empowering women, and the Society of Protectors, which did the same for men. However, DOS was drastically different from those two organizations. The acronym stood for Dominus Obsequious Sororium, ostensibly a Latin phrase that meant something along the lines of “Dominating obedient women”—give or take a syllable.

			Women were recruited into this group under the guise of female empowerment. A Canadian actress named Sarah Edmondson, who joined DOS and became the first member to expose it, described to CNBC in 2021 how her recruiter pitched the group to her: “She told me it was an international women’s group that would be totally underground, and a group of women working together to be a force for good in the world. I felt like I met the people that I was going to be working with to change the world.” For Edmondson and many like her, NXIVM’s attraction went far beyond the persuasions of a charismatic leader. NXIVM presented idealistic people with the opportunity to work toward the betterment of both the individual and society. Keith Raniere was able to exploit these well-meaning impulses because, so often, people are more dedicated to and will cross more lines for an ideal than they will for any one person, including themselves or their cult leader.

			What Edmondson and some 150 other members discovered about DOS was that its real purpose was to coerce them into being sex slaves for Raniere. Their first initiation was a branding. Each member was held down naked on a table while Raniere’s initials were branded into her pelvis. During the initiation they were forced to recite, “Please brand me. It would be an honor. An honor I want to wear for the rest of my life.” Sometimes the brand also included the initials of the official face of DOS, Allison Mack, an actress who had achieved minor prominence on the cast of the long-running Superman-inspired TV show Smallville.

			The women of DOS were pressured into providing blackmail information about themselves, including nude videos and signed statements that falsely claimed they had been sexually abused by family members. They were forced to gather naked while Raniere preached at them. He would have sex with them and convince them to have abortions if they got pregnant. Raniere would tell the women that sex with him would relieve them of sexual trauma, talk them into group sex, and regale them with mystical notions that those who ingested his semen would see a magical blue light. When they didn’t respond to him in ways he found appropriate, the women would be whipped with a leather strap or forced to stand barefoot in snow. One woman, who was from Mexico, was held hostage inside a house for two years under threat of deportation. Some of the women recruited and used to service Raniere weren’t women, but girls as young as fifteen.

			These salacious details and their connection to Hollywood actresses finally caught the attention of the media, the public, and the police. In 2018, authorities ambushed Raniere, who had been hiding at a house in Mexico since the New York Times articles came out. Raniere and five women who were in leadership roles in the organization were charged with enough crimes to shock a mob boss: visa fraud, racketeering, identity theft, immigration fraud, extortion, forced labor, sex trafficking, money laundering, wire fraud, obstruction of justice, possession of child pornography, and sexual exploitation of a child.

			Salzman, the group’s prefect, was sentenced to forty-two months in prison. At her sentencing, she told the court, “It has taken some time and soul searching to come to this place. I accept that some of what I did was not just wrong, but criminal.” Her daughter, Lauren Salzman, who was another of Raniere’s lovers, received five years of probation and community service. Clare Bronfman, an heir to the Seagram liquor fortune who, along with her sister, Sara, helped bankroll NXIVM, was sentenced to eighty-one months in prison. Kathy Russell, the bookkeeper for NXIVM, received two years of probation and community service. Allison Mack was sentenced to three years in prison. All of these women except for Bronfman testified against Raniere. Bronfman told the judge, according to the US Attorney’s Office, that Keith Raniere and NXIVM had “changed her life for the better.”

			As for Keith Raniere, the Vanguard himself, he received 120 years in prison after the jury deliberated for less than half a day. He pops up in the news every once in a while asking for a retrial. And he still has followers—all women. They protested outside his jail after his sentencing, and in March 2023 he was busted for sending messages to some of those loyalists, including Clare Bronfman and Nicki Clyne, an actress best known for her role in the Battlestar Galactica series who was once married to Allison Mack.

			These were celebrities. Actresses. Business mavens. People with ambition. People who would probably never join a UFO or apocalypse cult. And, yet, they still became members of a cult. Nobody’s safe.
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			Ho No Hana Sanpogyo
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			A Fetish for Feet and Fraud

			It was 1996, and US President Bill Clinton was preparing for a second term in office. He was campaigning, courting donors, and burnishing his record. In May of that year, the president found himself at the Sheraton Carlton Hotel in Washington, DC, for a Democratic National Committee (DNC) fundraiser. At one point, he was ushered into a private room where two men quickly presented him with the “Mahatma Gandhi World Peace Award.” The two men were Yogesh Gandhi—who claimed to be a distant relative of the Mahatma—and Hogen Fukunaga. They had arranged this moment by donating $325,000 to the $5,000-a-plate event. As they gave him the award (a bust of Gandhi’s head, plus $100,000 in cash), Fukunaga shook hands with the president. Little did Clinton know how many thousands of feet those hands had touched. But Fukunaga wasn’t a podiatrist, nor a shoe salesman. He was a foot reader, a scam artist, and a cult leader.

			Hogen Fukunaga was born in 1945 in Yamaguchi, Japan, as Teruyoshi Fukunaga. His father died in World War II, before his birth. He grew up in Tokyo and learned electrical engineering, and in 1976 he opened a store that sold electric massagers. It prospered for three years before going bankrupt in 1979, so he changed careers…to savior of the human race. Fukunaga claimed that he was the final messiah after Jesus Christ and Buddha and started obeying the commands of what he termed a “Voice of Heaven” that only he could hear. According to Fukunaga, he was in the middle of a suicide attempt when he heard this voice. It saved him and prepared him to accept the mantle of messiah.

			However, the new field that Fukunaga was dipping his toes into was a crowded one. Every cult leader and their mother (and there were a lot of cult leaders in 1980s Japan) was making the exact same claim. But Fukunaga found a way to differentiate his brand of miracle-working and prophecy. If Buddha could turn his footprints into icons and Christ could make a big deal about washing feet, Fukunaga could read people’s fortunes in them.

			In 1987, he started a group called Ho No Hana Sanpogyo, which has been translated as “Way of the Flower/Three Teachings” or “Flower of Law and the Three Law Practice.” The sect was officially registered as a religion in the city of Fuji, near the famous mountain, and a headquarters was established there that Fukunaga called Tensei-mura (“Heaven’s Voice Village”).

			Fukunaga also started releasing books about his new religion. He wrote over a hundred of them, cribbing most of his ideas from other religions and movements. One of the books was entitled How Can You Call Yourself Human If You Haven’t Saved 5.5 Billion Yen? His primary teaching was that energy flows from the head down the spine, and that when it gets blocked, it causes mental, physical, and situational ills. His solution to this interrupted energy was vague but was often translated by the media as “taking off your mind.” Later, it would be discovered that all these books, like the Bible itself, were ghostwritten.

			Most notably, Fukunaga claimed that he could tell people’s pasts and futures, and even diagnose their illnesses, by reading their feet. He claimed that short toes meant short tempers and that fat toes were omens of good futures. If a toe had a blemish on it, he could tell which family member the trouble originated from, depending on the toe. He believed he could predict a person’s death from cancer or AIDS just by looking at imperfections in their foot; could see if the person was about to fall into debt or hit a stretch of prosperity; and could tell whether the foot owner or their children were destined to commit suicide.

			And these fortune-telling sessions weren’t casual, informational exercises. They were life-or-death. He told his recruits they would die if they didn’t get their feet read, and to do so was an absolute steal at $960. The foot-fortunes were almost universally ominous, and for a very specific reason: The cure for what ailed the client was invariably a Ho No Hana Sanpogyo seminar. And the sufferer or future sufferer needed to act fast. In many cases, clients were told that if they didn’t join a seminar immediately, there would be no hope for their case.

			These seminars cost upward of $24,000 and could last as long as five days. Attendees were kept from eating and sleeping, forced to exercise and chant slogans, and forbidden to talk to each other or anybody outside the seminar. At the end, exhausted and bleary, they were cajoled into buying holy items to seal their treatment, including religious scrolls or what were claimed to be pinches of Buddha’s ashes.

			According to a 2000 article in the Independent, a member named Kenji Sakurai came to a Ho No Hana Sanpogyo center in Tokyo at the advice of a friend. “I took off my socks and they looked at my soles and began talking,” he told the paper. “At first I really didn’t believe it 100 percent.” But then they read his fortune with astonishing accuracy. The foot exam was brief—about ten minutes—but it yielded more information than a series of diagnostic MRIs. They correctly gleaned that Sakurai was suffering from stomachaches, that his eyesight was failing, and that he had a relative who had committed suicide. He was told that he would never be happy in marriage, which rang true to the man, who was single despite his best efforts. “Nothing seemed to be working out for me in those days, and I expected failure from everything,” said Sakurai. “They said to me, ‘You have great potential, but you are not fulfilling it.’ One by one, he pointed out all the things that I was worrying about. I couldn’t help but believe.” The foot readers told him what he needed to do to fix his life, step one of which was to send them $20,000, which he immediately did. The truth of the matter was that his friend had apprised the cult leaders of Sakurai’s situation, and Sakurai was looking for any way out of his current malaise.

			Over the next decade, Fukunaga’s religious footprint grew. He amassed as many as 30,000 adherents, branched out into multiple cities, and created a core leadership team who were also imbued with the power to interpret heels, soles, and toes, although only Fukunaga could hear the Voice of Heaven. It’s estimated that the cult made as much as $820 million, and Fukunaga flaunted that wealth. He would wear $5,000 suits, and his wife would go on monthly $7,000 shopping sprees. The aforementioned Independent article described him this way: “Mr. Fukunaga is six foot three, and wears expensive suits, with his hair greased back above his brows. Fukunaga’s appearance suggested…the confident face of the successful businessman.” The article notes that such an appearance had tremendous appeal in Japan, a culture in which many people’s lives revolved around the corporations they worked for.

			To raise the cult’s profile, Fukunaga would invest large amounts of money in arranging face-to-face moments with global celebrities, including Mother Teresa, Indian guru Sai Baba, Mikhail Gorbachev, and Pope John Paul II. In that last encounter, Fukunaga brought His Holiness a pair of rings, put one on, and asked the Pope to wear the other. Later, when a Ho No Hana Sanpogyo newsletter reported on the meeting, they altered the story to say that the Pope brought the rings and asked Fukunaga to join him in wearing them as an “expression of solidarity in efforts to achieve world peace.” The story went on to say, “Our leader then heard the voice of God say that the spirit of Jesus Christ’s salvation dwells in the ring.”

			As for the Bill Clinton encounter, it turned out that Fukunaga wasn’t the only con man at that award ceremony. Three years later, his copresenter, Yogesh Gandhi, would be indicted for mail fraud and tax evasion. It was quickly uncovered that he wasn’t actually related to Gandhi, and that Fukunaga regularly financially supported this man and his foundation in order to get his foot in the door with famous people. In fact, Fukunaga himself was a fellow recipient of the award. The foundation shut down soon after. The DNC would later return the $325,000.

			The recruitment methodology for Ho No Hana Sanpogyo was intense, with Fukunaga setting high recruitment goals for his leadership that, when met, allowed them to ascend to higher levels of the organization. They would search out the recently divorced and bereaved and approach patients and their families at hospitals. According to Hidenori Kamai, a lawyer whose role in this story will make sense in a moment, “These were people who’d undergone surgery for cancer, and were afraid of a recurrence, people who have contemplated suicide, people whose children have physical or behavioral problems.” In other words, they were at extremely vulnerable moments in their lives, and therefore the perfect targets for predatory cult recruiters. The recruiters would talk them into a foot reading and then get them into a seminar. According to Japan’s Daily Yomiuri, Fukunaga would encourage his followers to do whatever they needed to do to get people into these seminars, including outright lying. He instructed: “You should use your ‘wisdom’ and say things, even if they may not actually be true.” Fukunaga visited Nagasaki in 1992, the year after the eruption of the Fugendake volcano in the Unzen Mountains had killed more than forty people. He told his followers to spread the message that if 7,000 people took his training for an entire year, the volcanoes in the region would no longer erupt and be a danger to them.

			In the mid-nineties, members started getting cold feet and lost faith in Fukunaga’s methods. They wanted their money back. More than 1,000 sued Ho No Hana Sanpogyo and Fukunaga for a total of $50 million in damages. After a four-year investigation, two dozen cult members were brought to heel, including Fukunaga, and reparations were ordered. In 2005, he was sentenced to twelve years in jail. High-ranking members of the cult also received jail terms.

			At his trial, Fukunaga claimed he was innocent of any fraudulent foot reading. According to the Associated Press, he said, “I was just obeying the voices of heaven, but now I cannot remember what they told me.”

			[image: ]

		

	
		
			Can You Actually Wash a Brain?
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				It’s almost impossible to avoid using some form of the term brainwashing when writing about cults. But is brainwashing really a thing? Are brains that malleable? Or are our abilities to influence them that powerful?

				The first notable use of the term brainwash was in September 1950 by a journalist and CIA operative named Edward Hunter. He was writing about Mao Zedong for the Miami Daily News, describing the ability of that regime to use ancient Chinese techniques to almost supernaturally convince citizens to act against their best interests. Hunter translated a common phrase, xǐ nǎo, which literally meant “brainwash” but was a commonplace euphemism that had nothing to do with mind control. His headline screamed: “ ‘Brain-Washing’ Tactics Force Chinese into Ranks of Communist Party.” As hyperbolic or inaccurate as his reporting may have been, the idea took hold in the collective consciousness.

				The idea was further entrenched during the Korean War, when American POWs began confessing to war crimes they had never committed. As many as 5,000 POWs signed a petition to stop the war. Some even refused repatriation. Nobody could fathom why American soldiers would turn against their own country. In response, the US government began researching and experimenting with psychology warfare tactics that they would continue to utilize through subsequent wars.

				However, foreign powers didn’t hold some secret cheat code to the brain. And in the case of the Korean War POWs, the “brainwashing” was, quite simply, torture. Those statements and decisions were made under extreme duress and didn’t reflect the actual views of the victims.

				People aren’t co-opted into cults via torture, though. So what’s the cult leaders’ secret? Well, it’s not much of one. The real reasons people join cults are more prosaic: peer pressure, predisposition, trusting family and friends, being in vulnerable situations, and more, all of which a charismatic person in the right place at the right time can exploit. That means that joining a cult is a completely rational act. While it’s easy for us to believe we’re too strong for any brainwashing that others have suffered, the reality—that no brainwashing is required—is perhaps even more terrifying than mind control.

				In a 2018 article for The Conversation, Rebecca Moore, a professor of religious studies at San Diego State University who lost two sisters and a nephew to the Jonestown Massacre, wrote that buying into the idea of brainwashing “ignores research-based explanations for human behavior and dehumanizes people by denying their free will.” Even more telling, she says, “We’ll say someone’s brainwashed only when we disagree with their beliefs or actions.” Finally, brainwashing is not recognized as a condition in the modern medical, legal, or psychological fields. All of these are compelling reasons to leave the term by the wayside. Plus, brains are dry-clean only.
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			Planetary Activation Organization
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			Sci-Fi Spirituality

			Sheldan Nidle lived in an alternate reality from the rest of us. Throughout the late nineties, while we were surfacing from a post-Seinfeld world, gawping at a presidential sex scandal, and mourning the death of grunge, Nidle was filling a nascent internet with tales of mass alien visitations and the transformation of the human race into five-dimensional, super-evolved beings. He called his initiative the Ground Crew Project (GCP). Probably the strangest aspect of the GCP, though, wasn’t its prediction of a coming fleet of spaceships or the extradimensional expansion of all human consciousness. After all, alien interventions and apocalypses are as common in cults as messiah complexes and communes. What is unusual, though, is that the GCP was, and still is, almost entirely a virtual cult.

			Nidle was born in New York City in 1946. He went to college at Ohio University and then the University of Southern California, after which he settled in the Golden State. And those seem to be the only factual parts of his biography—because Nidle claimed he was visited upon his birth, three-wise-men-like, by extraterrestrials from a planet called Sirius. These beings would speak to him telepathically, land their ships in his backyard, and take him aboard for flights through space. And that was all before the age of fourteen.

			Over the course of Nidle’s life, aliens continued to send him messages through an implant they placed in his body, telling him all the secrets of the planet and the cosmos. He learned that humans were part of a divine/extraterrestrial experiment (the divine and the extraterrestrial seemed to be parallel in his mythology, although angels and aliens were distinct creatures). The creator had populated the planet—which is sentient—with what Nidle called “laggard souls,” with the hope that they would transcend their limitations to find their place among the other evolved peoples of the universe, thereby joining the Galactic Federation of Light. The GCP were those earthbound members tasked with helping humanity transcend to the point at which they could be welcomed back into the Galactic Federation (hence the “Ground Crew” in the name).

			The world learned about the GCP in 1996, when Niles starting writing about it on the burgeoning internet. His site welcomed visitors with statements like, “You are about to embark upon the greatest journey of your life. You and the rest of life on Planet Earth are about to partake in the raising of planetary consciousness.”

			But his GCP website wasn’t just an FYI. It was an urgent message. Niles predicted that on December 17, 1996, the “laggard soul” experiment would end. He said that on that day, the planet would pass through what he called a “photon belt,” which he described as an “extremely loving energy” composed of photons, gamma rays, and antimatter particles that occurs every 25,000 years.

			That love light from space would hit our pineal glands and cause a spontaneous evolution in human beings. Our three-dimensional forms would expand to five dimensions. Our DNA would increase from a mere two strands to twelve. We would stop aging or getting sick. The blind would see. We would become telepathic. We would be able to manifest things just with the power of thought. Humanity would finally see the universe as it really was.

			According to Nidle, even though the photon belt would turn us into superhumans, it would at the same time destroy our cities and machines and weapons. To help us survive the destruction, the Galactic Federation was supposed to send some 15.5 million spaceships to Earth. These ships were meant to shelter the human race from the planetary apocalypse, by keeping people either aboard the ships or in holographic matrixes that mirrored their lives. Some of the members of the Galactic Federation were building underground sanctuaries, as well.

			It’s impossible to gauge how many followers Nidle had in the early years, but the most appropriate metric was probably hits instead of commitments anyway, and he kept those numbers to himself. There is no record of any meetings in the meat space. Nidle stuck to posting weekly updates about the coming global transformation.

			Of course, the big day came and went without even a twitch of anybody’s pineal gland. That was no problem—Nidle just rescheduled the transformation to the following year. Meanwhile, he was creating a mythology of galactic history and its races. He described the human-like Andromedans and their cigar-shaped, hundred-mile-long mother ships; the horse-like Arcturians with their supply ships that resembled “wok lids welded together”; and the Sirians and Centaurians and Mintakins and Bellatricians, the latter of whom were reptilian. At some point, he added villains to his universe as well: beings called “dark cabalists,” who were anti-transformation, as well as the “planetary elites” on our own Earth.

			Some of Nidle’s conspiracy-type theories fit well with the concurrent X-Files mania that began after that show debuted in September 1993. Nidle wouldn’t have been alone in that influence, although he was more inclined to drop Star Trek and Star Wars references in his writings. According to a Reuters article from 2009, Britain’s Ministry of Defense documented 609 UFO sightings in 1996, a huge jump from 117 the year before. The defense ministry noted, “This coincided with the rise in popularity of The X-Files.” A similar phenomenon was occurring in the United States at the time. Still, Nidle’s stories of the Galactic Federation were becoming so detailed that they could have been their own multi-arc TV show. He was, to use a term that these days refers to entertainment IP, “world-building.”

			Nidle eventually settled on May 5, 1997, as the new date for the transformation, and he tied it to the approach of the Hale-Bopp Comet. According to the messages from his implant, the comet was actually a massive, camouflaged spaceship. It contained a crew of more than 200,000, including 10,000 alien ambassadors whose mission was to help guide humanity through the transformation. A shuttle from the faux-comet flagship was supposed to land near Ayers Rock in Australia to kick off the party.

			Of course, that didn’t happen. But something else did: the Heaven’s Gate tragedy. Just over a month before the GCP transformation date, the thirty-nine members of the UFO cult Heaven’s Gate committed suicide together in a town north of San Diego. The members of that cult also believed the Hale-Bopp Comet hid an extraterrestrial ship sent to save them. They believed that their suicide would help them transcend their current existence and ascend to the ship.

			Because Heaven’s Gate had sported their own website, as both a recruitment tool and a suicide note, the media started scouring this newfangled internet for other groups with similar beliefs. They found Nidle and the GCP. The Florida Palm Beach Post, for instance, ran an article with a list of strange groups with an internet presence that included the GCP. The headline for the piece was: “Beyond Heaven’s Gate, Web Is a Creepy Place.” Meanwhile, an article in the Atlanta Journal reported that “A group identifying itself as the Ground Crew Project of the Spiritual Hierarchy and the Galactic Federation held a toll-free conference Thursday, promising to reveal details about how to get aboard the UFO. The group’s advice: meditate.”

			At that point, the GCP rebranded, but not because of the negative attention from being linked to Heaven’s Gate. It was because of a woman named Valerie Donner, who was a part of the inner circle of the GCP. After a falling-out with Nidle, she left the group, but managed to take with her both the name of the organization and its all-important web domain.

			Instead of fighting for the GCP domain, Nidle relaunched his efforts online under a new name: the Planetary Activation Organization (PAO). The new group also had a new tone to its teachings. Nidle pulled back on prophesying the date of the transformation, claiming there was just too much intergalactic politics to ever be sure. Instead, he preached that the transformation was unspecifiably imminent, much like the Christian rapture. He also put more of the onus on humanity making itself worthy of transformation, with members of the PAO responsible for lighting the way through mass meditation and spreading the word of humankind’s potential to “activate.” In addition, his mythology began to trend more New Age than science fiction. He started working in concepts from other religious groups, such as Ascended Masters, an idea borrowed from theosophy and the cult of I AM. He encouraged his followers to set up their own PAO groups in their individual communities to create a network of enlightenment around the planet. He also began claiming that Earth was not just an experiment in the overarching galactic story, but the fulcrum of it. Its transformation would be a blueprint for the transformation of the entire galaxy. It was also supposedly the home of special crystals vital to the rest of the universe.

			Via the PAO website, Nidle also continued to exhort his followers to prepare themselves for the coming ascension. One such update ran thusly:

			
				The call went out for that global meditation day on the equinox, to visualize the Christ Grid energy following a certain procedure. That day was magic for those of us who experienced this 1 to 2 hour meditation. The Galactic Federation and the Confederation of Free Planets plus the Angelic Realm have all confirmed that our meditation has caused the necessary mass consciousness shift needed for the mass landings to become a reality. Therefore, they were given the go-ahead by Earth spiritual Hierarchy to proceed with the landing options depending on the secret government’s intent to resist.

			

			Nidle’s productivity increased as well, and he began pumping out books and webinars and DVDs and speaking engagements at New Age and UFO conferences. His books and DVDs bore titles such as You Are Becoming a Galactic Human and Tour a Sirian Mothership and Inner Earth, Your Future Home.

			On March 17, 2011, Nidle’s health started to fail. The PAO website describes it this way: “As he sat at the computer, he was hit with a Direct Energy Weapon that caused marked personality changes, brain damage and, eventually, dementia. By September 2021 his health had deteriorated further and he entered a care facility, where he now lives.”

			However, his presence is still alive as his followers continue to preach his gospel. Nidle’s words continue to fill the internet as they did back in 1996. The PAO website still sells his books and DVDs. The organization still hosts regular webinars and podcasts and posts regular updates. YouTube has lots of videos of Nidle speaking or being interviewed. The Facebook page of Sheldan Nidle, as of the writing of this book, has 7.9 thousand followers, although its last update was on September 30, 2021.

			Among all the cults in this book, the GCP/PAO stands out. Its messages are similar to those of many others—doomsdays and aliens and messiahs leading the way to a new and more advanced civilization are common in cults—but the outcome of its teachings is notably different. There have been no known abuses, suicides, murders, or prison sentences. Every once in a while, a comment on a YouTube Page or on Amazon launches an accusation of hucksterism, but that’s about the extent of it. Most of the members or followers of the PAO seem to be genuinely dedicated to the evolution of themselves and the human race through meditation and science fiction.

			The internet might make it easier for cults to recruit, but in the best-case scenario, it also removes the element of physical isolation that is so often necessary for these groups to go rotten. It’s much easier to escape a cult when you can leave with the click of a button.
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			Breatharianism
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			A Stomach Full of Hot Air

			Some cults are taken down by sex scandals, others by failed prophecies, imprisonment, the death of leaders, mass suicides, and murders. The Breatharian Institute of America has the unique honor of being the first cult in history to be taken down by a Twinkie. It was also the first breatharian cult to introduce a mass audience to its main and extremely bizarre tenet: that the human body can live on air and only air.

			That’s Incredible! was an early-eighties prime-time network TV show that featured people performing amazing feats—a man who could tow an Amtrak train with his teeth, a three-year-old who could walk a tightrope, a woman who claimed to channel music from famous dead musicians. Wiley Brooks came on the show and lifted a 1,100-pound barbell, despite weighing only 135 pounds himself. The six-foot-tall Black man had the reedy build of an elite marathon runner, but the strength of the thickest bodybuilder. That was certainly incredible, but the secret to his success was even more so. He claimed that he had not eaten solid food in seventeen years: he lived on air.

			The statement was so unbelievable that Brooks was quickly booked on talk shows like Late Night with David Letterman and The Tomorrow Show with Tom Snyder. In the latter interview, he explained to the host that breatharianism occurs when “the human body is in perfect harmony with itself and nature.” Eating, he said, was unnecessary. It was just “an acquired habit like drinking alcohol or smoking cigarettes.” He took a stronger stance in other interviews. The Honolulu Advertiser quotes him as saying, “There is one reason why the body dies, and that’s because we constantly introduce into it an alien substance you call food. I call it poison.” So he stuck to consuming air…and the occasional fruit juice, if he was in an area with high levels of unappetizing air pollution.

			The forty-six-year-old Brooks claimed to have gotten started as a breatharian when, at twenty-eight, he realized that he was losing his hair, was suffering from arthritis, and found himself tired all the time. Basically, he could feel himself aging. He decided to read some books on longevity and discovered that the secret to fixing all that “getting old” nonsense was to “kick the habit of eating” and just let the body do what it does naturally: take in air.

			Now, Brooks wasn’t the first person in history to tout the redundancy of repasts. Various saints and monks and occultists have claimed to have gone decades without eating food. During the Victorian era in the US and the UK, tales of so-called “fasting girls” made headlines. Molly Fletcher, aka the Brookly Enigma, claimed in the late 1870s to have gone fourteen years without eating. Sarah Jacob, the Welsh Fasting Girl, was supposed to have stopped eating after the age of ten. (She would die of starvation in 1869 at age twelve—her parents were convicted of manslaughter as a result.) In Boston in 1889, Josephine Marie Bedard, a.k.a. the Tingwick Girl, was such a notorious noneater that when somebody accused her of taking a bite from a donut, the Boston Globe reported on the incident.

			According to the Oxford English Dictionary, the term breatharian was first recorded in 1957 in author Holmes Welch’s Parting of the Way: Lao Tzu and the Taoist Movement, Volume 10. In discussing certain Taoist concepts, Welch brought up Breatharianism for comparison: “I have in mind the cult of Breatharianism, propagated by the Natural Science Society of Maitland, Florida. According to Breatharian doctrine, eating is the cause of death. Meat and wine are poisonous; vegetables are even more poisonous.”

			In the early 1980s, all this media attention for his breatharianism gave Brooks an idea: he would start an organization dedicated to its philosophy and practice and would teach other people how to go foodless. In 1982, Brooks founded the Breatharian Institute of America in Larkspur, California. He offered lectures and multi-day seminars in the technique and began to attract followers who wanted the seemingly limitless benefits of breatharianism that Brooks touted. A 1983 United Press International news report tallies his followers at four hundred people who wished their stomachs were vestigial.

			Although Brooks preached longevity (and sometimes even immortality), the Breatharian Institute was short-lived. In 1983, Brooks was caught one night walking out of a 7-Eleven with a Slurpee, a hot dog, and a pack of Twinkies, and the discovery hit the newspapers just like the Tingwick Girl’s donut. Once the hamburger was out of the bag, more stories of his clandestine eating appeared, detailing his tendency to binge on chicken pot pies, chili, and biscuits via room service when he stayed at hotels. His partner, Lavelle Lefler, who had helped him start the organization, finally explained to the UPI, “The truth is he sneaks into 7-Elevens and fast food places and eats just like the rest of us—except worse because he has to rely on places that are open late into the night.”

			Brooks claimed that the accusations were revenge by a scorned lover, and said that nobody could prove he ate anything, but the damage was done. Thirteen officers left the organization, and the Institute shrunk to basically just Brooks. Not that his adherents lost faith in breatharianism itself—just in Wiley Brooks. Lefler told the UPI, “I have taught yoga for fifteen years and I have been to India, where people survive without eating, so I know the breatharian concept is true.”

			Sans his following and his media prominence, Brooks continued to preach his take on breatharianism via his website throughout the nineties and into the new millennium. At one point he was caught eating at a McDonald’s. Unfazed, he explained that one of the most perfect meals on the planet was a McDonald’s Double Quarter Pounder with Cheese and a Diet Coke, because “the sum total frequencies of all its parts equal the base frequency of that item.” Basically, he claimed it was five-dimensional food—which was a whole new can of tuna for Brooks. His beliefs had become even more incredible, somehow, than the idea of living without food. He began preaching that the three-dimensional state of human beings was merely our fallen state, and that we are really five-dimensional beings who have to go through what he called an “ascension” to get back to our true potential. Somebody who ascends would become a “Living God on Earth.” Also, aliens are involved. The ideas were reminiscent of those propagated by both I AM and the Planetary Activation Organization.

			However, while Wiley was shifting from diet tips to multidimensional trips, others took up the breatharian mantle. The idea was an easily adoptable one, simple in expression and less dependent on the charisma and complex theologies of an individual than most cults. In the late 1990s, an Australian woman named Jasmuheen (born Ellen Greve) started appearing on TV and writing books explaining her ability to live completely off air and light and teaching other people to follow her lead. She also claimed to be able to channel Saint Germain and that her DNA had expanded from two to twelve strands, another strange intersection of cult teachings from both I AM and the Planetary Activation Organization. However, her breatharian teachings soon became connected with a series of deaths all over the world. Verity Linn, a forty-nine-year-old Scottish woman, was found dead of dehydration in a tent in the highlands, a copy of Jasmuheen’s book in her possession and a diary of her final days confirming the connection. Thirty-three-year-old Australian Lani Morris died in a hospital after following Jasmuheen’s program, as did thirty-one-year-old kindergarten teacher Timo Degen in Munich.

			The final blow to her gurudom came when, in 1999, Jasmuheen went on Australia’s 60 Minutes television program. The concept for the show was that they were going to monitor her for seven days to see if she was telling the truth about her no-diet diet. But they had to cut the attempt short after only a few days because she was losing weight and showed obvious signs of dehydration and impaired cognitive abilities. But that still didn’t kill breatharianism.

			In 2017, the Sun ran a story about a married couple, Akahi Ricardo and Camila Castello, who were both breatharians. The two claimed that, other than the occasional fruit or vegetable broth, they hadn’t eaten anything for nine years, a time span that included the births of both of their children. Castello told the paper, “Humans can easily be without food—as long as they are connected to the energy that exists in all things and through breathing. For three years, Akahi and I didn’t eat anything at all and now we only eat occasionally like if we’re in a social situation or if I simply want to taste a fruit.” Akahi would tell GQ that same year, “When I started this, I felt cleaner, I felt sharper. I felt…fearless.” Like every other breatharian leader, the couple were also selling seminars on how to run on air. In the GQ article, a journalist, Breena Kerr, attended one of those seminars. She described the experience as:

			
				A bit light on activities…. Aside from the morning and evening meditations, Ricardo isn’t around. Everyone just hangs out in the dark, stuffy house from 10:30 A.M. to 5 P.M. enduring the fast, maybe with the occasional trip to the river or to gather apples and blackberries that they cannot, at present, eat. The kitchen table is littered with drawings and watercolors of numinous images. The strange figures, geometric patterns, and nature scenes look like something from a drug trip.

			

			Kerr also uncovered a few disturbing attitudes when it came to paying for the seminar. A guest named Mary told her, “I had to delay my house payment to afford this. But who cares? This is more important.” Another attendee, this one named Beth, said, “The price of this retreat is nothing for what he gives you. I mean, he’s giving you the universe. Who else can give you that?”

			A few years later, yet another breatharian took up the baton for the cause. Nicolas Pilartz was born in France and, after watching a documentary about breatharianism, decided to try it for himself to solve some of his chronic pain issues. Ten years later, he was running the Eden Pranic Center in Coccore, Italy (prana is a Hindu concept that means something like “life force”). According to Vice, it is “one of the largest breatharian organizations in the world.” Pilartz seems to preach a less extreme form of breatharianism. He supposedly eats one meal a week and just consumes liquids otherwise. He also told the publication that he has no problem eating socially, during events and get-togethers, but he has to be careful: “When I eat now I feel, straight away, my vibration going down. There’s the moment of going up, like when you drink a bit of alcohol, and then I have a downwards effect. I experience a feeling of seeing double, like if I get a bit drunk. I feel my vibration changing.”

			In many ways, modern breatharianism is more like an extreme fad diet than a niche religion, akin to the many fad diets and systems that have come and gone since the eighties. But there is one thing that Wiley Brooks and the other breatharians have right: We have a complex relationship with food. We eat to socialize and to soothe, and we have guilt over what we eat or don’t eat. For people who struggle with this relationship, there’s something appealing about leaving our daily bread in the dust. But at the end of the day, you can’t swap jelly donuts for jet streams and survive the attempt.
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			Heaven’s Gate
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			Just “Do” It

			The photographs were eerie. They depicted supine bodies on white mattresses that were set up on bunk beds and folding tables and on the floor. A purple shroud covered each face and torso; their legs and feet were clad in identical black track pants and Nikes, the white swoosh so prominent against the black shoes that the photos almost seemed like an advertisement. But these were crime scene photos of suicide victims—thirty-nine of them. All were members of a cult called Heaven’s Gate who had ended their lives in March 1997. And since it was the late nineties, for the first time people who saw those photos on the news could just google the cult online to learn the whole story straight from the source, heavensgate.com (although it would be another year before Google was launched, so they probably Yahoo’d it or asked Jeeves).

			Marcus Applewhite and Bonnie Nettles met at a psychiatric hospital in Texas in 1972. Applewhite was a forty-one-year-old singer, music professor, and the son of a Presbyterian minister. He was divorced, had two children, and had been let go from his position at the University of St. Thomas in Houston two years earlier for having an affair with a male student (although the official reason, as relayed by school president Reverend William Young to the San Diego Union-Tribune, was “health problems of an emotional nature”). Applewhite had checked into the hospital with debilitating internal conflicts about his sexuality. Nettles was a forty-five-year-old divorced nurse with four children and an intense interest in spiritualism and UFOs. Applewhite told her that he had been hearing voices and having violent visions of the world ending. Nettles believed that Applewhite was actually receiving visions from beyond the stars. Suddenly, it was like that classic Reese’s commercial in which two people bumped into each other, mixing up the peanut butter one was holding with the chocolate the other was. Something just clicked between them. So they checked out of the hospital and took a six-month road trip across the country.

			During this time, Applewhite and Nettles hammered out their ideas about existence. They fancied themselves as the two witnesses mentioned in Revelation 11 who are given power by God to prophesy and shoot fire out of their mouths and inflict plagues and control the weather. They called themselves the “UFO Two,” “the Two,” and Bo and Peep and Guinea and Pig, respectively. The nicknames that stuck, though, were the musical notes Ti and Do, with Applewhite being Do and Nettles being Ti. From what can be determined from their letters and people who knew them, they weren’t lovers, but they were wrapped up in a shared fantasy and delusion.

			The ideas that they arrived at concerning the nature of humanity and the universe were basic UFO cult stuff. They decided that we are all mere physical containers meant to be indwelt by immortal alien presences struggling to transcend those crass containers and attain the “Next Level,” a concept they likened to the Christian idea of the Kingdom of God. They held that Jesus was the first fully indwelt and ascendant alien, and that Applewhite was the latest. The cult’s followers were encouraged to give visual form to what their true extraterrestrial selves looked like, or, alternately, to the aliens guiding them in their evolution. They drew images of bulbous-headed but benign-looking beings. When one of the images was found in the mansion where they eventually died, it was described by the medical examiner to the Associated Press as “the head of an alien, like you see in The X-Files.” Nettle and Applewhite believed that anybody could welcome an alien indwelling and ascend bodily, evolving into a newer, better, more harmonized being. People just had to join this new ascetic initiative that they would eventually call Heaven’s Gate, the keys to which were held by Ti and Do.

			By the mid-1970s, Ti and Do had gathered a following that they called “the crew,” one of many references in their cult to the television show Star Trek, which had debuted less than a decade earlier, in 1966. They would gather adherents by holding talks about UFOs and how to ascend to one’s own fully realized extraterrestrial self. For instance, in 1975, Ti and Do gave a talk to 150 people in a motel hall in the seaside town of Waldport, Oregon, population six hundred at the time. One attendee, Aaron Greenburg, described the gathering to the New York Times more than twenty years later: “There was this compulsion. It was like Richard Dreyfuss in Close Encounters when he was making that tower of mashed potatoes.” Like most cult leaders, Ti and Do were possessed of extraordinary charisma.

			And then, like those drawn to the colorful alien ships in the Steven Spielberg movie, twenty of the attendees, including Greenburg, followed Ti and Do out of town like children behind the Pied Piper, after which point they all disappeared from the public record. It was a big enough exodus that the national media reported on it. Walter Cronkite himself announced on CBS Evening News, “A score of persons from a small Oregon town have disappeared. It’s a mystery whether they’ve been taken on a so-called trip to eternity—or simply been taken.” The truth is that they probably eventually peeled off from the group, since hundreds of people joined and left Heaven’s Gate over the decades. It’s at least known that none of the residents of Waldport were among the thirty-nine suicides decades later.

			For the next twenty years, the members of Heaven’s Gate lived in various places in Southern California. The next big moment in their timeline, though, was in 1985, when Nettles died of cancer. Her death was a blow to their teachings, as ascension was supposed to be a bodily thing. However, Applewhite adjusted their theology accordingly to say that sometimes the body had to be discarded first, a relatively innocuous-seeming change that would eventually lead to their infamous act of mass self-destruction twenty-two years later.

			Meanwhile, the members became identically androgynous in their dress and bearing. They all wore their hair cut short and dressed in matching baggy shirts that hid their bodies, topped by either a mandarin or a butterfly collar buttoned all the way up. Sex was forbidden, as were individual friendships between members. Later, it would be discovered that some half a dozen of the men, including Applewhite, had been castrated as a way to make sure their bodily containers didn’t exert any undue influence on their higher selves. It seemed Applewhite had found a way to externalize and communalize his internal sexual conflicts.

			The group mostly stayed under the radar during the 1980s and early 1990s, isolating themselves from friends and family. When the internet gained traction in the late nineties, they embraced it. Heaven’s Gate began earning income by building websites under the business name the Higher Source. They also built their own website, staking a claim as one of the first cults to use the internet as a recruitment tool.

			Then came the Hale-Bopp Comet, one of the brightest and most observed comet approaches in decades. It was discovered in 1995 via telescope but didn’t become visible to the naked eye for another year. And it just got brighter and brighter in the sky for another year after that, fascinating millions across the Northern Hemisphere, which had the best view of it.

			Heaven’s Gate took it as a sign. They believed that the bright astronomical event hid a spaceship, and they weren’t alone in this belief. As discussed earlier, the Planetary Activation Organization believed something similar, and many UFO conspiracy theorists were concurrently conjecturing about an extraterrestrial object hiding in the shadow of the comet. Still, Heaven’s Gate believed that the hidden ship was coming specifically for them. It was time to finally ascend. And after the death of Nettles, they believed they would have to leave their physical bodies to do so.

			The thirty-nine members—twenty-one women and eighteen men—were found dead in a rented mansion in Rancho Santa Fe, California, on March 26, 1997. A tip had been phoned in by Rio DiAngelo, a cult member who had been tasked with staying behind to ensure the Heaven’s Gate story was told accurately. He was still a believer twenty-five years later when he was interviewed by Diane Sawyer on ABC News, but he admitted that he had to “move on” so that he could both support and focus on his family. He explained his pull toward the cult this way: “I was always looking for answers, looking for purpose in my life. I loved these people…. We were all celibate individuals, looking forward to self-advancement.”

			The members of Heaven’s Gate committed suicide by ingesting barbiturates and vodka, the former mixed with pudding or applesauce. They then put plastic bags on their heads and lay down on their mattresses. They killed themselves in shifts. The first fifteen were arranged peacefully in their beds by other members, the shrouds laid atop them. Then the next fifteen. Then the final nine, which included Applewhite himself. Not all of them died from the poison; some died from asphyxiation in the bag. Their identical black track suits had armbands that read “Heaven’s Gate Away Team,” which was another Star Trek reference: “away team” was the term for officers who would leave the ship to go on missions.

			All the members filmed goodbye videos that showed them happy and excited, including one member who ended hers with “Thirty-nine to beam up.” Among those thirty-nine who got beamed up was Thomas Nichols, the estranged brother of actress Nichelle Nichols, who had played the groundbreaking character Lt. Uhura on the original Star Trek series.

			A press release was posted on the Heaven’s Gate website about the “Next Level” event. In white copy on a starry background, the first paragraph of the press release read:

			
				By the time you receive this, we’ll be gone—several dozen of us. We came from the Level Above Human in distant space and we have now exited the bodies that we were wearing for our earthly task, to return to the world from whence we came—task completed. The distant space we refer to is what your religious literature would call the Kingdom of Heaven or the Kingdom of God.

			

			The press release ended with an invitation for others to follow their example and shed their crass humanity for an interstellar destiny:

			
				We suggest that anyone serious about considering this go into their most quiet place and ask, scream, with all of their being, directing their asking to the Highest Source they can imagine (beyond Earth’s atmosphere), to give them guidance. Only those “chosen” by that Next Kingdom will know that this is right for them, and will be given the courage required to act.

			

			Members left individual suicide letters as well—long ones, almost essays, some of which appeared on the Heaven’s Gate website. They echoed the same sentiments—that there was nothing wrong in their lives, that they were looking forward to the next phase of existence, and that they trusted Ti and Do completely. Member Stephen McCarter wrote, “My more intimate reasons for wanting to leave at this time come not from any sense of hopelessness or despair, as one might suspect. Quite the contrary, it is a profoundly joyous time for me—the fulfillment of everything I have always hoped for.” Erika Ernst wrote, “The main reason is that I know who Ti & Do are. They are members of the Kingdom of Heaven and I know it. I knew the day I met them.”

			In the months following the discovery of the mass suicide, three previous members of Heaven’s Gate would take their own lives. An unrelated person whose suicide imitated the cult members’ left a note explaining that he wanted to go to the spaceship hiding in the Hale-Bopp Comet.

			In the aftermath of the tragedy, Nike retired the Decade shoes that the members wore. They had been chosen because the cult got a good deal on them and because they liked the pun formed by combining Applewhite’s nickname of Do with Nike’s slogan “Just do it.” Today you can find shoes from the same line on eBay, priced as high as $6,600, each listing invariably featuring a reference to the cult that made the design infamous.

			To this day, the Heaven’s Gate website is still up, in all its cheesy 1990s glory, kept operational by members who didn’t ascend and believe the away team will return at any moment to collect them.

			Heaven’s Gate, in many ways, is the iconic cult and the perfect one with which to end this book. They were a UFO cult at the height of a UFO craze. An internet cult at the cusp of that world-changing technology. A group that looked to the sky for answers, the way humans have from the very beginning. And they committed the largest mass suicide in the history of the United States. They were a group of otherwise normal people balanced at the tip of a strange point in history and, for reasons that will in some ways always be a mystery, subject to bizarre ideas and practices that led to mass tragedy. They were a cult.
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				EPILOGUE

				No Cure for Cults
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				I wrote this book during the most devastating period of my life to date. And hopefully ever. As a result of that sad serendipity, the basic motivation for joining a cult was not elusive to me. I couldn’t even pretend journalistic objectivity or scientific curiosity. Sure, the search for truth, protection, purpose, salvation, and betterment are accurate and overlapping reasons why people join cults, but, since the act of joining a cult is fundamentally an emotional one, these categories mostly just helped me organize this book.

				The truth is, when you are drowning in deep distress—whether physical or mental or existential—you don’t question the hand that reaches down to save you. You don’t inspect its nails or its rings or devote precious breath to investigating who that hand is connected to. You just grab it. Desperately.

				And before you know it, you’re on a boat that somebody else is piloting, heading in a direction that you had no part in choosing, and for a while that’s fine. Even great. It’s a relief. And certainly way better than drowning. But the longer you are on that boat, the farther it gets from everything you once knew. And if you ever have doubts about being in that boat, your choice is stark: either stay in the boat and continue the course no matter where it leads, or jump back into the lonely, dangerous waters, even farther adrift than you were before. Fortunately for me, the hands that reached out to save me didn’t belong to members of a cult.

				Despite the large range of cult types in this book—foot cults and UFO cults and hollow-earth cults and doomsday cults and sex cults and therapy cults—the commonalities and repeated patterns among them are evident, even at a quick glance. They include:

				
					1. The rules of the organization do not apply to its leader.

					2. The leader sees themself as preternaturally unique and gifted.

					3. The organization is isolated geographically or socially.

					4. The organization acts according to urgent predictions of an impending world-changing event.

					5. The organization impoverishes members by fundraising intensely from their pockets and estates.

					6. The organization expounds ideas that are an unoriginal mishmash of the teachings of other organizations.

					7. The organization has a boring-ass name.

				

				Of course, cults can share more commonalities than the above seven, depending on the type of cult or other distinguishing elements. For instance, if the leader of the cult is a man, that leader will almost invariably invoke the right to have sex with any woman in the cult.

				Still, despite all of those loudly flapping red flags, we join cults simply because we’re human beings. Joining a cult fulfills a yearning in us that is as fundamental as hunger. Or thirst. Or whatever it is inside me that makes me crave Caramellos and M*A*S*H reruns. In other words, joining a cult doesn’t just fulfill a spiritual need, it fulfills a biological one—and not just the need to form social groups.

				It’s as if evolution realized the mistake it made in allowing a self-aware animal to come into existence, one that knows that it is weak and fragile and doomed to die. So evolution righted that error, or balanced it with a new kind of survival mechanism: the tendency that makes us join spiritual organizations like religions, sects, and cults. That fabled God-shaped void is really shaped like a cult. It’s the shape of a group of like-minded people who are special to us and led by a convincing leader. We’re always pursuing that sense of peaceful, simple purpose to calm the raging in our heads, to shield us from the terrors of our situations, to mute the overwhelming sensation of being an anonymous one in eight billion hurtling on a rock through a void so massive that it cannot be measured or mapped.

				Which means that as long as there are people on that rock, there will always be cults.
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